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CORPORATE PROFILE
NE iy

China Foods Limited (“China Foods” or the “Company” and together with its
subsidiaries, the “Group”), a subsidiary of COFCO Corporation (“COFCO”) and
the only focused beverage platform of COFCO, is listed on the main board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (Stock Code: 506).

The Company mainly manufactures, distributes, markets and sells the Coca-Cola
series products at 19 provincial-level administrative regions in the PRC through
COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages Limited (“COFCO Coca-Cola”), a 65%-owned joint-
venture with The Coca-Cola Company. COFCO Coca-Cola offers twenty brands
of products in ten major types of beverages which include sparkling drink, juice,
water, milk drink, energy drink, tea, coffee, functional nutrition drink, sports
drink and plant-based protein drink.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

MBRE

REVENUE
£ T ON

(RMB million) (AR & &ET)

10%

15,648

ADJUSTED EBITDA
K IEEBITDA
(RMB million) (ARE & &)

2018 22%
A

1,264

EARNINGS PER SHARE
BRER
(RMB cents/share) (AR¥ES /&%)

2018 30.3%
V' N

11.47

CHINA FOODS LIMITED
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17,172

2019
1,545

2019
14.94

TOTAL ASSETS
BmEE

(RMB million) (AR & &T)

24.2%
©)

2018 8.7%
13,288 A

e Current

ED

75.8% Non-Current
- ERE

LIABILITY TO ASSET RATIO

EESEER
2018 -0.Tppt
49.5% A 4

151

2018 7.3%
A

28.4%

2019
14,448

71.6%

2019
49.4%

NET ASSETS PER SHARE (Owners of the Parents)
BRFEE ramsL
(RMB/share) (AR # /&%)

2019

1.62



FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 417512

The following table shows the comparison of the final results for the FEERERAR (ARl TPEER])
year ended 31 December 2019 (the “year”) of China Foods Limited REMBRAR (SB[ AERE])#ZE20195
(the “Company” or “China Foods”) and its subsidiaries (together the 12A31BIEFE ([ RFE]) HRIEE SR

“Group”) with the corresponding results for 2018: 2018F [RIAAZEEMELL AT -

For the year ended For the year ended

31 December 31 December
2019 2018 Changes

HZE2019% HE2018F

12A31HLLEE 12A31HIFFE &
(RMB million) (RMB million)
(AR®BER) (AR®BET)
Continuing operations: BEREEL .

¢ Revenue o WA 17,172.0 15,648.1 +10%
* Gross profit margin o EFIE 36.5% 35.4% +1.1ppt
e Adjusted EBIT* o REBIT* 1,025.2 768.8 +33%
e Adjusted EBITDA" o HEEBITDA" 1,544.9 1,264.2 +22%
The board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company has resolved RAAREEE ([EFE ) AERRREER

to recommend to shareholders the payment of final dividend ERIREARFE 2 REIR EARK0.0447T

of RMB0.044, equivalent to HK4.8 cents for the year (2018: (FBZ 4 .881) (20184 : AR¥0.0347T
RMB0.034, equivalent to HK3.9 cents). (FEEM3.981)) °
Adjusted EBIT* represents: EAREBIT*IS :

For the year ended  For the year ended

31 December

31 December

2019 2018

HZ2019%F EHZE20184%F

12A31HLEE 128318 IFFE

(RMB million) (RMB million)

(NREBETT) (AREBE)

Profit before tax FR A5 AL A 1,012.6 738.2
Reconciliation: R

Finance costs RE AR 53.6 74.8

Share of profits of associates FE(GESE & R Al E A (41.0) (44.2)

Adjusted EBIT* A TAEEEBIT™ 1,025.2 768.8

=

BERmERLD A 8

3R 2019
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Adjusted EBITDA” represents:

RFEEBITDANE !

For the year ended
31 December

For the year ended
31 December

2019 2018
HZE2019%F EHZE2018F
12A31BLLEEE 12A31HIEFE
(RMB million) (RMB million)
(ANREHET) (AREBET)
Adjusted EBIT* A TEEEBIT 1,025.2 768.8
Reconciliation: HER
Provision against inventories GFERE 31.9 24.7
Depreciation of property, plant and W - WENRRENTE
equipment 399.2 414.8
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENSE 39.7 -
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments — FEfF + 3R & FRIBHE 8 - 15.1
Impairment of property, plant and Yz - BB MR ERE
equipment 46.5 38.2
Impairments loss of account receivables  FEURZRIER(E K518 2.4 2.6
Adjusted EBITDA" (G REEBITDA" 1,544.9 1,264.2

CHINA FOODS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2019



MAJOR EVENTS IN 2019
2019F KERL

APRIL @A

Mr. Chen Lang, a Vice President of COFCO, appointed as the Chairman of China Foods

FREEARFEPEEEETHERESER
On 26 April, Mr. Yu Xubo, the President of COFCO, resigned as the Chairman of the board of directors
of China Foods due to a change of work, and was replaced by Mr. Chen Lang, a Vice President of

COFCO.
RAR268 - FIEEETERSTERTFRS  SHEITERREFS T FEY - LhTIEAIREIRN
TR -
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MAY 1 A

A visit from the President of Coca-Cola (Latin America), its core
management team and presidents of regional major bottling
groups

AOALN TENELABR AR OEEBERAM
EBRFEERAEEBARRGEE

On 14 May, Mr. Alfredo Rivera, the President of Coca-

Cola (Latin America), its core management team and

presidents of major bottling groups in Latin America,

made a special visit to communicate with the key

management team of COFCO Coca-Cola. The visitors

also visited the Beijing market, giving special attention

to new product distribution and display execution under

the new retail format, and gave high recognition for the

overall performance of the Beijing market to COFCO

Coca-Cola Beijing team.

M5A148 » ATAA &4 T ME B H Alfredo Riverae £ R EZLE
BERK T EMEZRMEBMAR 1T FEKG - EREAIOF
LIZEREGCET TN WESHAR TIERTS - ERERTH
TEXR TSN EERIIMT  HIERTSNERREGET
FOBETE °



MAJOR EVENTS IN 2019 2019F X % i

SEPTEMBER f1 A

Coca-Cola’s global hot drink project debuts at COFCO Coca-Cola
AOAERRARIBEEEFEBITOATLER LD

On 20 September, Mr. Chen Lang, the Chairman of the Company, Mr.
Manolo Arroyo, the President of Coca-Cola (Asia Pacific), and Ms. Luan
Xiuju, the then Managing Director of the Company, attended the debut
ceremony of Coca-Cola’s global hot drink project in Chengdu. The hot
drinks were specially developed for the China market by Coca-Cola at the
request of COFCO Coca-Cola to meet the drinking habits and needs of
China consumers. In 2019, COFCO Coca-Cola launched a total of 10 new
products, which accounted for more than 8% of its sales revenue.

MROA20H » AARFEREALA - A] O A 4435 K& 42 F Manolo Arroyode 4~ KA BB E F A4S IR B K3 17+ H RIFEAKED
BE)A OS2 RAREE N EEER - AFERSRI DA ZEREAI O LSk - APBEMSERENTR - TR
FESHEEMAAEIBEE - 2019F © PR a O 2 FHI10ERIFR - FTREHERALLHIFEBE8% -

®

INTEIRINATIONAL

CHINA FOODS LIMITED
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NOVEMBER +— A

Directors of China Foods visited COFCO Coca-Cola’s Huazhong Plant
PERMESAMPEAIO ATLEREK

On 7 November, a board meeting of China Foods was held in Changsha. The
Chairman of the Company, Mr. Chen Lang, Non-executive Directors Ms. Xiao
Jianping and Mr. Qin Yelong, and Independent Non-executive Directors Mr. Mok
Wai Bun, Ben, Mr. Stephen Edward Clark and Mr. Li Hung Kwan, Alfred, had been
accompanied by the then Managing Director Ms. Luan Xiuju and an Executive
Director Mr. Shen Peng to visit COFCO Coca-Cola’s Huazhong Plant. During the
visit, the board of directors fully affirmed the plant’s success in accomplishing the
2019 annual performance targets in advance, and looked forward to the team'’s
continue efforts in achieving better results.

RILATE - TERSEFSERERDBH - ADTEEHRILE - I8
TEFHRTRLT  EXEAE  BUFBTESE/MBLSE

NESRAE BB AETRAEFALEREFHLL - T
ERLRTERNRER TR DA &ERRETT T

AR o SRR - ERE G HERRIZAITK20192F

XEERGTTROBE  BEETHEREES

& BEIEE -



MAJOR EVENTS IN 2019 2019F X %

DECEMBER +—A

Mr. Lu Jun, the Chairman of COFCO, visited Guiyang and assisted in the construction of a COFCO Coca-
Cola Guizhou Plant

TRESREELERBERE  HHPEUOTRXEZEMNTH

Guizhou is the only market in COFCO Coca-Cola’s franchise area whose sales volume have exceeded the break-even point
without a local plant. We plan to complete the land contract and begin the construction of such in 2020, with an aim to
starting production in 2021.

BNEPEA ORI 2E 2 RIFEAHERBEE TR AREMOME—N% o 5H8E2020F X LA - HEIARE
R FE202IFRALE -

On 17 December, Mr. Lu Jun, the Chairman of COFCO, accompanied by Mr. Chen Lang, a Vice President of COFCO and
the Chairman of China Foods, and Ms. Luan Xiuju, the then Managing Director of China Foods, visited Guiyang. During
which Mr. Lu has discussed with Ms. Shen Yiqin, the Provincial Governor of Guizhou, and Mr. Zhao Deming, the Secretary
of Guiyang Municipal Committee of the CPC, the matters related to the construction

of a COFCO Coca-Cola Guizhou Plant and then paid a visit to a potential site for the

plant on the following day.

12A178 #REZRAFEALRLER B TEMNERRBELL - &5

MERECHERLSERPRAOALENTHNSEZBFEEETR - KA

AREERENBERTHERIL - PREIGERTEERMEEFRMALLE LS
R TESREREEFHLLBRGRNER -

DECEMBER +—A

Mr. Qing Lijun appointed as the Managing
Director of China Foods

BUERERETERRESREERE

On 30 December, the Company announced that Ms. Luan Xiuju would
retire from her positions as an Executive Director and the Managing
Director of China Foods and be replaced by Mr. Qing Lijun, with effect
from 1 January 2020.

12 A308  RARIEM E20205F 1 A1 A BT 22+ IR KEHEF
BREMNTESRESALIERS  YHETFERERMT -

BEREERAT
F3R 2019
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Dear Shareholders,

In 2019, under the leadership and support of the board of directors
and the efforts of our management team, China Foods achieved
good operating results. Our revenue reached RMB17.17 billion,
representing a year-on-year increase of 10%, and we recorded a
total profit before tax of RMB1.01 billion, our profit from continuing
operations after deducting one-off gains increased by 29%, year
on year. The overall operating results showed a steady and healthy
trend of growth.

These admirable results came as a result of many factors,
including the steady development of China’s macro economy,
improvement of its overall social consumption, and various favorable
operating factors such as government tax and fee reductions
and especially the professionalism and effort of our management
team. Also notable was the management team’s effectiveness
in accurately assessing risks and opportunities in the face of
new consumer trends and market changes, and enhancing our
competitive strengths through the introduction of new products and
development of new channels. Internally, our management keep
improving management effectiveness, tapping into potential of our
team and improving operational quality and efficiency, which in turn
enhanced profitability.

The market presents both opportunities and challenges in 2020.
Despite the impact on consumption made by the epidemic at the
beginning of the year, the massive potential of China’s beverage
market remains undiminished. COFCO and The Coca-Cola
Company’s strategic objectives therefore remain consistent, and
applied to a full spectrum of products to enable existing businesses
to meet the increasing diversified demands of our consumer. As a
pioneer in the reform of state-owned capital investment companies,
COFCO will also consider making better use of China Foods'’ listing
platform and improving the branded food business’s market-
oriented operational mechanisms and incentive mechanisms to
stimulate the vitality and drivers of the business and our team,
improve market competitiveness, and maintain a path of sustainable
and sound development.

The epidemic would bring huge changes to the consumer demand
and channel structure of China’s market, which would be an enormous
challenge to all fast moving consumer goods enterprises. | have a
strong faith that China Foods will be capable of quickly adjusting to
address the challenges and maintain stable and healthy development.

CHEN Lang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 March 2020
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STATEMENT FROM MANAGING DIRECTOR

Dear Shareholders,

2019: BUSINESS OPTIMISATION,
GLOBALISATION AND RISK CONTAINMENT

In 2019, China Foods’ work theme was “Business Optimisation,
Globalisation and Risk Containment”. While maintaining steady
growth, we focused on improving the quality of our operations,
implemented benchmarking management to find points of
weakness, and learned from the experiences of leading international
branded consumer goods companies to upgrade our management
system and minimize operational risks.

In 2019, China Foods achieved good operating results, with steady
growth in revenue and profits and new enhancements to operating
quality. Through the introduction of new and high-margin packaging
products, we improved the product structure and strengthened
price management to achieve growth in revenue per unit case.
Through the development of ready-to-drink and new retail channels,
premium customer-oriented services and super city projects, we
boosted the quality of our marketing network. Through continuous
upstream and downstream integration and standardized logistics
operations, we improved the supply chain’s operating quality
and reduced the environmental risks of production. Through
the consistent application of new technology, we upgraded our
management tools, improved management efficiency and reduced
management costs. Therefore, our revenue growth was higher than
that of sales, and profit growth was higher than that of revenue,
showing a healthy trend of development.

In terms of risk resistance, we continued the construction of a
system for quality, safety and environmental protection and passed
174 external audits in 2019, with relevant indicators all showing
improvement. Using a regular risk assessment mechanism,
we comprehensively analyzed operational risks and problems
and formulated measures to improve risk control, including
implementation of strict fund and credit management, improving
turnover of accounts receivable, lowering the asset-liability ratio and
strictly controlling financial risk. Through such means, we strove
to ensure the Company’s operation and guarantee the rights and
interests of our shareholders.
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STATEMENT FROM MANAGING DIRECTOR % FEABATHE ph (+

In terms of learning and benchmarking management, our core
management team conducted in-depth investigations of several
outstanding Coca-Cola bottling groups in Europe, America and Asia.
Combined with an examination of existing deficiencies, we used this
knowledge to advance our experience and improve our business
operations.

2020: CONSUMPTION-ORIENTED, EFFICIENCY-
DRIVEN!

Though the COVID-19 epidemic outbreak will certainly impact
China’s overall economic development and greatly impact the
development of beverage industry. Such impact, on the one hand
is shown in the change in consumption mode during the epidemic,
while on the other hand is reflected on new development concepts
and opportunities for the industry after the epidemic. Limitations on
distribution channels during the epidemic cast a negative impact
on the industry as a whole. After the epidemic, however, there may
be changes in consumption concepts and behaviors of consumers,
retail channel structures and operation models, thus bringing
opportunities and challenges to the development of the industry.

In view of the above, with consumer demand as a guide and with
meeting consumer demand as the goal, Chinese Foods will adapt
and embrace change.

In respect of products, we will continue to expand categories and
upgrade products, supported by The Coca-Cola Company’s full
category development strategy. In the sparkling drinks category,
we will continue to promote healthy and fashionable high-end
products and packages, and expand our leading position. In the
juice category, we will launch products suited to consumers in
different regions and create regional super juice products. In the
waters category, we will upgrade our products and develop more
high-end waters, fruity waters, soda and mineral waters to meet the
demands of more consumers and expand our market share. We
will also increase our effort to expand product categories such as
sports, energy, tea and enhanced drinks, and ready-to-drink coffee,
to increase their proportion of the overall business.

CHINA FOODS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2019
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STATEMENT FROM MANAGING DIRECTOR % FABATHE i+

In terms of channels, we will closely follow the changes in
consumption concepts and behaviors of consumers, maintain our
advantages in channels such as supermarkets and general eateries,
continue to promote rapid development of channels such as
catering, gas station, travel and transportation, expedite the footprint
of new retail channels and delivery-to-home service, and satisfy the
demand from consumers under different consumption scenarios.

Meanwhile, China Foods will increasingly concentrate on improving
efficiency. By driving outstanding operational projects, effectively
integrating existing resources, refining management, upgrading
and improving management systems and tools, and enhancing
our culture and capabilities of innovation, we will advance the
modernization of our management system and management
capabilities and achieve improvements in all aspects of operational,
asset and resource input-output efficiency.

We will strive to lower the impact on the business operation of the
Company and maintain a steady profitability through the above
measures.

On behalf of the management team, | thank our shareholders for
their trust and confidence in China Foods. We shall not cease in our
efforts to bring greater returns on their investment.

QING Lijun
Managing Director

Hong Kong, 24 March 2020
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CURRENT STATUS

China Foods currently holds and operates COFCO Coca-Cola
Beverages Limited (“COFCO Coca-Cola”) and is an important global
bottling partner of The Coca-Cola Company.

The Company’s exclusive franchise to manufacture, market and
distribute products under the Coca-Cola series encompasses 19
provincial-level administrative regions, covering over 50% of the
mainland China’s population. The Company provides consumers
with ten major types of beverages — namely sparkling drink, juice,
water, energy drink, tea, coffee, functional nutrition drink, sports
drink and plant-based protein drink under 20 brands.

The Company has more than 10,000 salespersons to serve over
1.5 million customers. Our marketing network reaches 100% of the
cities, 100% of the counties and more than 60% of the towns within
our operating regions. Business under our control, being customer
orders served directly by our sales representatives, accounts for
more than 80% of our overall business.

EEE AT

BB

hEAR B AEREEPET O ALARA
ARBANAL]) - ATOFRAFARH
EBEHAEBHE -

ANBRBEL LT OO LR EREE
HE19EERTHES - BEREANHE
50%MAOEE - WAHEBERMAK R
ok FLEREL - BES AR - &5 - BIBE - T
RV EE AR BESA REYEQ KK
F10KGIE ~ 20MEA AR E M ©

AAREAHEEABBIES @ RISHBA
I50BREF - A EIEHEAKREEBEL
BRI A 100% KT © 100% M) SR K 12
BE0%MABEE - AT ER (REIEBAER
EEEPEDL) LG 2 B2 EI5H80% A
L °

- Owns ] Q bottling plants

- Operates ] Q provincial
level markets

- Covered 8 ] % of China

- Covered 5 ] o/o of China’s
population

SHeYPRER OR]EE :
s | Q Eemm
s | Qe mEs
- E=8 1% mE+tEE
_E=5 Y mrhEAREAD

BERmERD
FR 2019

COFCO Coca-Cola to date:



10

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS &2 /& i T

DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY

Under the theme for 2019 of “Business Optimisation, Globalisation
and Risk Containment”, China Foods plans to optimise product
structure, rationalise network planning, strengthen teamwork and
accelerate innovation while maintaining pace of growth, so as
to achieve increases in profitability and industries status within
the industry, In addition, the Group intends to manage strictly
potential safety and environmental issues as well as financial and
management risks, and to improve the construction of its risk
control system, in an effort to keep abreast with and even surpass
the outstanding Coca-Cola global bottler and global beverage
companies in all respects. Our main development strategy for 2019
was known as 3R2S, being Revenue Growth, Route to Market, Right
Execution Daily, Supply Chain Excellence and System Capability
Building, the details of which are as follows:

° Revenue Growth: Improving price management and optimising
product structure to promote sustained revenue growth. In
2019, main packaging prices were systematically managed,
and targeted increase in the product unit price and the
adoption of system strictly to control low-price sales helped
effectively to increase the overall price. In terms of product
structure optimisation, we continued to promote the expansion
of new ranges of beverages such as ready-to-drink tea, ready-
to-drink coffee and sports drinks. We also promoted further the
growth of new high-margin products such as a series of sugar-
free sparkling products, Chun Yue brand water products;
and continued our efforts upgrade the packaging of existing
products such as sleek can, multi-packs, mini cans and
new packaging for juice and other products. As a result, our
revenue recorded significant growth in 2019, and the growth
rate is even higher than the sales volume growth rate.

CHINA FOODS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2019

E4EE

019FHFERMMIFEEAIREE -
BE - BiEBR] - ERIFERRENREE
fLERERE TEHEBRGRE - BRABEBE
7 MRAFTHK - WEBRAFGEHEF
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BEELZE BEREERVE - BERR -
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HMEREHEFKHLEZAEE - 2
EEE - 2019F M= EHERE A3R2S -
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Route to Market: Collaboration through digital tools such as
electronic maps and with new retail platforms such as B2B to
improve network coverage and efficiency. With the aid of sales
system tools, we improved the efficiency of business visits and
customer service quality, in order to maintain and continuously
expand the effectiveness of existing channels. Meanwhile,
we also actively developed sales channels for immediate
consumption such as restaurants, hotels, tourism attractions
and gas stations, we strengthened distribution and promotion
activities; accelerated the development of new retail channels
such as B2C, 020 and intelligent automatic vending machines,
so as to increase the proportion and share of revenue
contributed by these new channels. Further improvement of
the marketing network has enabled the Company to reach
more points-of-sale and consumers through these diversified
channels.

Right Execution Daily: In 2019, we continued to strengthen our
services to key customers and expand our service coverage to
ensure the enhancement of market execution standards and
sales to key customers. We made use of image recognition
technology to improve the management quality and efficiency
of points-of-sales. We adjusted our sales strategy to the
change in consumer shopping behaviors which resulted in the
development of key projects such as super cities and catering
model streets. We also strengthened the market performance
of new retail channels and the opportunities for increasing
online sales and 020 distribution, while putting more effort
towards consumption digital marketing to reach more
consumers and drive consumption.
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Supply Chain Excellence: We continued to promote the
construction of a dual prevention mechanism, improve the
system standards of all links, enhance mechanism-based
protection over working safety and risk management and
control efforts, and provided employees with training in
production safety to raise employees’ awareness of safety.
We continued to improve resource output efficiency, so that
the two indicators of efficient water consumption and energy
consumption were maintained at among the best in the
global Coca-Cola system. By improving logistics distribution
network efficiency and inventory management level through
upgrading and promotion of our transportation and warehouse
management information system, we continued to improve
uniform the standard(s) for our logistics operations, so as
to improve staff efficiency and throughput. As a result,
the average per unit logistics cost recorded a year-on-year
decrease in 2019.

System Capability Building: The management continues to
believe that employees are the most valuable assets and an
indispensable resource for the Group’s sustained development.
In order to ensure the continued development of the team,
the Group has introduced an annual talent review programme
to conduct a comprehensive evaluation on every employee.
Development plans and corresponding training programmes
were organised for them according to their evaluation results
and personal development interests. For every key position,
a backup team was selected for targeted training. In addition
to regular management training and professional training, in
2019, the manager-level backup team was specially trained
to benchmark general manager, director and other main
positions in accordance with the programme. At the same
time, we actively encouraged innovation, made effective
use of our internal “Constructive Suggestions” platform to
encourage innovation in routine work and took advantage of
the establishment of annual innovation awards to stimulate
major innovations.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS &2 [E7m 1T

INDUSTRIAL ENVIRONMENT

According to statistics from the National Bureau of Statistics of
the PRC, China’'s GDP achieved a year-on-year growth of 6.1%
and the per capita consumption expenditure recorded a year-on-
year growth of 8.6% in 2019. With the steady development of the
national economy and the continuous improvement of the level of
urbanisation, the overall revenue of the non-alcoholic ready-to-drink
industry maintained a year-on-year growth in 2019. The three main
product categories of the Company, namely sparkling drinks, juice
and packaged water, demonstrated different industry development
trends, among which, sparkling drinks and packaged water had
more rapid growth in revenue, which is higher than the average for
the non-alcoholic ready-to-drink industry, and the juice category
recorded negative growth in revenue.

REVIEW OF RESULTS

Below is a summary comparison of the beverage business’s 2019
and 2018 annual results:
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In 2019, China Foods continued to maintain growth in revenue
and sales volume, representing an increase of 10% and 6% as
compared with last year, among which new products contributed
more than 8% of the revenue. The overall average price of
raw materials for the year was similar to that of last year. With
the increase in sales volume of high-margin products and the
improvement of the packaging structure, combined with the
decreased of the VAT rate, the gross profit margin improved over the
same period last year. Meanwhile, the Company concentrated on
the management of capital expenditures and operating cash flow,
and gradually reduced the financial costs, resulting in higher profit
margin than last year.

Business development by beverage category was as follows:
Sparkling drinks

As to the expansion of product lines, we actively accelerated the
growth of “Zero Sugar” and “Fiber +” series in response to the
trend of consumers’ towards healthy and fashionable products, and
strengthened the promotion of modern cans and mini cans to attract
consumers with more contemporary packaging. During the year, we
launched a number of new flavours of sparkling drinks to provide
consumers with more choices.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS &2 [E7m 1T

As to brand promotion, we leveraged the cooperation of “Coca-
Cola Zero” and the popular movie “The Avengers 4” to packages
products incorporating images of the movie characters to attract
target customers, which achieved good results. The Fanta brand
launched a limited-edition “FANTA Dark Mystery” (353 2 BEi#) for
the Halloween season, and strengthened its brand proposition of
“enjoy good drinks with more fun (4F"84F3r)".

In 2019, the market share by value for sparkling drinks in our
operating regions increased by 0.6 percentage point, and the
market share continued to be maintained at over 60%, surpassing
its main competitors’ products further.

Juices

Although the overall revenue of the juice sector recorded a year-on-
year decline affected by the upgrading of consumption and rising
self-made beverage stores, its revenue performance outperformed
its main competitive products, representing a year-on-year growth
in sales revenue, mainly driven by the comprehensive upgrading of
new products of the Company.
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During the year, Minute Maid carried out a large-scale product
upgrade since its debut, with larger fruit pellets bringing consumers
a pleasant taste and more colourful packaging bringing a full
range of dazzling visual effects. It also captured more potential
customers by its packaging, online and physical stores through new
brand endorsers and marketing campaigns on different platforms.
As for new products, the launch of “Minute Maid Passion Fruit”
and “Minute Maid Hawthorn” further stimulated consumers’
consumption.

In 2019, the market share by value for juices in our operating
regions increased by 0.2 percentage point, still maintaining our
leading position in the category.

Water

We focused on the promotion of Chun Yue water at the RMB2
price point, and recorded a rapid growth in revenue during the year
thanks to our continuous investment in marketing which gradually
produced positive results. With the improvement of our channel
distribution capacity, /ce Dew water at the RMB1 price point also
recorded a year-on-year growth in revenue.

In 2019, in addition to the sales volume, the average price per unit
case for our water category also recorded an increase, and the
market share by value in our operating regions remained at last
year's level.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS &2 [E7m 1T

Energy drinks

During the year, Monster (f&/T1) energy drink cooperated with
PetroChina and Sinopec to create more than 2,000 image stores in
petrol stations and service areas. In addition, through shelf displays
in key channels such as gas stations, schools, Internet cafes and
supermarkets, consumer free drinks and various forms of consumer
promotion activities, we strove to broaden the consumer base,
strengthen brand construction for the product’s steady development,
and achieved substantial growth in revenue.

Ready-to-drink teas

In 2019, COFCO Coca-Cola introduced the sugar-free tea brand
Authentic Tea House (2252 in the region for the first time, and
launched “Pu’er Xiao Tea” (EHEZ) under the Authentic Tea
House (/225%) brand with specially selected Yunnan Pu'er Tea as
a raw material and providing simple and mellow Chinese tea flavor.
The tea is carefully brewed, sugar-fee and has its own sweetness.
Premium tea leaves are used and each bottle contains dietary fiber
that meets approximately 32% of adults’ daily needs and helps to
maintain normal intestinal function.

The western fruit tea brand Yo! Tea launched last year, added
tequila flavor during the year, combined with the original iced black
tea with kumquat, blended berry, apple and kiwi flavours, created
four cool and fashionable fruity tea drinks with different flavours for
young consumers.
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Ready-to-drink coffee

The domestic ready-to-drink coffee market grew rapidly with
estimated annual sales of US$2 billion and a projected compound
annual growth rate of approximately 13% for 2017-2023. The
Company launched a new GEORGIA high-end ready-to-drink coffee
last year, which received an excellence response from the market.
During the year, we organised a number of GEORGIA coffee gift-
drinking activities in office buildings targeted consumer group which
comprises the urban white-collar workers, which reached more than
100,000 target consumers through the campaign.

Sport drinks

In May 2019, the Company launched two sport drinks: the
“POWERADE Ran” designed for explosive sports and the
“POWERADE Nai” designed for endurance sports, providing
different formulations for different sports to improve the sport
performance of consumers. The POWERADE brand has recorded
annual sales of more than US$2 billion in over 80 countries
worldwide.
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Channel development:

The Company continued to expand its customer base and adjust
its customer structure. During the year, the number of customers
served increased by more than 40,000, mainly from Modern
Trade channels (MT) (+17,000) and catering channels (+63,000)
which were our focus of development. The number of customers
from General Trade (GT) channel has decreased due to urban
transformation and after-sale upgrades.

Catering channel: During the year, the Company established a full-
time catering team to actively develop new catering customers.
Through the integration of online and offline activities, it cultivated
consumer consumption habits in the dining scene and increased
channel revenue.

MT channel: The Company sought to exploit the opportunities
arising from the rapid development of subdivision channels such
as convenience stores and small supermarkets and integrated
such customers into its overall management of key customers.
The double-digit growth in revenue was achieved in part by a more
specialised and personalized management model for this segment
of the market.

GT channel: We adopted tools such as electronic maps to improve
our service to high-quality sales points. Through the increase in
the number of contracted customers, single-store sales increased
significantly, and channel revenue also achieved double-digit
growth.

E-commerce channel: The product strategy for this channel
different from that of GT channels. Channel product structure was
optimised by the vigorous promoting new products and high-margin
products to improve profitability. Cooperation with major e-commerce
platforms has driven consumption through diversified means of
marketing, contributing to a revenue growth of over 50%.

Outlook

China’s economy will face huge challenges in 2020. Although
China and the United States have signed the first phase of a
trade agreement, the economic and trade relations between
the two countries are still full of uncertainties. The outbreak of
the coronavirus which is having a severe impact on the world
economy adds to the present uncertainties. The pressure of slowing
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economic growth is still high. The pace of economic development
will shift from high-speed to medium-high speed, and the mode of
development will shift to focus on quality. Domestic consumption
has become the main driving force for China’s economic growth.
The beverage industry is expected to continue to maintain steady
growth in the longer term, benefiting from support of national
policies.

In 2020, China Foods will continue to implement its total beverage
strategy. While actively maintaining the advantages of its core
categories, it will continue to increase the promotion of new products
together with existing products. The growth of energy beverages and
coffee is expected to continue to lead other categories in the coming
few years. In addition to continuing to cultivate the development
potential of Monster (ZE/T) and GEORGIA brands, the Company
will also cooperate with Costa Coffee in 2020 to launch high-end
ready-to-drink coffee targeted at consumers pursuing a pure coffee
experience, and further enrich its ready-to-drink coffee product
line. For water category, we will continue our efforts to upgrade our
products, increase the proportion of water products at the RMB2
price point, and accelerate the revenue and profitability growth of
this category.

Furthermore, the Company will strive to achieve a revenue growth
higher than the average of the industry through continuous
investment in marketing, constant expansion of new products
and new channels and continuous improvement of its internal
management. Except the PET price fluctuate with oil price, it
is expected that the prices of raw materials will fluctuate within
a narrow range, and our gross profit margin will remain stable.
Besides, driven by regional integration and enhanced market
execution, it is expected that the overall expense ratio and profit
margin of the Company will achieve continuous improvement, and
healthy growth in its performance will be maintained.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
REVENUE

In 2019, sales volume growth amounted to 6% while revenue
growth reached 10%. The growth of revenue and sales volume were
maintained. In 2019, the overall price was effectively increased by
improving price management and optimising product structure.

GROSS PROFIT MARGIN

The overall average price of raw materials throughout the year
remained similar to that of the previous year. The gross profit margin
improved slightly year-on-year due to the increase in sales volume
of high-margin products and the improvement in our packaging
structure, as well as a decrease in the VAT rate.

OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

In 2019, one-off gains on disposal of certain right-of-use assets and
property, plant and equipment of approximately RMB75 million
in aggregate were recorded. There were no material year-on-
year change in other income and gains excluding the one-off gain
mention above.

DISTRIBUTION AND SELLING EXPENSES
RATIO/ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES RATIO

The distribution and selling expenses ratio for this year was basically
unchanged. With the synergy effect of business integration upon the
consolidation of the bottlers in our sales regions, the administrative
expenses ratio further decreased.

FINANCE COSTS

Finance costs dropped by 28% as a result of the repayment of
borrowings RMB760 million during 2019.

INCOME TAX EXPENSES

The overall tax rate of 2018 was relatively lower, which was mainly
due to the fact that part of the taxable income of bottling plants
for that year was set-off by losses in the previous years. Income
tax expenses increased in line with profit in the absence of the
exceptional factors mentioned above.

g 4EI]
BA

20194  HERRZE6%  MBRABEE
10% @ IRIFWA B EEERE - FRRIBT
EEREEMNBCERGERE  ZERERABM
B’ -

EFI%

2FEEMHRE FHEREEFHRS £
ENEMHEEERNBREBNE © N LE
ERTRFENANT - EFRFLLBHH

3=

== o

HWA R k&

FRHEFEBIREE - MERBERREE

BRI AR 5008 7T - &
MWA&W SEL LA AEARE (T

b — RS -

SWRMES LR TR
b=

AEEHHRHETHLEEART - fife
EmMEHEAOBRMET (TR
T -

BME XA

HR2019F &
FXAN T #28% ©

Frig i< i

2018F BB T &K T B M #l (0 FIMMAR
% F JE B JE AR B U A DA B 6 R B 1B P IR
o DET L 22 RIFTS B S H 85 FRES
—HUER -

EEARKT6ET &

BEREERAT
1R 2019

2f



28

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS &2 /& i T

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Company’s treasury function operates as a centralised service
for:

e Reallocating financial resources within the Group;
e Procuring cost-efficient funding for the Group;

e Managing financial risks, including interest rate and foreign
exchange rate risks; and

e Targeting yield enhancement opportunities.

The treasury function regularly and closely monitors its overall cash
and debt positions, reviews its funding costs and maturity profiles
to facilitate timely refinancing. Cash pooling is applied in Mainland
China for the more efficient utilisation of cash. Also, the treasury
function formulated financial risk management procedures, which
are subject to periodic review by the senior management of the
Company.

In the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2019, the Group’s unpledged cash and cash equivalents
totaled approximately RMB835million (31 December 2018:
approximately RMB243 million). Net current liabilities were
approximately RMB2,622 million (31 December 2018: RMB2,468
million).

Having considered the (i) forecast cash flow from operating activities
of continuing operation, (ii) existing financial resources and gearing
level of the Group, and (iii) existing banking facilities available to
the Group, the directors believe that the Group’s financial resources
are sufficient to fund its debt payments, day-to-day operations,
contracted capital expenditures as at 31 December 2019.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS &2 [E7m 1T

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at and for the year ended 31 December 2019, the total
number of issued shares of the Company remained unchanged at
2,797,223,396. In the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2019, the Group had interest-bearing bank
borrowings of approximately RMB607 million (31 December 2018:
approximately RMB1,167 million). As at 31 December 2019, all
bank borrowings in Mainland China were denominated in Renminbi,
carried at annual interest rate of loan prime rate -0.025% (31
December 2018: carried at annual interest rate of loan prime rate
-0.025%).

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had no other borrowings
(31 December 2018: Nil). As at 31 December 2019, net assets
attributable to owners of the parent were approximately RMB4,540
million (31 December 2018: approximately RMB4,219 million)
and net cash position of the Group (unpledged cash and cash
equivalents less interest-bearing bank and other borrowings) was
approximately RMB228 million (31 December 2018: net borrowing
of approximately RMB923 million) and the gearing ratio (ratio of
borrowing position of the Group to equity attributable to owners
of the parent) was approximately 13% (31 December 2018:
approximately 28%).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND ASSETS
PLEDGED

As at 31 December 2019, the Group has no significant contingent
liabilities nor assets pledged (other than certain bills payable) (31
December 2018: Nil).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE MANAGEMENT

Majority of monetary assets, monetary liabilities and transactions
of the Group were principally denominated in Renminbi and
recorded in the books of subsidiaries operating in Mainland China
(functional currency as Renminbi). In respect of interest-bearing
borrowings as at 31 December 2019, all interest-bearing borrowings
were denominated in Renminbi and recorded in the books of the
subsidiaries operating in Mainland China.

Although the Group has not used any financial instruments for
hedging purposes, the treasury function actively and closely
monitors foreign exchange rate exposure. The foreign exchange risk
exposure at the operational level is not significant.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS &2 /& i T

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2019, the Group employed 19,681 staff in
Mainland China and Hong Kong (31 December 2018: 19,910).
Employees are paid according to their positions, performance,
experience and prevailing market practices, and are provided with
management and professional training.

Employees in Hong Kong are provided with retirement benefits,
either under a Mandatory Provident Fund exempted ORSO scheme
or under the Mandatory Provident Fund scheme, as well as life
insurance and medical insurance. Employees in Mainland China are
provided with pension insurance, medical insurance, employment
injury insurance, unemployment insurance, maternity insurance and
housing fund contributions in compliance with the requirements of
the laws of China. Details of these benefit schemes will set out in the
“Short-term and Other Long-term Employee Benefits” under note 4
“Significant Accounting Policies” to the financial statements in this
report.

The Company and its subsidiaries have no share option scheme.
CHANGE IN THE STRUCTURE OF THE GROUP

During the year, COFCO Coca-Cola, a 65%-owned subsidiary of the
Company, set up an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary in Guizhou,
China namely COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages (Guizhou) Limited
which is mainly engaged in beverage bottling production, sale and
distribution.

CHINA FOODS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2019
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CHAIRMAN AND NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
ERRFUTES

MR. CHEN LANG

Mr. Chen, 54, was appointed as a non-executive director and the chairman of
the board of directors of the Company in April 2019. Mr. Chen joined COFCO
Corporation in April 2019 and is currently an executive vice president of COFCO
Corporation, the chairman of COFCO WOMAI.COM Investment Limited (FR#&%
EHIEABMR AR, a director of COFCO Beverages Limited, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, and a director and the chairman of the board of
directors of each of COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages Limited (“COFCO Coca-Cola”)
and COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages (China) Investment Ltd., both of which
are 65%-owned subsidiaries of the Company. Currently, Mr. Chen is also a
non-executive director and the chairman of the board of directors of China
Mengniu Dairy Company Limited, a company listed in Hong Kong, and the visiting
professor of Anhui University. In the past, Mr. Chen has served as a director and
the chairman of the board of directors of China Resources Enterprise, Limited,
an executive vice president of China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited, a
director of CRH (Beer) Limited, the chairman of China Resources Snow Breweries
(China) Investment Co., Ltd., a director of China Resources Company Limited
(formerly known as China Resources National Corporation), the chief executive
officer of China Resources Vanguard Co., Ltd., the chairman of China Resources
Ng Fung Limited and China Resources C’estbon Beverage (China) Investment Co.,
Ltd. and a vice chairman and the chief executive officer of China Resources Logic
Limited (now renamed as China Resources Gas Group Limited). Mr. Chen was a
vice chairman of the board of directors and a member of strategy committee of
Shanxi Xinghuacun Fen Wine Factory Co., Limited (LLPEZSIER BRI B R
A A]), a company listed in Shanghai, until June 2019; and an executive director
and the chairman of the board of directors of China Resources Beer (Holdings)
Company Limited, a company listed in Hong Kong, until July 2019.

Mr. Chen holds a Bachelor of Economics degree from Anhui University, China and a
Master of Business Administration degree from the University of San Francisco, USA.
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MR. QING LUUN EMEE4E
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
HITES

MR. QING LIJUN

Mr. Qing, 50, was appointed as an executive director and the managing director
of the Company in January 2020. Mr. Qing is currently a director and the chief
executive officer of COFCO Coca-Cola, a 65%-owned subsidiary of the Company,
and a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Qing joined COFCO
Corporation and/or its subsidiaries (together but excluding the Company and
its subsidiaries, collectively refer to as “COFCO Group”) in July 1993 and has
held various positions including the director of strategy department of COFCO
Corporation during the period from July 2016 to March 2019. Mr. Qing was the
deputy general manager of COFCO Coca-Cola during the period from December
2007 to June 2016. Mr. Qing has concurrently served as the strategy planning
director of COFCO Coca-Cola during the period April 2004 to March 2014. During
the period from April 2004 to June 2016, Mr. Qing has also concurrently served
various positions including the director of the public relations department and the
director of the finance department of COFCO Coca-Cola, the general manager of
COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages (Shandong) Limited and the general manager of
COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages (Beijing) Limited. Mr. Qing has served as the deputy
general manager of Jilin COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages Limited during the period
from June 2002 to March 2004 and a sales operation manager of COFCO Coca-
Cola during April 2000 to May 2002.

Mr. Qing graduated from Renmin University of China and Guanghua School
of Business Management of Peking University with a Bachelor’s degree in
Economics and a Master’'s degree in Business Administration, respectively.
Mr. Qing has extensive experience in beverage production, marketing, strategy
planning, finance, public relations and general management.
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MR. SHEN PENG

Mr. Shen, 47, was appointed as an executive director of the Company in
December 2017. Mr. Shen is currently the finance general manager of COFCO
Coca-Cola, a 656%-owned subsidiary of the Company, and a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Shen joined COFCO Coca-Cola in 2002 and has
held various finance positions in the group of COFCO Coca-Cola, including the
chief financial officer of Gansu COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages Limited and the chief
financial officer of COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages (Beijing) Limited. Prior to joining
COFCO Coca-Cola, he was a financial analyst at Sithe (China) Holdings Ltd. and
Hei (China) Ltd..

Mr. Shen graduated from China Foreign Affair College in 1994 and then
received a Bachelor's degree in accounting management from the University of
International Business and Economics in 2004, and a Master of Science degree
in applied accounting and finance from Hong Kong Baptist University in 2015.
Mr. Shen is a senior accountant and has over 15 years of experience in finance
and accounting.
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MS. XIAO JIANPING HETFZ+

CHINA FOODS LIMITED
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g

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
FITES

MS. XIAO JIANPING

Ms. Xiao, 56, was appointed as a non-executive director of the Company in
January 2017. Ms. Xiao is currently a director of each of COFCO Coca-Cola and
COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages (China) Investment Limited, both of which are
65%-owned subsidiaries of the Company, and a director of COFCO Wines &
Spirits Investments Co., Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary of COFCO Corporation.
Ms. Xiao was the deputy general manager and the chief accountant of China
Merchandise Reserve Management Center during the period from April to
November 2016. Ms. Xiao joined The China Huafu Trade & Development Group
Corp. in 1999, and has held various positions in the finance department. Ms. Xiao
was the chief accountant and the finance manager of The China Huafu Trade &
Development Group Corp. during the period from December 2013 to April 2016.
Ms. Xiao was a director of COFCO Tunhe Sugar Co., Ltd., a company listed in
Shanghai, until February 2018.

Ms. Xiao graduated from Party School of the Central Committee of Communist
Party of China majoring in economics and management and has completed a
two-year professional training course of public finance at the Graduate School
of Chinese Academy of Sciences. Ms. Xiao is a senior accountant and a senior
international finance manager. She has extensive experience in finance and
accounting.
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MR. QIN YELONG

Mr. Qin, 57, was appointed as a non-executive director of the Company in January
2017. Mr. Qin is currently a director of each of COFCO Coca-Cola and COFCO
Coca-Cola Beverages (China) Investment Limited, both of which are 65%-owned
subsidiaries of the Company, and a director of China Tea Co., Ltd., a wholly-owned
subsidiary of COFCO Corporation. Mr. Qin joined COFCO Group in 1992 and
has held various management positions, including the vice president of COFCO
International Limited during the period from September 2014 to November 2016,
the deputy director of the strategy department of COFCO Corporation during the
period from May 2013 to September 2014, and the general manager of COFCO
Tunhe Co., Ltd., a company listed in Shanghai, during the period from September
2005 to May 2013.

Mr. Qin graduated from Nanchang Institute of Aeronautical Technology (now
Nanchang Hangkong University) with Bachelor’s degree in engineering and holds
a Master’s degree in technologies and economics from Tsinghua University. Mr.
Qin has over 20 years of experience in business management.

BEERE

B 575k  R2017F 1 ABREEARRABERITES - EXEBRRR AR
NEEBE6S%ERNNEB AT PBA DAl 2K P8 f O Al 4R (HB)IRES
RARES  URFREREEERAFRZEMNBRARTEARERNDBRARE
F o BAERIO2FEMAFEEE - TEEZETERAMA - 81ER201459A
2016511 AEAMIEEPREBEE AR AR 28 - R2013F5AZ=201459 A
HIEETREE AR A GBI 428 - LARN200599 4 £201345 A HifH
BELSEMRABIFEENRMNERAAIBLE -

BEREEXNHEMETLXER RAHEMEARR)  BTIESLEUREA
BEABRMEEEXALTEN - ERENERERTHREER —+F&R% -

TERRERATF
4 2019

39



DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE ZEF % @R EFEERG

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
BYFHITES

MR. STEPHEN EDWARD CLARK

Mr. Clark, 70, was appointed as an independent non-executive director of the
Company in January 2005. Mr. Clark is currently a joint managing director of
The Anglo Chinese Investment Company, Limited, the chairman of the Takeovers
and Mergers Panel and a member of the Takeovers Appeal Committee of the
Securities and Futures Commission. Mr. Clark has served as a director of Hong

Kong Securities and Investment Institute and an alternate member of the Listing
Committee of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited in the past. Mr. Clark
has extensive experience in corporate finance.

MR. STEPHEN EDWARD CLARK T &%4%

Mr. Clark holds a joint honors degree of Bachelor in history and history of art
from the University of Nottingham in England and a degree of Master in business
administration from the University of Witwatersrand, Johannesburg, South Africa.
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MR. LI HUNG KWAN, ALFRED

Mr. Li, 67, was appointed as an independent non-executive director of the
Company in November 2008. Mr. Li was a member of each of the Takeovers
and Mergers Panel of the Securities and Futures Commission and the Listing
Committee of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and an expert member
of the Finance Committee of the Kowloon Canton Railway Corporation and an
executive director and the chief finance officer of Hang Lung Group Limited, a
company listed in Hong Kong.

Mr. Li holds a Bachelor of Social Sciences degree in economics and sociology
from The University of Hong Kong, and is a fellow member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a member of Institute of Chartered
Accountants of Scotland. Mr. Li has more than 30 years of experience in finance
and accounting.
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MR. MOK WAI BUN, BEN

Mr. Mok, 71, was appointed as an independent non-executive director of the
Company in August 2017. Mr. Mok is currently an independent non-executive
director of Yashili International Holdings Ltd, a company listed in Hong Kong. Mr.
Mok served as a senior consultant for COFCO Coca-Cola, a 65%-owned subsidiary
of the Company, in 2012 and also served as the general manager of Beijing Coca-
Cola Beverage Co., Ltd. from 2002 to 2011. From 1993 to 2001, Mr. Mok was the
general manager of Hangzhou BC Foods Company Limited and Nanjing BC Foods
Company Limited and also served as the general manager of Swire Beverages

Limited responsible for overseeing bottling plants of Swire Beverages Limited in
China.

MR. MOK WAI BUN, BEN E#BREE

Mr. Mok was awarded a Bachelor's degree of economics from McGill University,
Canada in 1975. Mr. Mok has extensive experience in beverage production,
marketing and general management.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT
SREEE

MR. FANG XIANG

Mr. Fang, aged 50, joined the group of COFCO Coca-Cola in August 2004 and is
currently the deputy general manager of COFCO Coca-Cola. Mr. Fang has held
various positions in the group of COFCO Coca-Cola, including General Manager
of Hainan COFCO Coca-Cola Beverage Co., Ltd, COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages
(Sichuan) Limited, and COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages (Shandong) Limited.
Mr. Fang has extensive experience in operations and management. Mr. Fang
graduated from the University of Science and Technology of China with a Master’s
degree in MBA.
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MR. HU JIANZHI #EE %%

CHINA FOODS LIMITED
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MR. HU JIANZHI

Mr. Hu, aged 48, joined COFCO Coca-Cola in May 2011 and is currently the
general manager of the procurement department of COFCO Coca-Cola. Mr. Hu
joined COFCO Corporation in 1993 and has held various positions in COFCO
Group, including deputy general manager of the risk management division of the
strategic department and assistant general manager of the oil and fats department
of COFCO Corporation, and the general manager of Top Glory (London) Ltd.. Mr.
Hu has extensive experience in operations and management. Mr. Hu graduated
from the University of International Business and Economics with a Bachelor’s
degree in Economics.
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RIR - HEREREE

INTRODUCTION

China Foods Limited (hereinafter referred to as the “Company” or
“China Foods”, together with COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages Limited
(hereinafter referred to as “COFCO Coca-Cola”), a 65%-owned
subsidiary, and its subsidiaries, collectively as the “Group”) follows
the social responsibility philosophy of “loyalty to national policies
and making people’s lives better”. In its corporate mission and
responsibility, it is “dedicated to modern beverages and creating
long-lasting value”, and it strives to achieve sustainable development

for itself and for society.

This report is the Company’s “Environmental, Social and Governance
Report” (hereinafter referred to as the “Report”). Its contents
were prepared in accordance with the Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG Guide”) in Appendix 27 of
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and are in compliance
with all relevant regulations. The scope of this Report covers the
major production and operational activities of the Company in
China, and the reporting period is in line with the 2019 financial
year. The Report’s purpose is to summarise the environmental,
social and governance (ESG) performance of China Foods in 2019,
and respond to the concerns of various stakeholders.

The Company understands that the standard of its ESG
management and performance is an important factor in achieving
its strategic sustainable development objectives. We hope that the
Report will elicit constructive suggestions from our stakeholders to
further enhance the Company’s management and performance in
relevant ESG areas. Please send your feedback on the Report by
e-mail to cbl@hqg.cofcoko.com.

CHINA FOODS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2019
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ESG MANAGEMENT SYSTEM

1.1 ESG philosophy and management structure

As one of professional platforms directly under COFCO
Corporation (hereinafter referred to as “COFCO”), China
Foods adheres to the former’s philosophy of “loyalty to
national policies and making people’s lives better”. We
strive to balance economic and social benefit toward the
sustainable development of the Company, and integrate
green concepts into our corporate development
strategy. By pursuing the sustainable development of
enterprise and society, economy and environment,
we also promote the low-carbon economy and explore
methods of reducing energy consumption, pollution
and emissions in our operations. In all our activities
and routine operations, we consistently follow the basic
principle of “preserving energy resources and reducing
pollutant emissions”.
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1. ESG MANAGEMENT SYSTEM (continued)

1.1 ESG philosophy and management structure (continued)
To help realise the strategic vision of China Foods’
sustainable development, the Company established
an ESG Work Leading Group headed by the board
of director and operated with the participation of
management as well as relevant functional departments.
In 2019, the Company continued to improve and
make innovations to its ESG management system,
actively optimised its ESG management measures,
and effectively enhanced its ability to uphold its social
responsibilities.

Corporate
Office

WAE
Public Relation and
Affairs Department

DNHEEF
BB

P ESG Work
Téghﬂg}&'} Leading Group under
Department China Foods

4 ERATED TERM
ESGI{FEE/NE

Quality,
Environmental
Protection and
Safety Department
HEEZ®
BRI Procurement
Department

EREB AR

CHINA FOODS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2019

e

1.

Strategy

ESGEHERBZ (&)

1.1 ESGESHEELEE (E)
BTERPRRMMNAIFERRE
BESFESR AQRK TEES
EE BREEAT  SHEEHE
ZRPI 2 EAMESG LIESEE /M -
20194 * AATFIESGERERT
HEa¥  TRAaRENER
EREamIESI T - BIRE e &
BWESGEIRIEE - BRUIRFATE
BEEITRES -

Department

B BE AR

Human
Resources

Department

ANEIREB

Disciplinary

Committee
(0]{1




ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT %% « #t &8 R VA&

1. ESG MANAGEMENT SYSTEM (continued) 1. ESGEERZR (&)

1.2 Stakeholder communications and responses 1.2 FREEE S BB E
Creating shared values with stakeholders is a core RNEAEAAELXZEERR
theme of the Company’s mechanism for implementing Aﬂﬁ’\]ﬁ&@fﬂ%%‘ﬁ%b\%%z
responsibility. While developing our business and — o RAREERBFEE - &l
creating value for the community, we also actively EMEEENRR - EREBRE
identify our stakeholders and maintain a good AR =AERE T - WiBBRZRIERN
relationship with them. A variety of communication BB N 2R AR T SRS
channels enable the Company to stay fully abreast RIFEE - BT BRI K
of their demands and concerns. Continuous two-way BREFY) - EA BB RFRD
communication with stakeholders is essential for the HER - EAAREHETHRES
Company to comprehensively understand its social Mg - mASTE R
impact, fulfil its social responsibilities, and meet the THIEEMR  BFEMTEBS B
expectations of involved parties. Our key stakeholders FFEEA - HMEAEERN =
include governmental and regulatory bodies, investors/ RS B1E - BUT R ESE A
shareholders, employees, consumers, media, suppliers, WEANIRR BT - HBE -
distributors, universities and colleges/research HEs . R KR B
institutions, and proximate communities. B « BigttRE -

Stakeholder Description Methods of Communication
Flz= BT AR A BEAN

Governmental and
regulatory bodies

BRREEHRE

Departments of Food, Taxation,
Environment and Safely, etc, direct
management and regulatory institutions
with authority to exercise national or
local laws and regulations (such as
local governments)

B~ B - RR - R2FEM - #5
BT B BBIR b T AR ER T
R EZEENEBHE

Important meetings, policy consultations,
case reports, institutional visits,
official correspondence, information
disclosures, etc

BEAEH  BURAH  BRER - KB
ER - QANAER - EEEES

Investors/shareholders

Natural persons/institutions holding
certain shares of China Foods

General meetings, corporate interim
and annual reports, announcements,
roadshows, etc

BREANBRE FETBERA—EMNEHNEAA HIE BREAE CEPREFR 2F K
=
Employees Persons who have entered into labour Employee satisfaction surveys, employee
contracts with the Group and are discussions, employee activities,
serving the Group employee training, employee
handbooks, corporate internal
publications, etc
BT BALEZSHER - RENAER BIWEEHRSES BIEHK  BIE
BAE g BT ETFM  EAW
SlkE
Euuﬁﬁﬁ
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1. ESG MANAGEMENT SYSTEM (continued)

1.2 Stakeholder communications and responses (continued)

1. ESGEEEZR (#)
1.2 FI3AE6 8B R ()

Stakeholder Description Methods of Communication
FEEE S izl BEAR
Consumers People who purchase and consume the Customer service hotline, factory tours,
Group’s products etc
HEE BEMHEAREEMRNER BRER - THR2BSE
Media Newspapers, television stations, websites ~ Corporate operation interviews, corporate
and others culture promotions, press conferences,
special activities, etc
e Wit BRE PSS RAAENEE  CELETH CEUEEE - HEH
e FEEBIDHE
Suppliers Enterprises, shops or individual Supplier inspections, open tender
businesses who supply raw materials meetings, strategic cooperation
for production and office supplies to negotiations, exchange visits, etc
the Group
e MASEHRELEERMEBARREN HERZER ARERESE  8Ka

% - mwkEREs

ERH - RIRESHF

Distributors

REEF

Enterprises, shops or individual
businesses who conduct the legitimate
business of all brand products under
the Group

BAEEAREBE TS REERE
¥ - rshskERER P

Product promotions, industry research,
cooperative negotiations, customer
meetings, etc

EmIEE - TR - SERH

=
@ﬁﬁ%

Proximate communities

AEHE

The public and communities at places of
operation

BEMEMMR  HEAR

Public welfare activities, community
activities, voluntary activities, social
support projects, etc

N mE) « fHREE) - EEEED - 4
BEXIRFERS

Universities and research
institutions

BB H#E

CHINA FOODS LIMITED
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Universities, colleges and research
institutions which have established
cooperative relationship with the Group

EAREEET A ERERNAE -
R &

Provision of internship opportunities,
corporate recruitment, staff training,
seminars, academic exchanges and
research cooperation projects, etc

REEEHE  SETRERE B1E
& - Mg - BWNRRREEEE
=i

4



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT %% « #t &8 R VA&

1. ESG MANAGEMENT SYSTEM (continued) 1. ESGEEEZA (&)
1.2 Stakeholder communications and responses (continued) 1.2 FREEE S EBEEE FE ()

Relatively important issues Key issues
HHEERRE EEEE

® 12 ® 20
® 28 ® 19
© 10011 2m® 26 ® 31
®14 o1 38 ©32
6 ©15040037 022
o7 o3 S%eas ® 39
®3 ° 34 ® 16

® 41 ® 20

® 40
® 25 o 18 ® 23
°2 ©13 ©35

® 21 ©3 ©30

© 24

External assessment (Impact on stakeholders)
SEBREME (BRRMEBFHNEE)
[ ]

BTrEERE HEEERE
Less important issues Relatively important issues
AL (HEBNEE)

Internal assessment
(Impact on husiness)

REEESGEBAEZ AT B
Material Assessment Matrix of the Group’s ESG Issues'

Through actively communicating with stakeholders and by RBMAEF AR EEEEFED - 7
understanding their concerns and expectations, the Group identified MR ES R EMEE - REEHA T
the focus for its 2019 ESG initiatives and Report, mainly concerning 2019F ZESGTTENV MR EMES - TBRE

key issues such as emissions, resource usage, employee rights, ey - ERFER - E1HER EmAE -

product responsibility, supply chain management, anti-corruption HEERER  RESMERIEEFESGHER

and community investment. SRR ©

1 Materiality Assessment Matrix of the Group’s ESG Issues: ESG issue number 1 AEBESGHBEZ T EER  BPESGHERT
corresponds to the HKEX ESG reporting guide (see the HKEX ESG Guide Index ERE A FTESGHR S 15 SR FE (2 RANTRE M 8% 2 [ 76
Table in the Appendix to the Report). RATESGIES|R5| &) °

FERREMRDT
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ENVIRONMENTAL RESPONSIBILITY

China Foods advocates the sustainable development concept
of low-carbon environmental protection, and complies with
national and local environmental laws and regulations such
as the Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic
of China (P EARLMEIRIBREL)), Law of the
People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and Control of
Atmospheric Pollution (R #E A R EFMBE K RFEPTAED),
Law of the People’s Republic of China on Prevention and
Control of Water Pollution ({F 2 A R A FIEIK 5 2F7787E)),
Law of the People’s Republic of China on Prevention and
Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste ({FFZE A
HANEE §ERE Y5 L IRIEA)E)) and Law of the People’s
Republic of China on Environmental Impact Assessment
((REAREMBIREZEFI(EE)). On the basis of
improving its own environmental management system, the
Company continuously explores viable new energy-saving
and emissions-reducing technologies and techniques for its
operational processes and strives to reduce the environmental
impact of its activities. According to its environmental
compliance assessment, no significant violations occurred in
the environmental management of China Foods in 2019.

2.1 Environmental management system

To further enhance China Foods’ standard of
environmental management, the Company encourages
subordinate production units to operate their own
environmental management systems with reference to
the ISO 14001 standard. By the end of 2019, all 19
bottling plants under the Company had established
such ISO 14001 environmental management systems,
and all had been accredited by certification companies
designated by The Coca-Cola Company.

CHINA FOODS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2019
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2. ENVIRONMENTAL RESPONSIBILITY 2. REEFEE)
(continued)
2.1 Environmental management system (continued) 2.1 REEERZARGE

The Company assumes responsibility for environmental
protection in accordance with the Construction Plan of
Ecological Sustainable Development System of COFCO
(2020-2022) (COFCO Zong Zi [2020] No. 65)({F1&
5B A AR R B B R RN R AR 81(2020-20224F) )
#8487 [2020165%%)) and the Notice on Strengthening
Environmental Protection Work (COFCO Zong Zi [2016]
No.112) (KER IR IRIFRETIERNEA) (PRE
F[201611125%)) issued by COFCO. The Company
applies substantial effort to control pollution to meet
the emissions standards. Compliance management is
reinforced to further reduce environmental protection-
related risks. Supervision of environmental protections
was strengthened to establish an effective long-term
mechanism. Meanwhile, China Foods enhanced
employee awareness of environmental protection and
the low-carbon sustainable development concept
through dedicated training content.

e
T

Management
0000

Environmental

Compliance
Assessment

EREES  AQBIEBRTIE
EE(PREEESRAFEER
RFERFE (2020-20224) )
(R84 F[20201655%) K (B
INBIRBRETERRBE) (b
B4 F[2016]112%%) B - &7
HIRIRET © BIBRFEAN R
MUSRE - HAREZHEN ; 58
LERER - HERRRR N
RIRIRESE - B RS - [
B PR MEES TIRIFIRE
BB AR - STEIRIBR
EXEHEARAEINE - 1
B I/ BREREPRCEIIRR
M REEREED -

System
Enforcement

B
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Environmental
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2. ENVIRONMENTAL RESPONSIBILITY
(continued)
2.2 Total emissions and consumption

In 2019, the Group’s production volume growth rate
was 5%. Emissions mainly comprised of wastewater,
with total emissions of approximately 2,550,000 tonnes,
representing an increase of 1.3% compared with that
of the previous year. Total greenhouse gas emissions
was 24,000 tonnes, representing an increase of 4.3%
compared with that of the previous year. Due to the
centralised scrapping of forklift batteries in 2019, 144.32
tonnes of hazardous waste was produced, representing
an increase of 57% compared to year 2018. Total
non-hazardous waste produced was 5,708.45 tonnes,
representing a decrease of 29.8% compared with that
of the previous year, mainly due to a 20% decrease in
solid waste generation. Total energy consumption of
standard coal was approximately 47,300 tonnes. The
energy consumption per unit of product was 7.89 grams
of standard coal/litre of beverage. Water consumption
was approximately 9,500,000 tonnes, representing an
increase of 6.1% compared with that of the previous
year. Water consumption per unit of product was 1.49
litres/litre of beverage, representing an increase of 1.3%
compared with that of the previous year. Total amount
of packaging materials used in finished products was
approximately 245,200 tonnes, representing a decrease
of 2.3% compared with that of the previous year.

CHINA FOODS LIMITED
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2. ENVIRONMENTAL RESPONSIBILITY
(continued)
2.3 Emissions control

China Foods has thoroughly implemented the “Three
Simultaneities” management system for environmental
protection (GRIF/RE[ =R ]HZ). This means that
installations for preventing and controlling pollution
at construction projects must be designed, built and
commissioned together with the principal part of the
project, and that the Company carries out full-cycle
management from the stages of design and construction
to operation on all projects. At the project design
stage, we identify the emissions and environmental
impacts that will potentially arise from the construction
and operational phases and propose corresponding
measures for prevention and mitigation. In 2019, we
strengthened the environmental supervision of the
construction stage of seven projects. Professional
firms — including a design institute — were engaged to
execute project design and planning, and construction
work was carried out according to all relevant safety,
environmental protection, occupational sanitary and
health regulations and policies of the People’s Republic
of China. Professional members of our project teams
followed up and controlled the subsequent construction
process. This enabled us to concurrently design and
construct projects and put them into use effectively,
minimising the impact of construction activities on the
surrounding environment. After a project has entered
into operation, we strictly enforce the Company’s
environmental management systems and regulations
to ensure that the relevant pollution control and
environmental protection measures are implemented
effectively.

2.

RERE (@
2.3 HHiR

FERMEREERREREN =
ER]EEHIE - WAEEB %
A TR RS SR EETT
2 FHER - HEREERRE
RN T FE L PR ASEE RIS
BN R BERIRIETE - 18
AR FERS SRR I FE e 5 2019
F7ME18 B i T2 R NRIR
BEBTIE  BEENRAIER
ETBTi#EfTIE B M RET - RE -
RERNBEBLE - RIR - B
BERBREMRTE - BURETTHE
T-RABEBHEEEEABETT
REFNIEE o YIEMEB) T RIRFHR
i FRET - RRERAFER -
i LE B E EE IR BRI ER
&K HE R ABEREBRIEH
ARAISERRERHEFR
TE v RS RAEMIRIEIR
EEEEREEW A BUET °
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2. ENVIRONMENTAL RESPONSIBILITY
(continued)
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2.3 Emissions control (continued)

The Company adheres to principles of reduction,
recycling and minimal harm in its management of solid
waste. Our plants prioritise the procurement of materials
which generate less solid waste, reduce solid waste at
source through precision management of the operational
process. The plants classify solid waste into ‘general’
and ‘hazardous’ waste according to its characteristics. In
2019, a total of 1,762 tonnes of recyclable solid waste
(such as waste paper and scrap metal) were recycled,
realizing the recycling of solid waste. Hazardous
waste was managed in strict compliance with national
regulations. In 2019, all hazardous waste generated by
our plants was handed over to qualified third parties for
disposal, thus achieving the elimination of hazard.

In 2019, plants under the Company provided feedback
based on the environmental inspection. The Company
subsequently rectified all outstanding environmental
protection issues within the requirements of the
environmental protection department and in combination
with the review findings and environment assessment
of The Coca-Cola Company and COFCO. These focused
on on-site management, 5S, on-site health, and other
risks with the potential to adversely affect environmental
protections or stability of operations. The environmental
risks of all plants are currently under control.

The Group also used its intranet to collect, summarise
and analyse environmental performance indicator
data from each subordinate branch/subsidiary to
further strengthen the tracking and monitoring of the
Company’s environmental performance, and based
on this, formulated improvement plans and future
development targets.

CHINA FOODS LIMITED
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2. ENVIRONMENTAL RESPONSIBILITY 2. RESEFE
(continued)
2.4 Saving energy 2.4 HigEpR3E

China Foods continuously explores new measures and
technologies to enable it to save energy and resources
during production and operation. It has accordingly
developed energy, water and resource management
and operating procedures such as the Energy Saving
Management System ((EigEFEFEEEH|Z)). In day-
to-day operations, in accordance with the Measures for
the Management of Energy Performance Assessment
(CRERE B EBIEE)), production management
departments issue energy consumption targets to
subordinate production units on a regular basis
(monthly, quarterly, semi-annual or annual), and the
production units report their energy consumption data
through the intranet system. Management departments
assess each department’s completion of their targets
based on these data. For units failing to attain their
targets, the management departments will arrange
for responsible employees to analyse the causes and

formulate improvement plans.

Energy saving system enforcement
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Implementation of

Energy saving planning energy saving projects
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2. ENVIRONMENTAL RESPONSIBILITY 2. RIBEFE)
(continued)
2.4 Saving energy (continued) 2.4 HigepR3E ()
In 2019, with the aim to continue advance its energy- BEE ENBe AI7KIE B BT BT -
and water-saving projects, the Group executed energy- 20195 - PRI R MERFRE
saving and environmental protection projects which BEIRRIBEBUE - BUETHBE &
resulted in savings of approximately 140 tonnes of ENBE 2 ITIEM 414008 - FikE
standard coal and more than 10,000 tonnes of water. In 18 8ME - 20194F - FEEBRT
2019, China Foods’ main energy-saving projects were as ZETREPRFERDILOT
follows:
Total investment Energy savings
wRE EigEE
No. Plant Project (RMB10 thousand) (tonnes of standard coal)
B IR HEER Bx MR
1 Jinan Rooftop Photovoltaic Power Generation Project Invested by third parties 33.71
(BIEHXARZEFEEA)
i EIEXREEIEE B=FKE
2 Beijing Replacement of Energy-saving Motor Projects 77.96 46.68
(BREhgeERIER)
Big FHRENAEEHIE B
3 Beijing Air Energy of Tank Heater Project 40 30.89
(R RALIEE)
Big IREER T RAL IR E
4 Beijing Winter Natural Cooling Project 14.86 24.5
(BZEBARAEE)
JER KERRAEE
5 Dalian Bottle Blowing Machine Cooling Water 48.75 495
Renovation Project (/% AKEETE B )
RiE W2 Ak BGEIE B
Total 181.57 140.73
&5

6 4 CHINA FOODS LIMITED
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2. ENVIRONMENTAL RESPONSIBILITY 2. RIBEMFGE)
(continued)
2.4 Saving energy (continued) 2.4 HigepRFE ()
In 2019, China Foods’ main water-saving projects were 2019%F - FRHARMEBEKE
as follows: T
Total investment Water savings
BRE EikE
No. Plant Project (RMB 10 thousand) (tonnes)
FH IR HE AR B L]
1 Shandong  Syrup Workshop CIP Flushing Water Recovery ~ System improvement, Nil 1,536
Project (FE#ZRCIP K BB B )
HLE TEEERCIP K E A B RENE - TRE
2 Shandong Double Waterline Water Supply RO System System improvement, Nil 1,200
Linkage Project (B7K 4R #KROZR 5
BEIIER)
HE EIKGUMKROR S ENE B s - TRE
3 Shanxi Water Treatment 2 # 3 # Activated Carbon 61.3 4,500
Canister Renewal Project ZK R 2#3#/% I
RIEEFIER)
i) IR B IR 2H3#E 1 R R 5B 18 B
4 Shanxi Concentrated Water Reverse Osmosis System 52.5 3,900
Renewal Project (/KR ZBE RS E #TEE)
i) KR 2HE R EFIE B
Total 113.8 11,136
a5t

In 2019, the plants under China Foods achieved
outstanding results with their measures to save energy
and reduce emissions and obtained several awards
and recognitions for such, including 18 plants of
which earned the title of ‘outstanding enterprise in
the beverage industry’ for water and energy saving.
The Group also applied energy-saving and emissions-
reducing concepts to the construction of new plants.
In 2019, the COFCO Coca-Cola Heilongjiang plant was
recognised as a “Green Factory”, the Jilin and Xi'an
plants were recognised as “advanced units for saving
water”, the Jinan plant was additionally recognised
as a “Jinan environmental education base”, and
the Chongging plant was named as an “Ecological
Civilisation Education Base in Chongging Liangjiang
New Area”.

2019 - ARG TEB LK
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RETIE RS © 20194 -
FlREAT O AT BT HES T
[BERE&E IR B - S
BT [HMA LKL
B - ALRER T [ALmEn
KSR - EERES
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3. EMPLOYEE CARE

The Company believes in “relying on trust, emphasising
performance, people-orientated, and creating win-win
situations” and is committed to providing fair and open
employment opportunities for those who meet its recruitment
conditions. We also strive to create favourable conditions for
career development, with opportunities for university and
college graduates, and aim to attract and nurture more talent
in the food industry.

3.1 Employment and employee benefits

We firmly believe that talent is the Company’s most
valuable asset and the basis for its sustainable
development. We fully comply with laws and regulations
on employment and employee rights, such as the
Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China
(pEARAMBELE)ER)E)), Social Insurance Law
(GE&RKB3%)), Juvenile Protection Act (RS AR
#5%)), Female Workers' Labour Protection Regulations
(LB T BREMRTE)), Measures for Paid Annual
Leave (KB FH FIRBR#1/%)) and the Minimum Wage
Regulations ((&KE L& FE)). The Company has
established comprehensive policies and systems for
employee recruitment, labour contracts, remuneration
and benefits, attendance management, training and
development, performance appraisal, disciplinary
policies, protection of employee interests, etc, in order
to protect the basic interests of employees, eliminate
discrimination by nationality, age and gender, etc, and
prohibit the employment of child labour and any form of
forced labour.

During the employee recruitment process, the human
resources department confirms the age and identity of
candidates through identity verification and qualification
checks, and enters successful candidates into the
human resources information management system,
which is maintained regularly. All employees of the
Group legally enter into labour contracts with their
respective members of the Group according to the laws,
and the Group make contribution to social insurance
and housing funds for employees in accordance with
law.

CHINA FOODS LIMITED
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3. EMPLOYEE CARE (continued)

3.1

3.2

Employment and employee benefits (continued)

To regulate employee working hours, the Company has put
into place systems such as attendance/leave management
regulations, and approves of special working hours only
in accordance with law. Employee working hours are
managed by the human resources department. If an
abnormal situation is discovered, the human resources
department will immediately communicate a warning to
the person in charge, and also arrange leave or overtime
payments for the affected employee(s).

The Company has also compiled a Staff Handbook
((EITFM)) to give employees a comprehensive
insight to corporate culture and values, the human
resources management system, employee benefits and
rights, employee assessment criteria, and other matters.
The Group has established a staff communication and
complaint mechanisms to ensure that employees can
express their concerns and opinions through secure
channels.

As of the end of December 2019, the Group’s total
number of employees was 19,681, and no significant
violations of relevant labour laws and regulations had
occurred.

Employee development and training

In keeping with its desire to “create a highly regarded
professional team”, the Company provides employees
with a solid career development platform and a
comprehensive training system and has formulated
management systems and regulations such as the
Training and Management System ((SZ3IEIEHIE) ),
Training System ({53188 %)) and Career Development
System (CBREAEZEEEE X)), The human resources
department is responsible for the formulation and
implementation of annual training plans. The human
resources department of each region/plant is also
responsible for cooperating with the human resources
department at headquarters to implement the Company’s
training programmes, formulate training plans for its
region/plant, and manage the relevant training records.
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3. EMPLOYEE CARE (continued)

3.2 Employee development and training (continued)

The Group’s employee training mainly includes:

New employees trainings:

- orientation training, including centralised training
organised by the Company and professional
training organised by various departments;

General skills trainings:
- Training to improve efficiency and professional
skills of employees;

Professional skills trainings:

- Training to enhance professional skills, including
technical and research and development-based
training; and

Leadership trainings:
- Training to enhance leadership ability of
management staff of the Company.

The Group’s training is broadly categorised as either
internal or external, and includes the internal training of
COFCO and the Group, the training provided by trainers
externally engaged for employees, and arrangements
for employee participation in external open classes.
As of the end of 2019, the Group had provided
employees with a total of 868,593 hours of training,
with a cumulative training per person of 46 hours.
Classroom training accounted for 86% of total training
hours and online training for 14%. By training type,
new employee training accounted for 9%, general skills
training accounted for 21%, professional skills training
accounted for 65%, and leadership training accounted
for 5%.

The Group has also built a platform for internal talent
flow, launched internal open recruitment, promoted
a reasonable talent flow, and provided abundant
opportunities for staff members’ career development.

CHINA FOODS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2019
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3. EMPLOYEE CARE (continued)
3.3 Occupational health and safety

The Company strives to create a safe and healthy
working environment for all employees, and abides by all
national and local occupational health and safety laws
and regulations including the Labour Law of the People’
Republic of China (& AR HEMBILH)E) ), the Law
of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and
Control of Occupational Diseases ({1 EE A B 3 A0 E7 B
¥EB8°%)) and the Law of the People’s Republic
of China on Work Safety ((E AR MBI % 2 4
7%)). The Group has emplaced occupational health and
safety management systems including Safety Production
and Occupational Hygiene Management Regulations,
Measures for Safety Management of Dangerous
Operations, and Measures for the Management of Safety
Production and Treatment for Accidents, as well as
operational safety procedures. The Company continues
to expand and refine its occupational health and safety
management systems in its subsidiaries/plants in order
to raise the Group’s standard. As of the end of 2019, 19
production units had passed OHSAS 18001 certification
for occupational health and safety management
systems.

In terms of implementation of specific measures,
the Company requires its subordinate plants to
establish quality, environmental protection and safety
departments, and to position safety and environmental
protection specialists responsible for plant safety
and the environmental protection management.
Furthermore, each plant formulated a compliance list on
EHS (environment, health and safety) regulations which
is renewed and maintained by the aforementioned
specialists. The plants identify dangerous operational
positions and potential hazards, provide their operators
with personal protective equipment such as goggles,
helmets, safety gloves and safety shoes, implement
strict approval and supervision procedures for special
operations, and provide appropriate protection measures
such as fencing or lifelines where working at height is
required.
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3. EMPLOYEE CARE (continued)

3.3 Occupational health and safety (continued)
Furthermore, the Group arranges annual body check
for all employees as well as annual occupational health
check-ups for employees engaged in certain types of
work. In accordance with the relevant requirements, the
Group retains employee medical records for subsequent
follow-ups.

As of the end of 2019, a total of 828 working days were
lost in 2019 due to work-related injuries.

4. PRODUCT LIABILITY

China Foods attaches great importance to quality assurance
in its mission of “offering modern beverages and creating
lasting value”. It strives above all to provide consumers with
consistently satisfying, safe products. The Group wholly
abides by national, regional and industry laws and regulations
relevant to product liability, including the Food Safety Law
of the People’s Republic of China({(FFEAREMEERL
Z3%)), the Product Quality Law of the People’s Republic of
China({(PEARKEMBEREE)E)), the Measures for the
Administration of Food Production Licenses (& &4 & #F A
EIPA)) and the Law of the People’s Republic of China on
Protection of Consumer Rights and Interests ({F1 2 A R A1
BUHEEERREER)).

4.1 Food quality and safety

China Foods maintains a corporate culture of quality
and safety, and further enhances its product quality and
safety management. The Company’s quality and safety
system certifications have been implemented at factory
level for nine consecutive years, as reviewed by a third-
party professional certification organisation. As of the
end of 2019, all subordinate production enterprises
of the Company had obtained FSSC 22000 and ISO
9001 certifications. In terms of management systems,
in recent years COFCO Coca-Cola has driven the full
implementation of the Consolidated Emergency Plan for
Food Safety Issues ((Bm&Z 2SR ERESTER)),
the Measures for Quality and Safety Management of
Suppliers Kt EREEZ 2B IEPE)), Food Safety
Management Regulations ((E@REZ 2B IERT)),
Measures for Food Additive Management ({E @70
B EIEHH%)), Measures for Food Recall Management
(RBBEEEW L)) and other product quality
inspection-related systems involving subordinate
enterprises.

CHINA FOODS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2019
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4. PRODUCT LIABILITY (continued)
4.1 Food quality and safety (continued)

Product quality inspection

While the Company’s subordinate production units
routinely conduct production inspections of raw
and semi-finished materials and finished products,
COFCO Coca-Cola also frequently engaged external
qualified third-party institutions to conduct regular
inspections for certain nationally-required standards.
Supplementary inspection of other standards is carried
out by production unit laboratories. At the beginning
of each year, COFCO Coca-Cola’s Quality, Safety and
Environmental Protection Department formulates a
supervision and sample testing plan and delivers to
each plant. The plants subsequently conduct quarterly
sampling inspections on finished and semi-finished
products, raw materials, packaging materials, etc. In
2019, a total of 30,814 product batches passed the
first self-inspection test, with a qualification rate of
100%. The plants engaged external qualified third-
party institutions to inspect 1,080 batches of self-tested
products, for which the qualification rate was again
100%.
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4. PRODUCT LIABILITY (continued)
4.1 Food quality and safety (continued)

Building special food safety capacities

Taking into consideration the risks inherent to its
upstream, downstream and manufacturing phases,
while emphasising the construction of the HACCP
management system for traditional manufacturing
process, the Company also extended its focus toward its
suppliers and new product development, and backward
to the customer service system.

All Company production plants have installed high
definition cameras to monitor all areas of food safety
risk. Each plant also employs responsible persons to
determine the frequency of such monitoring. For issues
revealed by video surveillance, supervised corrective
action is taken to ensure that such risks are brought
fully under control.

Quialified third-party inspection organisations were also
engaged to perform microbiological competence tests
on plant laboratories. All inspected plants passed the
latest round of these tests.

Prevention and emergency mechanism for food safety
issues

China Foods maintains a system of emergency response
plans for food safety incidents in its plants, and
organises drills on a regular basis. The Company also
established a preventive early warning mechanism for
significant hidden dangers in areas such as product
quality and microbial detection. The mechanism
has achieved remarkable results, reaching a 100%
qualification rate in sample testing. Meanwhile, the
Company also continues to tackle day-to-day quality
and safety issues (AEmEE2ME)) and has
accordingly used risk identification and assessment to
prepare a risk list and develop commensurate control
measures. This approach enabled the measures to
control significant risks from within the normal dynamic
control process. In 2019, there were no recalls of sold
or delivered products from the Group due to safety or
health reasons.

CHINA FOODS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2019
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4. EmREE#E)
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4. PRODUCT LIABILITY (continued)

4.2 Customer service system

To provide customers with satisfying and assured quality
products is our principle. The Company has established
a customer service centre with an information service
system for recording and processing information such as
customer complaints, enquiries and recommendations.
The Company’s consumer complaint handling
procedures were also developed specifically to receive
and respond to complaints with an open mind, careful
investigation, positive feedback and follow-up action in
order to address requests from consumers as much as
possible.

In 2019, more than 201,000 calls were received by the
customer service centre, and the excellent performance
of our staff and the 24-hours customer service
center enables us to maintain a good relationship
with our customers and further enhance our service
reputation. In 2019, we centralised the management
of telephone work to achieve an efficient standardised
quality of service. We actively sought multichannel
communications using platforms such as WeChat
customer service to make contact with and provide
quick service to customers.

The customer service centre is committed to following
up oral complaints within 24 hours and confirming
written complaints within 48 hours. Customer service
staff at each sales region assign great importance to
every case and make every effort to ensure customer
satisfaction. In 2019, the completion rate for handling
consumer complaints reached 98%, and customer
satisfaction was maintained at a high level.

To protect customer information, all sales orders and
deliveries are completed in the Group’s SAP system.
Only authorised personnel may access the information
or maintain the system in order to protect the
information and privacy of customers effectively.
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4. PRODUCT LIABILITY (continued)

4.3 Advertising, marketing and brand management
The Group fully abides by laws and regulations
concerning advertising and marketing, including the
Advertisement Law of the People’s Republic of China
(PEARKEMBIESA)) and COFCO's own
regulations concerning these matters. Through COFCO,
the Company selects advertising and media vendors
which meet its unified selection standards, and all
advertisements are approved by the Company’s legal
department in view of controlling risk. The Company has
also formulated strict assessment standards pertaining
to the use of COFCO and Group trademarks in marketing
and media. After a stringent review of the suitability of
the trademarks’ proposed use, the Company makes a
determination and reports to COFCO for approval.

In 2019, the Group committed no violations of laws and
regulations relevant to advertising and marketing.

SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

Various assessment instruments are used to ensure the
quality of raw and packaging materials purchased by the
Group. A review of suppliers’ social responsibility conducted
by independent third parties is one of the basic elements of
on-site review. It aims at making comprehensive judgments
on suppliers’ environmental and social risks, including
compliance with relevant laws and regulations, possession
of appropriate permits, engagement of child labour, and
sufficient protection for workers. To facilitate this, the Group
and The Coca-Cola Company have jointly established a
comprehensive supplier evaluation mechanism. The Group
ceases its cooperation with any supplier who fails to meet
requirements, and require the said suppliers to rectify their
issues within a defined time period. Only when the rectification
is qualified will our cooperative relationship be resumed. For
suppliers that passed the review, we make regular return visits
to find and solve problems in a timely manner.

In order to ensure product quality and safety and to control
risk from its point of origin, we continue to strengthen our
supervision of our supply chain. The Company also works
with suppliers to build a green and sustainable supply
chain system, to continuously innovate, improve quality
and efficiency, and continuously improve its operational
management performance as well as that of its cooperative
partners.

CHINA FOODS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2019
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SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT (continued)
With The Coca-Cola Company, the Company has jointly
established a proven supplier information management
system, implemented whole process management from
supplier access verification, social responsibility audits, Coca-
Cola’s technical approval, regular audits and performance
evaluations. The Company conducts comprehensive and
regular evaluations of suppliers, and exercise the exit system
for suppliers who fail. After each assessment, we update
the supplier information management system and require
each unit to execute their purchases in accordance with the
supplier list.

The Group also strongly emphasises ethical behaviour and
contractual spirit among suppliers. Our supplier contracts
contain specific terms obliging both parties to prevent any
improper procurements in accordance with The Coca-Cola
Company’s Supplier Code of Business Conduct (7] O AJ£4 A
R ERRRITRRE)).

COFCO Coca-Cola beverage business suppliers, by region

Region Data for 2019 (Number)
Northeast 12
North China 27
Central China 4
East China 21
South China 28
Northwest 6
Southwest 14
Total 112
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ANTI-CORRUPTION

“Integrity” is a core value of China Foods, and the Company
maintains a zero tolerance stance toward professional and
business ethics violations. The Company fully abides by laws
and regulations such as the Criminal Law of the People’s
Republic of China (AR ZLMEIFIE)), the Law of the
People’s Republic of China Against Unfair Competition (&
EARANMBERTIEEBRF L)), the Interim Provisions
on Banning Commercial Bribery (B ZE | P8 S BRERTT
AREITIREY) and the Opinions on Issues concerning
the Application of Law in the Handling of Criminal Cases of
Commercial Bribery (CBRIIE X BB A SR ER AR
ZFRMEMNER)), and has implemented COFCO regulations
relevant to integrity discipline management.

The Company is constantly improving its internal anti-fraud
systems and strengthening its corresponding mission training.
The Company has implemented COFCO’s 14 Provisions on
COFCO Manager Professional Conduct (Revised Edition)
(P IEfEIE AR ZER T HIUE (BRTAR) ) ), which stipulate
that employees shall not “conduct business with relatives,
use their authorities to seek benefits for themselves and their
relatives and friends, obtain benefits from subsidiaries and
customers, and take any form of rebate”. Employees found to
be in violation are subject to disciplinary action according to
the severity of the act, until legal liability is pursued. The Close
Relatives Avoidance System of China Foods Limited ({FF B &
mAER AR EHBEEHIE)) and Rules Governing China
Foods Limited Staff Indiscipline Report Award (Trial) ({ B &
mABERARETIRLTARBREREEIEFIT))) were
formulated to encourage employees to report any observed
violation of laws, regulations, Company regulations and acts
which may damage the Company’s economic interests and
social reputation. Such reports can be made via channels
such as the special report line and mailbox.

The Company scrutinises and tightly manages all activities
connected with tendering and procurement. It has
implemented the Rules Governing Tender and Procurement
of COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages Limited (/& 7] O 7] 44k
BARARFIZREEIEIE)) to avoid non-compliance in
these areas.

In 2019, COFCO Coca-Cola received eight notices of concern
and all these cases were handled, with no major violations
being subsequently identified.

CHINA FOODS LIMITED
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COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

“Loyalty to national policies and making people’s lives better”
is the overall mission of COFCO and the motive behind Coca-
Cola China’s “We Care” sustainable development and public
welfare strategy. Through “We Care”, we provide a wide
range of high-quality beverages to the market whilst fulfilling
our role as a corporate citizen. The Group responds to the
needs of communities, makes contributions pertaining to
environmental protection, education, sports, community and
disaster relief, and encourages its employees to participate in
welfare activities in order to promote the mutual development
and progress of enterprise and society.

In 2019, we launched a series of social welfare activities
in various forms with a total of 19,151 participants. The
cumulative labour hours devoted were approximately 76,493
hours, and the capital invested was approximately RMB11.96
million.
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7. COMMUNITY INVESTMENT (continued)

1.

Targeted Poverty Alleviation: (continued)

Featured poverty alleviation: (continued)

In poverty-stricken Lintan County in Gansu Province, the
COFCO Coca-Cola Gansu Plant cooperated with local
women'’s federations to give local women training on
the traditional Tao embroidery “Jk&%” and help them to
increase family incomes.

In Urumgi, Xinjiang, the COFCO Coca-Cola Xinjiang
Plant, Redstone Fund and Urumgqi Real Estate Bureau
jointly opened Urumgi’s first public welfare Nang
pancake store, providing the venue, equipment and
other resources to help Nang-makers find jobs and
increase their incomes.

In Zaozhuang, Shandong, the sewing of spring chicken
is a local traditional festive handicraft, and people often
put it on children on the first day of spring, hoping
that they will grow up healthily during the coming year.
In 2019, the COFCO Coca-Cola Shandong Plant and
Zaozhuang Xiwangzhuang West Village Committee
provided poor families with folk craft training during the
farming off-season, and repurchased their hand-made
spring chicken dolls as promotional gifts for COFCO
Coca-Cola Shandong Plant retail sales. The income of
the less privileged families improved while promoting
traditional handicraft.

CHINA FOODS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2019
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7. COMMUNITY INVESTMENT (continued)

Representative Cases

Targeted Poverty Alleviation:

Fixed-point poverty alleviation:

In 2019, COFCO Coca-Cola implemented poverty
alleviation tasks assigned by the Group’s party
organisation. For the fourth consecutive year, a team
was engaged to carry out poverty alleviation tasks in
Shiqu County, Ganzizhou (located 4,500 metres above
sea level in Sichuan Province), participating in 12
property alleviation projects including plateau animal
husbandry dairy processing, agriculture, forestry science
and technology industry demonstration park and tourist
area development. With the support of COFCO Group,
COFCO Coca-Cola contributed RMB8,000,000 to
poverty alleviation projects in Shigqu County in 2019.
It purchased agricultural products of approximately
RMB2,034,300 in value, helped to sell approximately
RMB827,900 worth of agricultural products, and
trained 72 basic-level cadres and 23 technicians. As
of the year-end, we helped raise nine villages out of
poverty, benefiting 2,134 impoverished persons. The
excellent performance of Han Kun (§83g), one of the
Group’s poverty alleviation team members, led him to
be recognised as an “Outstanding Individual” in Shiqu
County in 2019.
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7. COMMUNITY INVESTMENT (continued)

1.

Targeted Poverty Alleviation: (continued)

Featured poverty alleviation:

In 2019, COFCO Coca-Cola launched featured alleviation
projects in 17 of the provinces in which it operates.
These were based on the individual characteristics of
each area and the brands, channels, public welfare
and other resources of its local bottling plants, with
the aim of helping to overcome poverty through skill-,
employment- and education-based methods. In 2019, a
total of 54 specific poverty alleviation activities was held
by COFCO Coca-Cola benefiting 56,273 persons, with
the projects directly yielding RMB161,450 in economic
benefits.

In the Liaoning Huayuankou area, the COFCO Coca-
Cola Liaoning Plant, the Huayuankou Economic
Zone Social Administration Bureau of Dalian City, the
Dalian Evening News and masters of paper-cutting, an
intangible cultural heritage, joined to help impoverished
women in rural areas to practise folk art and sell their
works through e-commerce channels. Sale proceeds
were donated back to the local paper-cutting intangible
cultural heritage protection base.

CHINA FOODS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2019
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7. COMMUNITY INVESTMENT (continued)

2,

Environmental protection projects:

World Without Waste:

In response to calls for a “Green China” and “Cities
without Waste”, as well as Coca-Cola’s own vision of
a “World Without Waste”, COFCO Coca-Cola carried
out public welfare environmental protection projects
such as waste classification education, bottle recycling
activities and RPET recycling derivatives exhibitions in
its operating areas, contributing to the ecological well-
being with practical actions. In 2019, the Group carried
out 85 “World Without Waste” environmental protection
activities with a total investment of RMB970,600.

COFCO Coca-Cola environmental volunteer actions:
COFCO Coca-Cola bottling plants carried out
environmental volunteer actions such as Earth Hour, tree
planting and beach cleaning in their respective operating
regions in response to the environmental protection
needs. While protecting communities environments,
we educated consumers on environmental protection
and cherish the beauty of our home through employee
behaviour and corporate communication. In 2019, the
Group invested RMB144,500 in voluntary environmental
projects.
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7. COMMUNITY INVESTMENT (continued)

3.

Education/Sport

Empowerment of youth:

COFCO Coca-Cola launched various youth
entrepreneurship, vocational training and social
practice projects for college students. These aimed
to help students realise their own value and enhance
their future competitiveness. In 2019, COFCO Coca-
Cola carried out 37 times of various youth training
programmes and engaged more than 8,700 students,
with a total investment of RMB407,600.

National sports promotion:

To implement the “Healthy China” initiative in 2019,
COFCO Coca-Cola lent its support to national fitness
exercises by organising environmental protection
charity runs, charity step donations and other activities
to promote the healthy exercise habit and positive
lifestyle. In 2019, 46 charity running activities were
held by COFCO Coca-Cola, with more than 64,370,000
participants.

CHINA FOODS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2019
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7. COMMUNITY INVESTMENT (continued)

3.

Education/Sport (continued)

Coca-Cola Mayor Cup Football Tournament:

In 2019, the COFCO Coca-Cola Shandong Plant
organised its 22nd consecutive annual Coca-Cola
Mayor Cup Football Tournament. The event attracted
more than 6,000 participants. It included the “Star of
Hope” summer camp organised in cooperation with the
Qingdao campus football association, which attracted
thousands of players from primary and secondary
schools in Shandong province.

Investment in such activities has been greatly reduced
last year, with funding of RMB966,742 on Safe School
Campus and RMB183,400 on the Flowers Blossom
project.

Caring for the community:

Water purification programme:

In Xinjiang, COFCO Coca-Cola was a participant a
“100 water purification units, 100 schools” (& & B )
programme initiated by China International Economic
and Technological Exchange Centre of the Ministry of
Commerce, Xinjiang Uygur Autonomous Region Poverty
Alleviation Office, Coca-Cola China and Shenzhen One
AMEES A ARES

). The project aims to provide children in remote local

Foundation Charity Foundation (%

schools and communities with safe drinking water. In
2019, a total of 170 water purification equipment sets
was donated to 167 primary and secondary schools in
14 counties and 37 towns in four regions of southern
Xinjiang, benefiting 78,000 teachers and students.
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7. COMMUNITY INVESTMENT (continued)

4,

Caring for the community: (continued)

520 Incentive Programme for Women:

The Coca-Cola 520 Programme is a global sustainable
development project to empower women and help
them realise their social value. COFCO Coca-Cola
bottling plants have participated in a variety of ways
and made use of different resources, including
providing comprehensive entrepreneurial guidance
and support to women who wish to start or run their
own business. Coca-Cola 520 Maternity Universities
were also launched in 10 operating regions to teach
female shop owners retail business skills through online
and offline courses. We also worked with Suning Store
to help female entrepreneurs understand new retail
development trends. In 2019, COFCO Coca-Cola carried
out 36 activities and benefited 65,071 people, with an
accumulated input of RMB209,590.

Community care:

Each bottling plant under COFCO Coca-Cola strives to
fulfil the genuine needs of the community through public
welfare projects such as blood donation, condolences
to special groups, and volunteer service to help build a
warm and harmonious society. In 2019, COFCO Coca-
Cola launched 160 community care activities with a total
investment of RMB523,034.

CHINA FOODS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2019
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7. COMMUNITY INVESTMENT (continued)

5.

Disaster relief
Clean Drinking Water in 24 Hours rescue mechanism:

COFCO Coca-Cola owned 19 bottling plants covering
81% of China and 51% of its population. In cases of
natural disaster, the plants’ strong marketing network
and logistical resources are harnessed to bring essentials
such as drinking water to where it is vitally needed. In
2019, COFCO Coca-Cola responded to the “Clean Water
in 24 Hours” rescue mechanism on 15 occasions,
providing more than 600,000 bottles of water to victims
and rescuers in disaster-stricken areas.
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APPENDIX: ESG GUIDELINES OF THE STOCK

B85 -

B R FTESGHE 5| & 55k

EXCHANGE
Contents covered in
Aspect No.  Attributes Description of Subject the Report
BEEE BEET SEEM Etip EIRENARBEE
Aspect Al:
Emissions 1 General Disclosure Information on: Yes
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to air and
greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and
land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous
waste.
[EHAL : — MR BERERRBZREHR - MARLAES BERES P
B RERYNEEER
(@) B R
(b) BFHEITABEAVENEBERKEOINER
2 KPIAL.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Yes
BRRAERIEIRALL BERIE SR S AR B R 2
3 KPI'A1.2 Greenhouse gas emissions in total (in tonnes) and, where Yes
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).
BIRERIERAL2 RERBAYNE UNEETE) R(NER)ZE GABERE b3
I - BIER M H)
4 KPI'A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where Yes
appropriate, intensity (eg. per unit of production volume, per
facility).
BIRETURIZALS FESAZEEYEE CAEEE) &k (ER) %E (MASE b3
BB - BERMEE) °
5 KPI Al.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where Yes
appropriate intensity (eg. per unit of production volume, per
facility).
BIRENIRIZALAL FrEEREEEYES CAEE) & (ER) ZE (N EE =
S8 - FEREEE) ©
6 KPI Al.5 Description of measures to mitigate emissions and results Yes
achieved.
BIRAERURIZALS AR BERE B R TR ARR o P
7 KPI Al1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are Yes
handled, reduction initiatives and results achieved.
BB IEIZALG HRERAEREEERDNGE  RIEEESRERAT =
BRE -
Aspect A2
Use of Resources 8 General Disclosure Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, Yes
water and other raw materials.
[EmA2 —RRE BRERER(BIEER « KREMERME) HECR - =z
ERERA
9 KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (eg. Yes
electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in ‘000s) and intensity (eg.
per unit of production volume, per facility).
BIRAERIETA2.1 RENE SO ER R,/ SEEERE - Reoh) 2572 P
FREFERE) REE (A GESEN - §ERETE) -
10 KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (eg. per unit of Yes
production volume, per facility).
BIRERIEETA2.2 BRKERFE (MASES B - BERME) o =

CHINA FOODS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2019
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APPENDIX: ESG GUIDELINES OF THE STOCK P&k : B FTESGIE 5| &5k

- ==
EXCHANGE (continued) (%)
Contents covered in
Aspect No.  Attributes Description of Subject the Report
BEEE BEET BEEM B FREABRDERE
11 KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and results Yes
achieved.
S A BUEIRA2.3 ML R(E AT B RFTEARER b3
12 KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water Yes
that is fit for purpose, water efficiency initiatives and results
achieved.
BB IRIRA2.4 SRUER R LA A AR - R RN E P
RFEHER
13 KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) Yes
and, if applicable, with reference to per unit produced.
BB IRIRA2.5 R RETREEMEMEE (UNEE) k(NER) BEEE P
fIfh & o
Aspect A3
The Environment and
Natural Resources 14 General Disclosure Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impact on the Yes
environment and natural resources.
[EmA3 — MR HIEEIT AHIRE AR B RENERZ BB P
RIERARER
15 KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of operation activities on Yes
the environment and natural resources and the actions taken
to manage them.
BRSRAERIEIRA3.L B EBEHIRERRARERNEAYEREKNERR P
BREHTE °
Aspect B1
Employment 16 General Disclosure Information on: Yes
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to compensation
and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours,
rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity,
anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.
[E®B1 — MR B RMRE  BEREA  TERH - RE - TE5H# =
= g il - RIBRAREtFBREFIA :
(@) B R
b) EFHETABEAZEZNEEEEIROINER
17 KPIB1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group and No
geographical region.
Mg EBUIEEB1.1 IR - BERE - FRAERKREIDHIESBE - £
18 KPIB1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical No
region.
PR IERIRIEBL.2 ZIER] - FRARIRMEE S HEBRKLLE o A
ERMmAERAT
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APPENDIX: ESG GUIDELINES OF THE STOCK

EXCHANGE (continued)

B85 -

(&)

B R FTESGHE 5| & 515k

Contents covered in

Aspect No.  Attributes Description of Subject the Report
BEEE BEREY BEEM E et ARERTRTEE
Aspect B2
Health and Safety 19 General Disclosure Information on: Yes
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to providing a
safe working environment and protecting employees from
occupational hazards.
[EEB2 — MR BRAREZ2 TR RRERESHEBEEEEN =
BREZS (@) BE: R
(b) BETFHETABBEAZENE@ERKBRIINER
20 KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities. No
BiRERIEEB2.1 A TERERME TR ABRLEL X o &
21 KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Yes
B IRAEIEIEB2.2 AIBELIERE - P
22 KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures Yes
adopted, how they are implemented and monitored.
BB RIEIEB2.3 I FTER AN R R BRER R 248 - A SRR TIREER % » I3
Aspect B3
Development and
Training 23 General Disclosure Policies on improving employee knowledge and skills for Yes
discharging duties at work. Description of training activities.
[EmEB3 —RRE BRRIHE B BT TEBE MBI MBUR © s P
BRI EE °
24 KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee No
category (eg. senior management, middle management).
BRRAERIEEB3.1 BEURIREESRN(NESREERE  PRERES EDHNT A
llEEEDL
25 KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender No
and employee category.
BRI AE RIE1RB3.2 RIUERIREEEGIES - BaEETRIINTHRE - A
Aspect B4
Labour Standards 26 General Disclosure Information on: Yes
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to preventing
child and forced labour.
[EmEB4 —RRE BRI IEE TR HI45 TH P
BT %A (@) BX: R
(b) BFHEITABEAVENE@ERKEOINER
27 KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to Yes
avoid child and forced labour.
BiRERIEEBAL R BB IR AR S E T RAHIBT - Z
28 KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when Yes
discovered.
BB RIE1RBA.2 HEERER SRR ERE BBRPIRREN S - P

CHINA FOODS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2019
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EXCHANGE (continued)
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Bitéx : B R FTESGIESI & 53k

Contents covered in

Aspect No.  Attributes Description of Subject the Report
2EEE BEET BEEM B FREABRDERE
Aspect B5
Supply Chain
Management 29 General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the Yes
supply chain.
[EHB5 — MR BB GEEBIR R & EBRBUR 2
HrEEER
30 KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Yes
BB RIEEBS.1 RRE SRR EREE - =
31 KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number Yes
of suppliers where the practices are being implemented, how
they are implemented and monitored.
BB IRIEB5.2 e RE AR EEAE - RERTARENNREEE I
B - URABERIMNBITREERE
Aspect B6
Product Responsibility 32 General Disclosure Information on: Yes
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to health and
safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating
to products and services provided and methods of
redress.
[EEB6 32 —REE BHREERNREORREZE BES  EERLEE P
EmER HIARFRAER :
(@) BE: Rk
(b) BETFHETABBEAZENE@ERRATINER -
33 KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls Yes
for safety and health reasons.
BRRAE R IE1RB6.1 BEYREREMBETFRALZ2 RREEHRMABKKN B DL P
34 KPI B6.2 Number of products and services related complaints received Yes
and how they are dealt with.
BB RIRIEB6.2 RN ER R RISHIREREE MR B )% o P
35 KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting Yes
intellectual property rights.
BB AUIE1RB6.3 fhiji B E RIS A E AR B MBI z
36 KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall Yes
procedures.
BRI IE1RB6.4 S 2T B RERBKIERF o P
37 KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, Yes
how they are implemented and monitored.
BB IRIEB6.5 HIEBESIRRE RILBER - LR TRERRE - z
FERBERAR

3R 2019
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APPENDIX: ESG GUIDELINES OF THE STOCK

EXCHANGE (continued)

(&)

Bitéx : B R FTESGIE5I & 53k

Contents covered in

Aspect No.  Attributes Description of Subject the Report
BEEE BRI BEEM Etp FRERNBRDERE
Aspect B7
Anti-corruption 38 General Disclosure Information on: Yes
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering.
[EmEB7 — MR BRI - B1R - BGFRARER 2
k&5 (@) B%: R
(b) BFHEITABEAVENEBERKEOINER
39 KPIB7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices Yes
brought against the issuer or its employees during the
reporting period and the outcomes of the cases.
Mg E BIEIEBRT.1 RERBAHETAS L EEREVEBENR S AR P
BB E RAFARER o
40 KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistleblowing Yes
procedures, how they are implemented and monitored.
BRI AE IR 1RBT.2 P EE I R RFEF IR TRER S P
Aspect B8
Community
Investment 41 General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to understand the needs Yes
of the communities where the issuer operates and to ensure
its activities take into consideration the communities interests.
[EEBRS — MR BHENR2ERTREENELEFENBREELRED =
HERE BZEHEFSABER o
42 KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (eg. education, environmental Yes
concerns, labour needs, health, culture, sport).
Mg 4E BIE1EB8.1 EIEREE (5 BRREEE  BIFK R#F X P
1t 8% -
43 KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (eg. money or time) to the focus area. Yes
B IRAEIEIEBS.2 EETHBEMPAER (NS ERRR) - P
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

China Foods Limited (the “Company” and together with its
subsidiaries, the “Group”) is committed to maintaining high
standards of corporate governance. The board of directors of the
Company (the “Board”) beliefs that good corporate governance
standards and practices are crucial to improving the efficiency and
performance of the Group and to safeguarding the interests of our
shareholders, investors, customers and staff.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on
the principles and code provisions (the “Code Provisions”) of the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix
14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).

The Company has applied the principles of the CG Code and
complied with all the Code Provisions throughout the year ended 31
December 2019 (the “year”).

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS
AND RELEVANT EMPLOYEES

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
contained in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of
conduct regarding directors’ securities transactions. The Company
has made specific enquiry of all directors of the Board (“Director(s))
regarding any non-compliance with the Model Code during the year,
all Directors confirmed that they had complied with the required
standards set out in the Model Code throughout the year.

The Company has also adopted a code for securities transactions
by relevant employees (the “Employees Trading Code”) based on
the Model Code concerning dealings by relevant employees in the
securities of the Company. Relevant employees who are likely to be
in possession of unpublished inside information of the Group are
required to comply with the Employees Trading Code in respect of
their dealings in the securities of the Company. The terms of the
Employees Trading Code are no less exacting than the required
standards set out in the Model Code. During the year, the Company
has not received any non-compliance report from any of such
employees.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Responsibilities of the Board

The Board, led by the chairman, is responsible for the leadership
and control of the Company, and be collectively responsible for
formulating the Company’s overall strategies and policies, reviewing
and monitoring financial and operating performance, reviewing the
effectiveness of risk management and internal control systems,
supervising and managing management’s performance of the
Company and approval of matters or transactions of a material
nature or those requiring disclosure under the Listing Rules.

The Board delegates the day-to-day management, administration
and operation of the Company and implementation of the strategies
and policies set by the Board to the management under the
leadership of the managing director.

CHAIRMAN AND MANAGING DIRECTOR

The roles of chairman and managing director are clearly defined
to ensure their respective independence. Set out below are the
chairman of the Board and the chief executive office (or managing
director, in the case of the Company) during the year and up to the
date of this report:

Exg

EZEMEE

EXemEFAE  AERERERAR
Al BIRT AR BRI LBR - HERE
RGN EERR - i RREIE R AEE
RGN - BEREEARREEEL
R URHEBRERE EHRRIZE T LA
KENEERRS -

EFeZthESALREEENEREE A
BEARAZBEER  fTRREETIE LA
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ITRRESRKE

TEREEQEENAEHBMARE -
HREZENELMN - UTREAFERNRE
EAREAHIENERTE T FE RITHAE
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Period Chairman Managing Director
A *E EERKE

Until 4 January 2019 Ma Jianping Luan Xiuju
F2019%1H4H BT BEH

From 4 January 2019 until 26 April 2019 Yu Xubo Luan Xiuju
20191 A48 £2019F4 A26H FhaE BEE

From 26 April 2019 until 1 January 2020 Chen Lang Luan Xiuju
201944 426 H £2020F1 A1H BREA BEH

From 1 January 2020 Chen Lang Qing Lijun
20201 H1H PR EA BIE
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The chairman of the Board is responsible for the leadership and
effective running of the Board, and ensuring all significant and key
issues are discussed and where required, resolved by the Board in
a timely manner.

The managing director of the Company is delegated with the
authority and responsibility to manage the businesses of the
Company in all aspects effectively, implement major strategies,
make day-to-day decision and coordinate overall business operation
and regularly report to the Board.

Composition of the Board

The Board has in its composition a balance of skills and experience
necessary for independent decision making and fulfilling its
business needs.

At present, the Board comprises eight Directors, namely, Mr. Chen
Lang as a non-executive Director and the chairman of the Board,
Mr. Qing Lijun as an executive Director and the managing Director,
Mr. Shen Peng as an executive Director, Ms. Xiao Jianping and Mr,
Qin Yelong as non-executive Directors, and Mr. Stephen Edward
Clark, Mr. Li Hung Kwan, Alfred and Mr. Mok Wai Bun, Ben as
independent non-executive Directors.

The Board members have no financial, business, family or other
material or relevant relationships with each other. The composition
of the Board has satisfied the requirements under Rules 3.1(1)
and (2) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules for the Board to have at
least three independent non-executive directors which represents
more than one-third of the Board, and at least one of them has
appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related
financial management expertise. The Company has received from
each independent non-executive director an annual confirmation of
his independence in accordance with the independence guidelines
set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board has assessed
their independence and considered that all independent non-
executive directors are independent based on the independent
criteria in accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules set
out in the confirmation letter, the non-involvement of independent
non-executive directors in the daily operation and management of
the Group and the absence of any relationship which would interfere
with the exercise of the independent judgement.
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At as the date of this report, one out of eight members of the
Board is a woman. The educational background of the directors
cover finance, accounting, business management, economics,
engineering, sociology, history and history of art. The Company
considers that the current composition of the Board has the
characteristics of diversity, whether from perspectives of gender,
professional background and skills.

The biographies of the Board members are set out in “Directors and
Senior Management Profile” on pages 31 to 40 of this annual report.
To the best knowledge of the Board, none of the directors are
involved in any relationship as defined in Appendix 16 to the Listing
Rules. The Company has also maintained on its website (www.
chinafoodsltd.com) (the “Company’s Website”) and the HKExnews
website of Hong Kong Exchange and Clearing Limited (the “HKEXx")
(www.hkexnews.hk) (the “HKEx’s Website”) an updated list of its
directors identifying their roles and functions. Composition of the
Board, by category of directors, is explicitly identified in all the
Company’s corporate communications.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board adopted a board diversity policy (available on the
Company’s Website) in August 2013 setting out the approach to
achieve diversity on the Board. The Board believes that a diversity
of perspectives can be achieved through consideration of a number
of factors, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, work and professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. All appointment of the members
of the Board will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be
considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the
benefits of diversity of the Board. The ultimate decision will be
based on merits of the candidates and the contribution they will
bring to the Board. The Company recognises and embraces the
benefits of having a diverse Board to enhance the quality of its
performance. The nomination committee has primary responsibility
for identifying and nominating, for approval by the Board, suitably
qualified candidates to become members of the Board and, in
carrying out this responsibility, will give adequate consideration to
the board diversity policy.

The Board will from time to time review the board diversity policy, as
appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.
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Nomination, Appointment and Election/Re-Election of
Directors

The Company has adopted a nomination policy (available on
the Company’s Website) in November 2018 which provides a
framework and sets standards to assist the nomination committee
in identifying and nominating suitable candidates for the Board’s
consideration and to ensure that the Board members has a balance
of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the
requirements of the Company’s business.

Pursuant to bye-law 111 of the bye-laws of the Company (the “Bye-
laws™), each director (including those appointed for specific terms)
shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three
years and the retiring Directors shall be eligible for re-election.
Director who is appointed either to fill a casual vacancy or as an
additional director to the Board shall hold office until the first general
meeting of the Company after his/her appointment and be subject
to election at such meeting pursuant to bye-law 94 of the Bye-
laws. Pursuant to the CG Code, any further re-appointment of an
independent non-executive director, who has served the Company
for more than nine years, will be subject to separate resolution to be
approved by the Shareholders. The directors who shall retire from
office at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company
are set out on pages 110 to 111 of this annual report.

All Directors (including non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors) were appointed for specific terms of three
years and all existing Directors have signed formal appointment
letters with the Company with respect to their directorship with the
Company.

Board Meeting and General Meeting
The Board conducts at least four regular Board meetings a year at

approximately quarterly intervals with additional Board meetings as
and when required.
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Notices for regular Board meetings or Board committee meetings
are sent to Directors or Board committee members at least fourteen
(14) days prior to such meetings, Directors or Board committee
members were invited to include any matters which they thought
appropriate in the agenda. For ad hoc meetings, shorter notice may
be given.

The company secretary assists the chairman of the Board or other
committees of the Board in preparing the agenda for meetings
and ensures that all relevant rules and regulations for meeting
proceedings are followed. Board papers were sent to the Directors
at least three (3) days before the intended dates of Board meetings
or Board committee meetings (or other agreed period).

It is the practice of the Company to record in sufficient detail of
matters considered and decisions reached, including concerns
raised or dissenting views expressed, by the Board and Board
committees. Draft and final versions of minutes of Board meetings
and/or Board committee meetings are sent to Directors or
committee members (as the case may be) for their comment and
records respectively, in both cases within a reasonable time after
the meetings. The decision of the Board can be made by written
resolutions.

All minutes of Board meetings and Board committee meetings are
kept by the company secretary and are available to all Directors for
inspection. Every Board member has unrestricted access to the
advice and services of the company secretary to enable them to
discharge their duties effectively, and has the liberty to seek external
professional advice if so required. The cost of procuring these
professional services will be borne by the Company.

In case a substantial shareholder or a Director has a conflict of
interest in a matter to be considered by the Board which the Board
has determined to be material, such matter will be discussed
through an actual meeting and will not be dealt with by written
resolutions. Independent non-executive Directors with no conflict of
interest will be present at such meetings.
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Directors play active role in the Company’s meetings through
contribution of their opinions and active participating in discussion.
During the year, other than resolutions passed by all the Directors
in writing, a total of four Board meetings and an annual general
meeting at which the external auditor attended were held and the
attendance of such meetings by each Director is set out below. In
the following table, the figures in brackets means the total number
of meetings held during each Director’s tenure throughout the year:
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Annual General

Board Meetings Meeting
(Note 5)
Name of Director EEfE EEEEE BRAFKE
(H1:£5)
Executive Directors HITES
Ms. Luan Xiuju (Note 1) BER L (Wil 4/(4) /(1)
Mr. Shen Peng TERAE A 4/(4) /(1)
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Mr. Ma Jianping (Note 2) B Vs WEt2) N/AZT i F N/AZT i FA
Mr. Yu Xubo (Note 3) TR T4 (HfaE3) /(1) N/ATE A
Mr. Chen Lang (Chairman) (Note 4) BREAZC A (£ /2) (H1at4) 3/(3) 1/(1)
Ms. Xiao Jianping HEEd 4/(4) /(1)
Mr. Qin Yelong B¥EELE 4/(4) 1/(1)
Independent Non-executive Directors BIKHITES
Mr. Stephen Edward Clark IRV ey 4/(4) 1/(1)
Mr. Li Hung Kwan, Alfred TR E 4/(4) 1/(1)
Mr. Mok Wai Bun, Ben REDREE 4/(4) /(1)

Notes:

1.

Ms. Luan Xiuju resigned as an executive Director with effect from 1
January 2020.

Mr. Ma Jianping resigned as a non-executive Director and the
chairman of the Board with effect from 4 January 2019.

Mr. Yu Xubo was appointed as a non-executive Director and the
chairman of the Board with effect from 4 January 2019. Mr. Yu then
resigned as non-executive Director and the chairman of the Board with
effect from 26 April 2019.

Mr. Chen Lang was appointed as a non-executive Director and the
chairman of the Board with effect from 26 April 2019.

The annual general meeting of the Company was held on 4 June 2019,
and more details are set out in the circular of the Company dated 25
April 2019, the supplemental circular of the Company dated 3 May
2019 and the poll results announcement of the Company dated 4 June
2019.
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Continuous Professional Development

All Directors, including non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors, should keep abreast of their collective
responsibilities as directors and of the business and activities of
the Group. Each newly appointed Director would receive from the
chairman or executive Directors’ briefings on the operations and
business of the Group and an induction package to ensure that
he has a proper understanding on his responsibilities under the
relevant statues, laws, rules and regulations.

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. From time to time, the company secretary disseminates
information on the latest development regarding the Listing Rules
and other applicable regulatory requirements to the Directors to
ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of good corporate
governance practices. The Company will organise seminars
on specific topics of significance or interest for Directors and
management staff and sponsors Directors to attend professional
development seminars or other programmes where necessary.

According to the records provided by the Directors, a summary of
training received by the Directors during the year is set out below:
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Attending briefings,
seminars, conference and/or
reading materials relevant
to the director’s duties

and responsibilities

SHEEHRE - FIF

AEEER SHEHEHE
Name of Director EspR EERERBEEENER
Executive Directors HITES
Ms. Luan Xiuju BERHLL v
Mr. Shen Peng RS A v
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Mr. Ma Jianping (resigned on 4 January 2019) B2 F L4 (201971 A4 B &T)
Mr. Yu Xubo (resigned on 26 April 2019) FIBI 54 (201994 26 A BHT)
Mr. Chen Lang (Chairman) BREASCAE (/) v
Ms. Xiao Jianping BTt v
Mr. Qin Yelong EHERELT v
Independent Non-executive Directors BUFHTES
Mr. Stephen Edward Clark MBS E v/
Mr. Li Hung Kwan, Alfred A v
Mr. Mok Wai Bun, Ben SEEE A v
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Directors’ Insurance

During the year, the Company arranged appropriate insurance for
Directors and officers of the Group.

Corporate Governance Function

No corporate governance committee has been established and
the Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
function such as developing and reviewing the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance, reviewing and monitoring
the training and continuous professional development of Directors
and senior management, the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, and the
Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the
corporate governance report contained in the annual report of the
Company.

During the year, the Board has performed the corporate functions
by reviewing the Company’s Corporate Governance practices.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established four committees, namely, the executive
committee, the audit committee, the remuneration committee and
the nomination committee, to oversee corresponding aspects of
the Company’s affairs. All Board committees of the Company have
defined terms of reference.

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

During the year, the executive committee consists of two executive
directors, namely, Ms. Luan Xiuju who was the chairwoman of the
executive committee until her resignation as the executive director
and the managing director of the Company took effect from 1
January 2020, and Mr. Shen Peng. Currently, the chairman of the
executive committee is Mr. Qing Lijun.

The terms of reference of the executive committee are available on
the Company’s Website. The primary responsibility of the executive
committee is to deal with and supervise the day-to-day business
operations, management and administration of the Group. There is
no minimum meeting requirements and the executive committee
shall meet as and when necessary for proper discharge of its duties.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee currently consists of three members,
including two independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr.
Mok Wai Bun, Ben who is the chairman of this committee, and
Mr. Stephen Edward Clark, and a non-executive Director and the
chairman of the Board, namely, Mr. Chen Lang. Mr. Ma Jianping
and Mr. Yu Xubo, each of them is a former non-executive director
and also the chairman of the Board, ceased to be a member of the
remuneration committee upon their resignations which took effect
from 4 January 2019 and 26 April 2019, respectively.

The terms of the remuneration committee are available on the
Company’s Website and the HKEx’s Website. The duties of the
remuneration committee are mainly to make recommendations to
the Board on the Company’s remuneration policy and structure for
all Directors and senior management and make recommendations
to the Board on the remuneration packages of individual executive
Directors and senior management including benefits in kind,
pension rights and compensation payments, including any
compensation payable for loss or termination of their office or
appointment, and the remuneration packages of individual non-
executive Directors.

During the year, other than resolutions passed by all members
of the remuneration committee in writing, two meetings of the
remuneration committee were held and the attendance of the
meeting by each committee member is set out below. In the
following table, the figures in brackets means the total number of
meetings held during each member’s tenure throughout the year:

FMEES

FHEZESRMA=ZRKEAK  BEM
ZENIERTES  EEELE(BZEE
G EE) RATI B A (Mr. Stephen Edward
Clark)A R — BN ITEEHREET S EFM
BALAE - SEARFNTESRESS IR
MBEREFRERTRELE  BES R
201941 A4 H K&2019F4 A 26 H B A%
% BTBETHFHNEZESKE -

FZEenBESEESC SN AR AR
WRBBRGHAEY HFHNEE G2 T ER
BERMARRESRSRERE 2 HHBER
RRBRAESSRHEEREZ - R - 5t
BURTEERSRELENEAFMHEF
B BEFRENE RRERIEEES
B (BREMERKSR EBEREENE
&) AR BAFRTEZNHMFER
EFgRhER -

(S

AEER  BREEFHEZEEEBREE
BOBERZEI  FHRBEHEITT X
&% BUZBEKBEZHFEBEREIMT
FLNERME @ BRABMFRENAFEANRK
BEEHRESITNEREH

[
o M [

Attendance/
Number of Meetings

Name of Committee Member ZEEHENS HiE SBXHE
Mr. Mok Wai Bun, Ben (Chairman) SETR ST () 2/(2)
Mr. Stephen Edward Clark W EEAE 2/(2)
Mr. Ma Jianping (Note 1) BT EEWED 0/(1)
Mr. Yu Xubo (Note 2) TR 52 4 (B1a32) N/ATE A
Mr. Chen Lang (Note 3) BREASE & (H323) 1/(1)

Note:

1. Mr. Ma Jianping ceased to be a member of the remuneration
committee with effect from 4 January 2019.

2. Mr. Yu Xubo was appointed as a member of the remuneration
committee with effect from 4 January 2019 and then ceased to be
a member of the remuneration committee with effect from 26 April
2019.

3. Mr. Chen Lang was appointed as a member of the remuneration
committee with effect from 26 April 2019.
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The following is a summary of the work performed by the
remuneration committee during the year:

° reviewed the remuneration policy and structure for Directors
and senior management;

° reviewed the remunerations of all Directors and senior
management for the year 2018 and made a recommendation
to the Board on the remunerations of all Directors and senior
management for the year 2019;

° reviewed the performance evaluation of all executive Directors
and senior management and made a recommendation to the
Board on bonuses for the year 2018;

e considered the incentive scheme proposal for executive
Directors and senior management and made a recommendation
to the Board on the same; and

° reviewed letters of appointment of an executive Director,
non-executive Directors and independent non-executive
directors who were newly appointed/re-appointed and
made recommendations to the Board on their remuneration
packages, respectively.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the remuneration of
senior management (excluding directors of the Company) falls into
three brands, one (1) individual in the range of RMB1,000,001 to
RMB1,500,000, one (1) individual in the range of RMB1,500,001
to RMB2,000,000, and one (1) individual in the range of
RMB2,000,001 to RMB2,500,000. Such amount includes pension
scheme contributions.

Details of the remuneration of the Company’s directors for the year
ended 31 December 2019 are set out in the note 12 to the financial
statements of this annual report.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee currently consists of three members,
including a non-executive Director and the chairman of the Board,
namely Mr. Chen Lang, who is the chairman of the nomination
committee and two independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Li Hung Kwan, Alfred and Mr. Mok Wai Bun, Ben. Mr. Ma
Jianping and Mr. Yu Xubo, each of them is a former non-executive
directors and the chairman of the Board, ceased to be the chairman
of the nomination committee upon their resignations which took
effect from 4 January 2019 and 26 April 2019, respectively.

The terms of reference of the nomination committee are available
on the Company’s Website and the HKEx's Website. The duties of
the nomination committee are mainly to review the structure, size
and composition of the Board and make recommendations on any
proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy; identify suitable candidates for appointment as
directors; make recommendations to the Board on appointment or
re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors;
and assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors and review whether non-executive Directors (including
independent non-executive Directors) are spending enough time to
fulfill their duties annually.

In reviewing the Board composition, the nomination committee
would take into account various aspects set out in the board
diversity policy.

In recommending candidates for appointment to the Board, the
nomination committee would consider candidates on merit against
objective criteria and with regards to the benefits of the diversity
of the Board and made reference to the nominate policy of the
Company.
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During the year, the nomination committee held three meetings and
the attendance by each committee member is set out below. In the
following table, the figures in brackets means the total number of
meetings held during each member’s tenure throughout the year:
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Attendance/

Number of Meetings

Name of Committee Member ZEEREHSR HEEERE

Mr. Ma Jianping (Note 1) B EAE Wit 0/(1)

Mr. Yu Xubo (Note 2) T e A& (H1522) /(1)

Mr. Chen Lang (Chairman) (Note 3) FREASC A& () (H#3) 1/1)

Mr. Li Hung Kwan, Alfred S Eobta 3/(3)

Mr. Mok Wai Bun, Ben BEEWLE 3/(3)
Note: Hiat -

1. Mr. Ma Jianping ceased to be a member and the chairman of the
nomination committee with effect from 4 January 2019.

2. Mr. Yu Xubo was appointed as a member and the chairman of
the nomination committee with effect from 4 January 2019 and
then ceased to be a member and the chairman of the nomination
committee with effect from 26 April 2019.

3. Mr. Chen Lang was appointed as a member and the chairman of the
nomination committee with effect from 26 April 2019.

The following is a summary of the work performed by the nomination
committee during the year:

° reviewed the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board;

° reviewed the time required from non-executive directors
(including independent non-executive Directors) and assessed
whether they are spending enough time to fulfill their duties;

e assessed the independence of independent non-executive
directors;

° made recommendation to the Board on the election of a non-
executive director at the 2019 annual general meeting; and

e made recommendations to the Board on the appointments
of two non-executive directors and an executive director, and
the re-appointments of two non-executive directors and an

independent non-executive director.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee currently consists of three independent non-
executive directors, namely, Mr. Stephen Edward Clark who is the
chairman of the audit committee, Mr. Li Hung Kwan, Alfred and Mr.
Mok Wai Bun, Ben.

The terms of reference of the audit committee are available on the
Company’s Website and the HKEx’s Website. The duties of the
audit committee are mainly to assist the Board to ensure objectivity
and credibility of financial reporting, and ensuring effective risk
management and internal control systems of the Company are
in place. The audit committee’s responsibilities also include
the appointment, compensation and supervision of the external
auditor. The audit committee is further authorised by the Board
to investigate any activity within its terms of reference, and may
make recommendations to the Board to take appropriate actions
emanating from such investigations.

Besides having discussed with the auditor the nature and scope of
the audit and reporting obligations before the audit commences, the
audit committee held two meetings during the year. The attendance
of the meetings by each committee member is set out below. In the
following table, the figures in brackets means the total number of
meetings held during each member’s tenure throughout the year:
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B - BLAEHT S E S A (Mr. Stephen Edward
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Attendance/

Number of Meetings

Name of Committee Member ZEgHREHA HEEERE

Mr. Stephen Edward Clark (Chairman) WIS E (F/R) 2/(2)

Mr. Li Hung Kwan, Alfred RN A 2/(2)

Mr. Mok Wai Bun, Ben SEESEAE 2/(2)
The following is a summary of the work performed by the audit ERZEENTFEANTERZNT

committee during the year:

° reviewed and made recommendations to the Board on the
approval of the 2018 annual results announcement, the
audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2018; 2019 interim results announcement, and
the unaudited interim financial statements for the six months
ended 30 June 2019;
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e reviewed matters relating to the Company’s financial and
accounting policies and practices;

e reviewed external auditor's management letter in respect of the
financial year ended 31 December 2018;

e reviewed continuing connected transactions of the Group for
the financial year ended 31 December 2018 and for the six-
months ended 30 June 2019;

° reviewed and assessed the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the Group’s accounting
and financial reporting function, and their training programmes
and budgets;

° made recommendations to the Board matters where
improvement on financial function was needed;

° reviewed the internal audit results and the effectiveness of the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems twice;

° reviewed and approved the internal audit plan for the year
2019; and

e made recommendation to the Board on the re-appointment of
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as external auditor of the Company.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

During the year, the fees paid or to be payable to the Company’s
external auditor are set out below:
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Fees paid/payable

Services rendered FriR A BRI 2t EARNER
RMB’000

AREFIT

Annual audit services FEET RIS 1,499
Non-audit services* T AR 843
Total A&t 2,342

* Such services included, among others, interim review, results
announcements review and compliance review relating to continuing
connected transactions.

Y ZERBETRETHREERN  XEQ
SRUEFEWERZINEREN -

Euﬁé%m 9 96



90

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT 1 ¥ EVA#Hi &

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Financial Reporting

The Directors, which is responsible for overseeing the preparation of
annual financial statements, receive monthly management accounts
and updates on the Group’s performance and financial position
and prospects prepared by management of the Company on a
regular basis. Management of the Company was required to provide
a detailed report(s) and explanation to enable the Board to make
an informed assessment of the financial and other information put
forward for its approval. In preparing the financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2019, the Board adopted appropriate
accounting policies consistently, made prudent and reasonable
judgements and estimates. The Board was not aware of any
material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that might cast
significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern. Accordingly, the Directors have prepared the consolidated
financial statements of the Company on a going-concern basis.

The Board is committed to present a balanced, clear and
comprehensible assessment of the Group’s affairs to its shareholders
and the public in a timely manner. The annual and interim results
of the Company are published in accordance with the disclosure
requirements under the Listing Rules.

The reporting responsibilities of the Directors and the external
auditor are further set out in the “Independent Auditor’'s Report” of
this annual report. For other financial disclosures required under
the Listing Rules are disclosed pursuant to statutory requirements.

The Company is committed to ensuring compliance with regulatory
requirements under the Listing Rules, applicable laws and
regulations in handling connected transactions. Accordingly,
the Company implemented various internal control mechanisms
to capture and monitor connected transactions to ensure that
connected transactions are conducted under normal commercial
terms or on terms that are fair and reasonable and properly
disclosed and (if necessary) approved by the independent
shareholders of the Company in accordance with the Listing Rules.
Connected persons will be required to abstain from voting in general
meetings which considering the relevant connected transactions.
Details of the connected transactions of the Company during the
year are set out in the “Report of the Directors” of this annual report.
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Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for maintaining
comprehensive and effective risk management and internal control
systems, and for reviewing the effectiveness of these systems
through the audit committee of the Board.

Sound risk management and internal control systems are based on
the Company’s good business ethics and culture, the quality and
capabilities of its employees, the direction of the Board, and also the
efficiency and capabilities of management.

Management of the Company, under the Board supervision, is
responsible for the design, implementation and monitoring of the
risk management and internal control systems.

The Group has established a sound and comprehensive risk
management and internal control system, formed a systematic and
effective system on segregation of duty and three lines of defense in
risk management, with each of the business units as the first line of
defense; the business supervision and inspection departments at all
levels as the second line of defense; and internal audit department
and supervision department as the third line of defense.

The Group has established its risk management and internal control
systems based on the COSO (Committee of Sponsoring Organisation
of the Treadway Commission) risk management framework.

The Group’s risk management covers the Company’s headquarters
and its subsidiaries, covering various risks faced in operation and
management, and focusing on and continuously monitor the key
risks.

According to the risk management strategy, the Group conducts a
comprehensive risk assessment every two years in combination with
the Group’s strategic and business objectives and changes in the
market environment. Identify major risks that adversely affect the
achievement of strategic objectives and prioritise the identified risks
based on a set of standard criteria and formulate a risk mitigation
plan to monitor the risk to an acceptable level.
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In 2019, the internal audit department worked together with the
management, the general manager of each bottling plant and
various functional departments to conduct a comprehensive risk
assessment in according to the requirement of the Board. The audit
department has summarised and prioritized the evaluation results,
and identified the ten risks at the highest scores level as the major
risks faced by the Group in 2019.

The Group has consistently dealt with and monitored the major
risks that were assessed and identified the responsible departments
and accountable persons, the management process and the
corresponding reporting mechanism.

All bottling plants and departments had implemented risk
management measures in a serious and proactive manner, and
relevant major risks have been effectively controlled. There has
been no material risk event occurred within the Group in 2019.

The Group’s monitoring work usually consists of:

Analysis and review: through conducting annual budget and
strategic plan reviews and other forms to set the Company’s
development goals, and determine business plans and development
strategies. Senior management holds regular general managers
meetings and operation analysis meetings to discuss major
strategies, policy and overall issues of the Company. Each affiliated
company holds regular internal management meetings to analyze
budget execution, sales management, production management and
risk control matters.

Work management: reports of work are reviewed by management
personnel who are responsible for the relevant functions.

Physical monitoring: ensuring the safety of equipment, inventory
and other assets, and conducting regular inspections.

Analysis of operational indicators: conducting analysis of operational
and financial data on regular basis to ensure early identification of
existing problems, so that any necessary rectification works can be
done in a timely manner.

Separation of duties: responsibilities of employees are divided
according to the principle of separation of duties, so that the checks
and balances are strengthened and the probability and risk of errors
are reduced.
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The Group has established effective systems and procedures to
ensure that employees are able to identify, document and report on
operational, financial and compliance information while performing
their duties.

The Group has established an independent audit department
and a supervision department which report directly to the senior
management and the audit committee of the Company.

In 2019, the audit department completed the annual audit plan
and audit requirements approved by the management and the
Audit Committee. Based on risk assessments and the needs of
the management, the audit department conducted internal control
audits and special audits in the important risk areas of the Group. It
has focused on the rectification of problems found during the audit,
and have effectively promoted management improvements and
reduced operating risks.

The internal audit department assists the audit committee to assess
the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems and attends meetings of the audit committee at
least twice a year, and reports on the work it has undertaken and its
principal audit findings.

The Group has also designed and formulated appropriate policies
and control measures to safeguard its assets against unauthorized
use and disposition, and to ensure compliance with applicable laws,
rules and regulations. The Company maintains reliable accounting
records, and financial information in accordance with the relevant
accounting standards and reporting requirements, and properly
identifies and manages risks that may affect the performance of the
Company.

Such systems and internal controls are designed to manage, rather
than eliminate, the risk of failure to achieve business objectives.
They can only provide reasonable, and not absolute, assurance
against material misstatement or loss.
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In respect of 2019, the Board has reviewed, through the audit
committee, the work of the internal audit department, and its audit
findings in relation to the risk management and internal control
systems (including financial, operational and compliance controls),
and considers the risk management and internal control systems of
the Group are effective and adequate, and that the Company had
complied with the Code Provision on risk management and internal
control. The qualifications and experience of the staff of the Group’s
accounting, financial reporting and internal audit functions, and the
training programmes, budgets and the resources available to these
functions have been reviewed and are considered to be adequate.

INSIDE INFORMATION

The Company has formulated the “Inside Information Disclosure
Policies and Guidelines of China Foods Limited”, which has set out
clearly the procedures of identification, report and disclosure of
inside information to ensure that the Company is able to disclose
inside information properly on a timely, fair and lawful manner, and
keep confidential before such information is approved appropriately,
so as to enhance the market transparency and provide better
protection for shareholders and investors.

WHISTLE-BLOWING POLICY

The Group formulated a whistle-blowing policy to ensure
inappropriate business practices and conducts are properly reported
and handled. The discipline supervision department provides an
email address and telephone number for whistle-blowing and
formulated procedures for handling whistle-blowing matters, and
the whistleblower protection system. For cases in action, they are
recorded in detail, tracked and monitored, and report significant
accusations and results of treatment at a regular meeting to the
audit committee.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Liu Kit Yee, Linda has been the company secretary of the
Company since 2004. During the year, Ms. Liu undertook not less
than 15 hours of the relevant professional training to update her
skills and knowledge.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening of Special General Meetings on Requisition by
Shareholders

Pursuant to the Bye-law 68 and section 74 of the Companies
Act 1981 of Bermuda, shareholders shall have a right to request
the Board to convene a special general meeting of the Company
(“SGM”"). Shareholders holding in aggregate of not less than one-
tenth (10%) of the paid-up capital of the Company may send a
written requisition to the Board to request for convening a SGM.

The written requisition, duly signed by the requisitionists, may
consist of several documents in like form each signed by one or
more requisitionists, must state the purposes of the meeting and
must be deposited at the registered office of the Company. The
Company would take appropriate actions and make necessary
arrangements.

If the Directors do not within twenty-one (21) days from the date of
the deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene a meeting,
the requisitionists, or any of them representing more than one half
of the total voting rights of all of them, may themselves convene a
meeting, but any meeting so convened shall not be held after the
expiration of three (3) months from the said date.

A meeting convened by the requisitionists shall be convened in the
same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings are
to be convened by Directors.

Procedures for Making Proposals at General Meetings by
Shareholders

The following shareholders are entitled to put forward a proposal
(which may properly be put to the meeting) for consideration at a

general meeting of the Company:

(@) any member(s) representing not less than one-twentieth (5%)
of the total voting rights of all the members of the Company; or

(b) not less than 100 members holding shares in the Company.
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The requisition specifying the proposal desired to be put forward
at the general meeting, duly signed by the requisitionists, may
consist of several documents in like from each signed by one or
more requisitionists, must be deposited at the registered office of
the Company, together with a sum reasonably sufficient to meet
the Company’s expenses in giving effect thereto, not less than six
weeks before the general meeting (in case of a requisition requiring
notice of a resolution) or not less than one week before the general
meeting (in case of any other requisition). The Company would take
appropriate actions and make necessary arrangement once a valid
requisition is received.

Procedures for Director’s Nomination and Election by
Shareholders

If a shareholder wishes to propose a person other than a retiring
director for election as a director at a general meeting, the
shareholder should lodge at the principal office of the Company in
Hong Kong at 33/F., COFCO Tower, 262 Gloucester Road, Causeway
Bay, Hong Kong, (a) a written notice signed by such shareholder
(other than the proposed person) duly qualified to attend and vote at
the meeting of his/her intention to propose such person for election,
and (b) a written notice by the proposed person indicating his/her
willingness to be elected together with the personal information of
the proposed person as required by Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing
Rules and consent of publication of his/her personal information.

The period during which the aforesaid notice may be given shall be
seven days (or such other period as determined and announced
by the Board). Such period will commence on the day after the
dispatch of the notice of general meeting and end no later than
seven days prior to the date of such general meeting. The Company
would take appropriate actions and make necessary arrangements,
once valid notice is received.

Communication with Shareholders

The Company attaches great importance to communicate with
shareholders, both individual and institutional, and a shareholders
communication policy was adopted by the Company on 30 March
2012 to ensure the shareholders and potential investors are
provided with the Company’s information in a timely and effective
manner.
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The means to communicate with the shareholders and the
investment community used by the Company including the
following:

corporate communications such as annual reports, interim
reports and circulars are made available to shareholders
in both printed form and electronic means through the
Company’s Website and the HKEx's Website;

corporate announcements are made through the Stock
Exchange and published on the Company’s website and the
HKEX's website;

corporate information is made available on the Company’s
website;

annual and special general meetings provide a forum for the
shareholders to make comments and exchange views with the
Directors and management executives; and

Tricor Progressive Limited, the branch share registrar and
transfer office of the Company in Hong Kong serves the
shareholders in respect of share registration, dividend payment
and related matters.

Shareholders may at any time send their written enquiries and
concerns to the Company, either by post or facsimiles, together with
his/her contact details, such as postal address, email address or fax
number, via the company secretary whose contact details are as
follows:

The Company Secretary
China Foods Limited

33/F., COFCO Tower

262 Gloucester Road
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong
Telephone: (852) 2833 0388
Fax: (852) 2833 0380

Constitutional Documents

There was no change to the Company’s memorandum of association
and bye-laws during the year. A copy of the latest consolidated
version of the memorandum of association and bye-laws is available
on the Company’s website and the HKEx's website.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

We have always believed that maintaining a high standard,
effective and multi-channel communication system and ensuring
the transparency and timeliness of information disclosure enables
investors to accurately understand the latest developments of
the Group. It also helps to enhance investors’ confidence and
shareholders’ value.

Our strategic objectives of investor relations function have been
clearly defined as follows:

1) to raise the profile of the Company as a leading participant in
the industry, that is in line with our strategic positioning within
the group of COFCO Corporation;

2) to build a long-term and trusting shareholder base;

3) toenhance the knowledge of our investors about the Company;
and

4) 1o understand the key concerns of the investment community
and provide timely feedback to our management, and to make
constant improvement based on the constructive feedback.

Interactions between the Company and the investor community:

We believe effective communication and fair information disclosure
builds investor confidence, and also facilitates constructive
feedbacks for continuous improvement.

In 2019, apart from disclosing transparent and fair financial and
operational information in annual and interim reports and having
direct communicate with shareholders at annual and special general
meetings, we have also effectively bridging the Company and the
investment community through:

o Interactive communications between our management and
investors/analysts directly at post-results briefings, investor
annual conferences/seminar and regular investor meetings;
and

e (Collection of market feedback, such as research reports and
market views, for the review of our management.

CHINA FOODS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2019

REEBRE
B ERERBECE - BRMSREN
BB RRIRAN B BT 0B A RS

1 BEEREEERANE AR E RN ES
R APRAREEEOMBEREE -

REEBEOREEBIZEBMENT

) BEARFREPEEEEGRATEERN

BVRES EAL— 2 - RAADBMERTT
ENREETLR

2) BY-HEHEENRRAS

3) EREBREEHARBNTHE &

4) THERER

BEEE
b= ;a&ﬁ% o

MERRIHL LERE
I A6 E R MR [ BE R s

AREEERZHENEE :

HIMEEARBBNAFEMKELERR
BERUEL - WEERRMENEIEER
Bk o

R2019% - (BT ESFHEPRPFEER
AT M EEERM - ARERIRESF
RERBERFHAE ERBERERZRIN
HPNEBA TR EBRIE AR R EIZE
FREFERAEIR -

s EREHKREE DITMAERERYE
me REEFESEMIGME
HHREEERTEREIIN + &

o WEMBZEK(WHMARSESMTIEE
BRERERM -



The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) is pleased to
present its report together with the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2019 (the “year”), which
were approved by the Board on 24 March 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
Currently, the Company through its subsidiaries operates beverage
business. There were no changes in the nature of the Group’s
principle activities during the year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A business review of the Group’s performance for the year ended
31 December 2019 and material factors underlying its results
and financial position, principal risks and uncertainties facing the
Group, as well as the Group’s business outlook can be found in the
sections headed “Chairman Statement”, “Statement from Managing
Director”, “Management Discussion and Analysis” and “Notes to
Financial Statements” in this report. Such review and discussion
form parts of this report of the Directors.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS
The Group’s main operations are carried out by the Company’s
subsidiaries in the PRC while the Company itself is listed on the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange. The Group’s operations are regulated
by Hong Kong and PRC laws. For the year ended 31 December
2019 and up to the date of this report, the Board was not aware of
any non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the Company.

Please refer to the discussions in this report, the “Corporate
Governance Report” and the “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report” for further details of the Group’s compliance
with the relevant laws and regulations.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

In view of the Board, the Company has applied the principles and
complied with all the code provisions of the Corporate Governance
Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing
Rules”) throughout the year. Details of the Company’s work in
corporate governance during the year are disclosed in the “Corporate
Governance Report”.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

Discussion on the Group’s environmental policies and performance is
contained in the “Environmental, Social and Governance Report”.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s profit for the year ended 31 December 2019 and the
state of affairs of the Company and the Group as of that date are set
out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 126 to 212.

There was no interim dividend declared for the six months ended
30 June 2019 (30 June 2018: NIL).

The Board now recommends the payment of a final dividend of
RMBO0.044 (equivalent to HK4.8 cents (31 December 2018: HK3.9
cents) per ordinary share for the year ended 31 December 2019,
subject to the approval obtained at the annual general meeting to
be held on Tuesday, 2 June 2020. The proposed final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2019 will be distributed on or around
Friday, 3 July 2020 to shareholders of the Company whose names
appear on the register of members of the Company on Friday, 12
June 2020. As disclosed in the Company’s announcement made
on 9 June 2013, the Company received the approvals of State
Administration of Taxation of the People’s Republic of China which
confirmed that (i) the Company is regarded as a Chinese resident
enterprise; and (ii) relevant enterprise income tax policies shall be
applicable to the Company starting from 1 January 2013. Thus,
the Company will withhold 10% enterprise income tax when it
distributes the final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2019
to non-resident enterprise shareholders of the Company.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the shareholders’ eligibility to attend and vote at the
forthcoming annual general meeting, the register of members of the
Company will be closed from Thursday, 28 May 2020 to Tuesday, 2
June 2020, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of
shares will be registered. In order to qualify for attending and voting
at the forthcoming annual general meeting, all transfer documents,
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
for registration with the Company’s branch share registrar and
transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Progressive Limited, at Level 54,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong, not later than
4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 27 May 2020.

For determining the shareholders’ entitlement to the proposed
final dividend, the register of members of the Company will be
closed from Thursday, 11 June 2020 to Friday, 12 June 2020,
both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares
will be registered. The ex-dividend date will be Tuesday, 9 June
2020. In order to qualify for the proposed final dividend, all transfer
documents, accompanied by the relevant share certificates must
be lodged for registration with the Company’s branch share registrar
and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Progressive Limited, at
Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong, not
later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 10 June 2020.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years,
as extracted from the published audited consolidated financial
statements, is set out on page 213 of this annual report. This
summary does not form part of the audited consolidated financial
statements.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company adopted a dividend policy in November 2018.
Pursuant to the dividend policy, the Company may declare and
distribute dividends to the shareholders of the Company to allow
shareholders to share the Company’s profits and for the Company to
retain adequate reserves for future growth.

The recommendation of the payment of any dividend is subject to
the absolute discretion of the Board, and any declaration of final
dividend will be subject to the approval of the shareholders of the
Company. In proposing any dividend payout, the Board shall also
take into account, inter alia, the Group’s financial results, the overall
financial position of the Group, the relevant financial covenants of
the Group, liquidity position and capital requirement of the Group,
surplus received from the Company’s subsidiaries and any other
factors that the Board deem appropriate. The Company’s ability
to pay dividends is also subject to the requirements of the Listing
Rules and all relevant applicable laws, rules and regulations in
the Bermuda, Hong Kong and the Company’s memorandum and
association and bye-laws (the “Bye-laws”).

The Board will continually review the dividend policy and reserves
the right in its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend and/or
modify the dividend policy at any time, and the dividend policy shall
in no way constitute a legally binding commitment by the Company
that dividends will be paid in any particular amount and/or in no way
obligate the Company to declare a dividend at any time or from time
to time.

SHARE CAPITAL

There were no movements in the Company’s authorised or issued
share capital during the year.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company and its subsidiaries have no share option scheme.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws or
the laws of Bermuda which would oblige the Company to offer new
shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.
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RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group
during the year are set out in note 44 to the financial statements
and in the consolidated statement of changes in equity, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2019, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the Companies Act 1981
of Bermuda, amounted to approximately RMB2,762,752,000, of
which RMB123,078,000 has been proposed as a final dividend for
the year.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment and
investment properties of the Company and the Group during the
year are set out in notes 16 and 19 to the financial statements,
respectively.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, less than 5% of the Group’s total sales were
attributable to the Group’s five largest customers. Approximately
69% of the Group’s total purchases were attributable to the Group’s
five largest suppliers, with the largest supplier accounting for
approximately 29%.

Apart from the Company’s ultimate controlling shareholder, COFCO
Corporation (“COFCO"), which is one of the Group’s five largest
suppliers, none of the directors of the Company (“Director(s)”) or
any of their close associates or any shareholders (which, to the best
knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in the other four
largest suppliers or the five largest customers of the Group.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Current Board Members

Executive Directors:
Mr. Qing Lijun (appointed on 1 January 2020)
Mr. Shen Peng

Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Chen Lang (Chairman) (appointed on 26 April 2019)
Ms. Xiao Jianping

Mr. Qin Yelong

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Stephen Edward Clark

Mr. Li Hung Kwan, Alfred

Mr. Mok Wai Bun, Ben

Ex-Directors

Mr. Yu Xubo (resigned on 26 April 2019)

Mr. Ma Jianping (resigned on 4 January 2019)
Ms. Luan Xiuju (resigned on 1 January 2020)

All Directors including non-executive Directors and independent

non-executive Directors are appointed with specific terms.

Each Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years as required by bye-law 111(A) of the Bye-

laws. Accordingly, Ms. Xiao Jianping, Mr. Qin Yelong, Mr. Stephen

Edward Clark and Mr. Li Hung Kwan, Alfred will retire and, being

eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.
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According to bye-law 94 of the Bye-laws, any director appointed by
the Board either to fill a casual vacancy or as an additional director
to the Board shall hold office only until the first general meeting of
the Company after his appointment and be subject to election at
such meeting. In this regard, Mr. Qing Lijun will retire and, being
eligible, offer himself for election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

The Company considers that all the independent non-executive
Directors are independent pursuant to the criteria set out in Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules and that a confirmation of independence
has been received from each of them.

No Director proposed for election or re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract with the Company or
any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Company
or any of its subsidiaries within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGMENT
PROFILE

Biographical details of the Company’s Directors and Senior
Management are set out in the “Directors and Senior Management
Profile” on pages 31 to 40 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS

No Director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly,
in any transactions, arrangements and contract of significance to
the Group’s business to which the Company, or any of its holding
companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party during the
year.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Board is authorised by the shareholders to fix the directors’
remuneration at general meetings. The Directors’ emoluments
are determined by the Board based on the recommendation by
the remuneration committee of the Board with reference to their
job complexity, workload and responsibilities and the Company’s
remuneration policy. Details of the Directors’ emoluments for the
year are set out in note 12 to the financial statements.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Bye-laws, every Director shall be entitled to be
indemnified by the Company out of the assets of the Company
against all losses or liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur or
about the execution and discharge of his/her duties or in relation
thereto. The Company has arranged appropriate Directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of
the Company during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning management or administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group were
entered into or existed during the year.

CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES, WARRANTS,
OPTIONS OR SIMILAR RIGHTS

There is no conversion or subscription rights under any convertible
securities, warrants or options or similar rights issued or granted by
the Company or any of its subsidiaries during the year or subsisted
at the end of the year. In addition, no equity-linked agreements were
entered into by the Company, or existed during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As at 31 December 2019, none of the Directors has any interest
or short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap.
571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”)) which will have to be
notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which
any Director is deemed or taken to be under such provisions of the
SFO), or which are required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO,
to be entered in the register to be kept by the Company or which
are required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Companies contained in the Listing Rules.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER FERRREMALTRARSG KA
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS ARG 2R RRE

IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES
As at 31 December 2019, the interests and short positions of 201912 A31H @ RIEZESH LEE G
EXVEFE2RFEIDHMAMEARAR] : AR
BB E RIS G F 33616 8N AR BT
GFEZERELMA - EEBRFRERRRRK
D RARRERG 2 R ROKBEIT

substantial shareholders in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company as notified to the Company under Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO; or as recorded in the register of interests of the
Company required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO, were as
follows:

Aggregate long positions in the shares and underlying shares of the RARR ARG, KBRS 2 1B HRE
Company

Number of shares held (Note 1)

iR B 88 (iEEL)

Directly Through Approximate

beneficially controlled percentage of

Name of substantial shareholder owned corporations Total issued shares

HEBITRDHN

FTERRER ERERRE EBRTIEEE B BRBEDE

(Note 2)

(H15t2)

China Foods (Holdings) Limited 2,072,688,331 - 2,072,688,331 74.10%

PR R (ER) R AR

COFCO (Hong Kong) Limited - 2,072,688,331 2,072,688,331 74.10%
HIEEE (BB BERAF (Note 3)
(H1713)

COFCO Corporation - 2,072,688,331 2,072,688,331 74.10%
e EBR AT (Note 4)
(H15t4)

HERGBERAF

3R 2019
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Notes:

1. Long positions in the shares of the Company, other than equity
derivatives such as share options, warrants or convertible bonds.

2. The percentages were calculated based on the total number of shares
of the Company in issue as at 31 December 2019, i.e. 2,797,223,396
shares.

3. COFCO (Hong Kong) Limited (“COFCO (HK)") was deemed to be
interested in 2,072,688,331 shares held by China Foods (Holdings)
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of COFCO (HK).

4. COFCOC Corporation through its wholly-owned subsidiary, COFCO (HK),
was deemed to be interested 2,072,688,331 shares.

Save as disclosed herein, as at 31 December 2019, the Directors
were not aware of any other persons who had interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTION

During the year, the Group conducted the following transactions
with certain connected persons of the Company. These transactions
constituted continuing continued transactions and are subject to
reporting requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

1. 2017 COFCO MUTUAL PROVISION AGREEMENT

On 10 November 2017, the Company and COFCO Corporation
(“COFCQ") entered into a mutual provision of products and
services agreement for a term of three years commencing
from 1 January 2018 and expiring on 31 December 2020
(the “2017 COFCO Mutual Provision Agreement”). Pursuant
to the 2017 COFCO Mutual Provision Agreement, the
COFCO and its subsidiaries (collectively “COFCO Group”)
and COFCO’s associates shall supply certain raw materials,
packaging materials, products and provide certain services
to the Group while the Group shall supply certain consumer
products and provide certain services to the COFCO Group
and COFCQ’s associates. Details of the 2017 COFCO Mutual
Provision Agreement were disclosed in an announcement
of the Company dated 10 November 2017 (the “2017
Announcement”) and a circular of the Company dated 30
November 2017.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, (a) the total amount
paid/payable by the Group to the COFCO Group and COFCOQO’s
associates for the purchase of products, raw materials,
packaging materials, services and others was approximately
RMB1,212 million, and (b) the total amount paid/payable by
COFCO Group and COFCQ'’s associates to the Group for the
purchase of consumer products, services and others was
approximately RMB3.98 million.
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2017 CONCENTRATE PURCHASE AGREEMENT

On 10 November 2017, the Company and Coca-Cola
(Shanghai) Company Limited (“Coca-Cola (Shanghai)”)
entered into a concentrate purchase agreement for a term of
three years commencing from 1 January 2018 and expiring
on 31 December 2020 (the “2017 Concentrate Purchase
Agreement”). Pursuant to the 2017 Concentrate Purchase
Agreement, members of the Group with prior written approval
from Coca-Cola (Shanghai) shall purchase concentrates
from Coca-Cola (Shanghai) at prices determined by Coca-
Cola (Shanghai). Details of the 2017 Concentrate Purchase
Agreement were disclosed in the 2017 Announcement.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the total amount
paid/payable by the Group to Coca-Cola (Shanghai) for the
purchase of concentrates was approximately RMB2,125
million.

2017 STILL BEVERAGES PURCHASE AGREEMENT
On 10 November 2017, the Company and Coca-Cola
Bottlers Management Service (Shanghai) Limited (“Coca-
Cola Bottlers (Shanghai)”) entered into a still beverages
purchase agreement for a term of three years commencing
from 1 January 2018 and expiring on 31 December 2020
(the “2017 Still Beverages Purchase Agreement”). Pursuant
to the 2017 Still Beverages Purchase Agreement, certain
members of the Group shall purchase still beverages from
the Coca-Cola Bottlers (Shanghai) for distribution and resale
within designated areas in the PRC. Details of the 2017 Still
Beverages Purchase Agreement were disclosed in the 2017
Announcement.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the total amount paid/
payable by the Group to the Coca-Cola Bottlers (Shanghai) for
the purchase of still beverages was approximately RMB2,196
million.

CHINA FOODS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2019

2017 F R R B IDER
720174118108 » AAFEA O

(L) ARAR([ATRAT2 (£
) DETOREREHE RS - R A
=F H2018F1A1HEE20204F
12A318 1E (12017 4 2 45 R 58 85 1
&) o BIB2017F R U BB S k-
A OAEE(H8) FAEMBROAR
EEKE AT ORI 4 (LB BRTH
BRRAA AL (L8 REBRER -
2017F R RBHEBENFBEER
2017 REHRHEEE -

BZE2019F12A31B 1L E - A%
BB RE AR AR (L8) X
1/ RSB RS ARE21.258

7":0

2017 T2 REBIBH 5
201711 A10H » ARARER O
RN EERB (LB ARA
AR B ATEEEMm (L8 DT~ E
REHEHEGE  HRA=F 8
2018F1H1HEZE2020F12A31H
LE(2017F T & RRR B IE HE ) -
RIZ2017FE & R EHE S
SEE TR E BRI AR g5 (=
)BT E RS R BB EE A
DIEREEE o 2017FENE REAEHE S
HaE B ER2017F REFRHEE -

HZE2019F12A31HIEE » A&EH
e i Nl /¢ S I AW S
(b’i)ézﬁ/ﬁﬁm,ﬁ! R BAR
#01.961E7T



2017 PACKAGING MATERIALS AND SERVICES
PROVISION AGREEMENT

On 10 November 2017, Tianjin Coca-Cola Beverage Co.,
Ltd. (“Tianjin Bottler”), a deemed subsidiary of the Company
and Tianjin Shifa Zijiang Packaging Co., Ltd. (“Zijiang”)
entered into a provision of packaging materials and services
agreement for a term of three years commencing from 1
January 2018 and expiring on 31 December 2020 (the “2017
Packaging Materials and Services Provision Agreement”).
Pursuant to the 2017 Packaging Materials and Services
Provision Agreement, Zijiang shall supply packaging materials
and provide conversion services and other services to
Tianjin Bottler. Details of the 2017 Packaging Materials and
Services Provision Agreement were disclosed in the 2017
Announcement.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the total amount
paid/payable by the Tianjin Bottler to Zijiang for the purchase
of packaging materials and conversion services was
approximately RMB26.45 million.

2018 FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT

On 13 November 2018, COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages Limited
(“COFCO Coca-Cola”) (a 65%-owned subsidiary of the
Company) entered into the framework agreement with Coca-
Cola Bottlers Manufacturing Holdings Limited (“CCBMHL"),
(The Coca-Cola Company and COFCO Coca-Cola indirectly
holds 38% and 21% interest, respectively), a connected
person of the Company, for a term of two years from 1
January 2018 to 31 December 2019 (the “2018 Framework
Agreement”). Pursuant to the 2018 Framework Agreement,
relevant members of the COFCO Coca-Cola and its subsidiaries
(“*COFCO Coca-Cola Group”) shall provide processing services
to the relevant members of the CCBMHL and its subsidiaries
(“CCBMHL Group”) based on the business needs of the
relevant members of the CCBMHL Group. Details of the 2018
Framework Agreement were disclosed an announcement of
the Company dated 13 November 2018.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the total amount
paid/payable by the CCBMHL Group to the COFCO Coca-
Cola Group for the provision of processing services was
approximately RMB157 million.
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2018 FINANCIAL SERVICES AGREEMENT

On 14 December 2018, the Company, COFCO Coca-Cola
Supply Chain (Tianjin) Limited (48 A] O AT €&t g g (K
)BT (“Supply Chain (Tianjin)”), an indirect non-
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, and COFCO
Finance Corporation Limited (“COFCO Finance”) entered
into a financial services agreement for a term of three years
from 14 December 2018 to 13 December 2021 (the “2018
Financial Services Agreement”). Pursuant to the 2018
Financial Services Agreement, COFCO Finance shall provide
Supply Chain (Tianjin) and the Group depository services,
fund transfer services, entrustment loan services and the
other financial services. Details of the 2018 Financial Services
Agreement were disclosed in the announcement of the
Company dated 14 December 2018.

During the period from 1 January 2019 to 13 December
2019, the maximum daily deposit amount (including the
corresponding interest accrued thereon) placed by the Group
with COFCO Finance was approximately RMB250 million and
during the period from 14 December 2019 to 31 December
2019, the maximum daily deposit amount (including the
corresponding interest accrued thereon) placed by the Group
with COFCO Finance was approximately RMB300 million.

2019 ENTRUSTED PROCESSING FRAMEWORK
AGREEMENT

On 2 December 2019, COFCO Coca-Cola entered into an
entrusted processing framework agreement with CCBMHL
for a term of three years from 1 January 2020 to 31
December 2022 (the “2019 Entrusted Processing Framework
Agreement”). Pursuant to the 2019 Entrusted Processing
Framework Agreement, relevant members of the COFCO Coca-
Cola Group shall provide processing services to the relevant
members of the CCBMHL Group based on the business needs
of the relevant members of the CCBMHL Group. The annual
caps with respect to the transactions contemplated under
the 2019 Entrusted Processing Framework Agreement for
the financial years ending 31 December 2020, 31 December
2021 and 31 December 2022 are RMB250 million, RMB260
million and RMB270 million, respectively. Details of the 2019
Entrusted Processing Framework Agreement were disclosed
an announcement of the Company dated 2 December 2019.
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ANNUAL REVIEW OF CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

The Company’s auditor, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (“Deloitte”),
was engaged to report on the Group’s continuing connected
transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other
Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and
with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Deloitte
have issued their unqualified letter containing their findings and
conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions
numbered 1 to 6 disclosed above by the Group in accordance with
Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has
been provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the above
continuing connected transactions numbered 1 to 6 for the year
ended 31 December 2019 and the report of the Company’s auditors,
and confirmed that these continuing connected transactions were:

1.  entered into in the ordinary and usual course of business of
the Company;

2. either on normal commercial terms or, on terms no less
favourable to the Company than terms available to or from (as
appropriate) independent third parties; and

3. in accordance with the terms of respective agreements
governing the transactions and are fair and reasonable and in
the interests of the Company and its shareholders as a whole.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year, no Directors are considered to have interests in any
business which is likely to compete directly or indirectly with that of
the Group.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
to the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s
total issued share capital was held by the public as at the date of
this report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Information on the Company’s corporate governance practices set
out in the “Corporate Governance Report” on pages 81 to 104 of
this annual report.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable and other donations
amounting to approximately RMB5,000,000.

REVIEW BY THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee has reviewed with the auditor of the Company
the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2019 and has also discussed auditing, internal control and financial
reporting matters, including the review of the accounting practices
and principles adopted by the Group.

AUDITORS

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (“Deloitte”) was first appointed as auditor
of the Company with effect from 1 June 2018 upon the retirement
of Ernst & Young.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2019 have been audited by Deloitte who retire and,
being eligible, offer itself for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-
appointment of Deloitte as auditor of the Company will be proposed
at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

CHEN Lang
Chairman

Hong Kong
24 March 2020
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'’S REPORT

Deloitte

To the shareholders of China Foods Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Foods Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 126 to 212, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2019, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss,
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2019, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the
key audit matter

Impairment assessment of franchise rights and goodwill

We have identified the impairment
assessment of franchise rights
and goodwill of beverage cash-
generating units as a key audit
matter due to the significance of
the balance and the significant
management judgement and
estimations involved in impairment
assessment.

As disclosed in note 20 to the
consolidated financial statements,
as at 31 December 2019, the
Group had franchise rights and
goodwill of RMB1,659,475,000
and RMB1,846,799,000
respectively. The impairment
assessment performed by
management involves judgements
and key estimations as set out
below:

° Budgeted gross margins;
and

° Discount rate

Details of the key management
estimations are disclosed in notes
5 and 20 to the consolidated
financial statements.

CHINA FOODS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2019

Our procedures in relation to
impairment assessment of
franchise rights and goodwill
included:

° Evaluating the methodology
and discount rate used
in determining the
recoverable amount of
the cash-generating units
by consulting valuation
specialists;

° Evaluating the key
estimations, including the
budgeted gross margins, by
comparing to the Group’s
historical information; and

e  Evaluating management’s
sensitivity analysis over the
key estimations applied in
the impairment assessment.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body,
in accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

CHINA FOODS LIMITED
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

e  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’'s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not
be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Mak Chi Lung.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong

24 March 2020
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
mEEmERR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019412A31H [FFE

Year ended Year ended
NOTES 31/12/2019 31/12/2018
HZE20195% HZE20184F
B zE 12A31RLLEFE 12A31HILEE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T ARBT T
Revenue A 6 17,172,027 15,648,051
Cost of sales SHER A 11 (10,898,054) (10,106,740)
Gross profit EH 6,273,973 5,541,311
Other income and gains H b g A K as 8 228,832 228,637
Distribution and selling expenses D REE T (4,974,622) (4,467,172)
Administrative expenses T Z H (465,541) (450,848)
Other expenses and losses B b M EE (37,440) (83,106)
Finance costs BB KA 9 (53,626) (74,835)
Share of profits of associates FE(REE R A m A 41,033 44,168
Profit before tax R AR BT A1) 1,012,609 738,155
Income tax expense PSR 10 (236,773) (161,790)
Profit for the year FRBEF 11 775,836 576,365
Profit for the year attributable to FE(EE N A
— Owners of the Company —KRRAREA A 417,789 320,858
— Non-controlling interests —JEE R S 358,047 255,507
775,836 576,365
Earnings per share BRER
Basic (cents) BER(H) 15 14.94 11.47
Diluted (cents) #E(5) N/AT3E N/ATE A

CHINA FOODS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2019



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
mEEZEBWAREK

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #,E2019412A31 8 ILFE

Year ended Year ended
31/12/2019 31/12/2018
HZE2019% HZ=20184F
12A318LEEE 12A31HIEFE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBTIT
Profit and other comprehensive FRBEMNREMEEEA
income for the year 775,836 576,365
Total comprehensive income for JEMRFAZEUALE
the year attributable to:
— Owners of the Company AYNEIE 2PN 417,789 320,858
— Non-controlling interests — JEiE R A 2R 358,047 255,507
775,836 576,365
FERMRERAT
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e MBRR R

At 31 December 2019 201912 H31H

31 December

31 December

NOTES 2019 2018
20194 20184
B 12A31H 12H31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBT T
Non-current Assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment W - B MR 16 5,062,681 4,886,534
Right-of-use assets EREEE 17 622,093 =
Prepaid lease payments AR E 08 18 - 529,445
Investment properties "B 19 = 20,100
Prepayments for property, plantand %1% - M= KEEZ
equipment TEfRIR 1,850 4,126
Intangible assets E|IEE 20 3,508,312 3,506,274
Interests in associates N = NI 21 769,810 742,028
Deferred tax assets BEFITBE = 32 373,327 379,390
10,338,073 10,067,897
Current Assets REBEE
Inventories FE 22 1,889,648 1,650,318
Accounts receivables FEUL AR X 23 329,407 304,788
Prepayments, deposits and other TENHIE - EE2 Rk
receivables Hofh pE Y kIR 24 548,746 566,129
Due from fellow subsidiaries EENIEINCEIVSEN 38 17,801 23,892
Due from the immediate holding HEER AR
company 38 - 138
Due from the ultimate holding EEIERR R B R R
company 38 - 71
Due from non-controlling BB R F) 2 IR
shareholders of subsidiaries &% B R R 38 2,034 359
Due from associates A NCID 21 13,749 19,743
Due from other related party H A EEHE A B 38 369,844 385,665
Prepaid tax TESTIE 75,801 18,254
Debt instruments at fair value through &2 BT AH 2 H
other comprehensive income WAZEETA 25 19,436 =
Pledged bank deposits HEIRRI TR 26 9,036 7,961
Bank balances and cash SRITHEB NI S 26 834,789 243,235
4,110,291 3,220,553

CHINA FOODS LIMITED
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e M BRR R

At 31 December 2019 20199 12H31H

31 December 31 December

NOTES 2019 2018
20194 20184
BzE 12A31H 12A31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T AREFIT
Current Liabilities RBAE
Accounts and bills payables FER R R B 27 760,381 606,811
Other payables and accruals HAb (S 5RIE K AT
=L 28 3,095,609 2,695,379
Borrowings EBE 29 606,500 580,000
Lease liabilities HEBE 30 31,149 =
Contract liabilities BHEE 31 1,587,175 1,341,686
Due to fellow subsidiaries UNGESENGIE R 38 176,253 152,685
Due to the ultimate holding company R 4&IEI A FIZIE 38 = 1,336
Due to non-controlling shareholders  REB A 7] 2 FEH5H%
of subsidiaries f& B FRIE 38 1,200 6,749
Due to associates NI /NCIEGE] 21 157,250 163,330
Due to other related party R E b A N R FRIE 38 243,316 110,539
Tax liabilities MIBAE 73,707 29,978
6,732,540 5,688,493
Net Current Liabilities REBAEFE (2,622,249) (2,467,940)
Total Assets Less Current Liabilities Z2EERREEE 7,715,824 7,599,957
Non-Current Liabilities FRBERS
Borrowings EE 29 = 586,500
Deferred income IRITEUTA 207,045 204,355
Deferred tax liabilities RERIER R 32 131,950 95,666
Lease liabilities HEAE 30 64,474 =
403,469 886,521
7,312,355 6,713,436
Capital and Reserves EXR#EE
Share capital &N 33 293,201 293,201
Share premium and reserves &7 (B M frE 4,247,266 3,925,711
Equity attributable to owners of the ~ ZRA TR A EIEREZS
Company 4,540,467 4218912
Non-controlling interests Bl g T 2,771,888 2,494,524
Total Equity ERAE 7,312,355 6,713,436

The consolidated financial statements on pages 126 to 212 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 24

March 2020 and are signed on its behalf by:

QING Lijun
BMYE
Director

EF

R 2020 F 3 A 24 BE S S Ht/E MR EH
1% 126 EEE 212 BEWERE M B]RE

WHNKTALTRERESE :
SHEN Peng
TR
Director
E-2
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

mEEREBRKR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019412A31H [FFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ANRERARE
Asset Non-
Issued Share Captal ~ Reseme revaluation  Retained controlling Total
capital ~ premium  Reserve* funds resere profits Total  interests equity
B iE FER
Re  REEE EARE  BRE  EfER  REM a3t Be &R
RMBOOD  RMBOOD  RMBOOD  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO RMBOOO  RMBO0O  RMBI00O
ARETT ARETL ARETR ARETn ARETn ARETR  ARETn ARETR  ARETR
At 31 Decernber 2017 (note 20) R017%12R318 (H:0) 293201 080  8230% 2,804 304 278391 3606 22952 6292031
Profitand toal comprehiensive income for the year - £ HIRZ AR LE - - - - - 08% 0858 %501 51635
Final 2017 dividend declared (ne 14) BEROERSRE
(Hz14) = = = = - (B84 (58.452) - (84
Transfer o eserve fund 2ABHES - - - 60 - (640) - - -
Dhidends paid to non-controling Shareholdersof ~ 2AHER FFERRERE
Subsidiaries - - - - - - - (56508 (56,08)
At 31 December 2018 A018E12831R 293,201 30820 823,096 23,534 3204 3045057 4218912 2494524 6,713,436
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year % &AIR2HNALE - - - - - 417789 417789 358047 775836
Final 2018 dividend declared (note 14) BERNBERSKE
(zE1d) - - - - - (%,234)  (96,234) - (96,234)
Transfer to reserve fund ERZRES - - = 1,088 - (1,08) - - -
Dividends paid to non-controling shareholders — CHHEATAERRERE
of subsidiaries - - - - - - - (80,683)  (80,683)
At 31 December 2019 #2019512831R 293,201 30820 823,096 24,622 3204 3365524 4540467 2,771,888 7,312,355
*The Group’s capital reserve includes: AEBENEBHRIE

o the differences between the consideration and the book value of the
share of net assets acquired/disposed of when there is a change in the

ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control;

o share of other comprehensive income of an associate; and

o the contributed surplus which represents:

- the excess value of the shares acquired over the nominal value
of the Company’s shares issued in exchange therefor under
the group reorganisation in 1991, less the goodwill arising on
the acquisition of subsidiaries and associates which remains

eliminated against the capital reserve; and

- the excess value of the shares acquired over the nominal value
of the Company’s shares issued in exchange therefor under the
reorganisation as completed during the year ended 31 December

2006.

CHINA FOODS LIMITED
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
MERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #; %2019 12A31H [t FE

NOTES 2019 2018
Pt 2019% 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T ARETTT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES R EE
Profit before tax: BRAEGATR A
From continuing operation REFELSE £ 1,012,609 738,155
Adjustments for: BIATIHE (EHAE
Finance costs BMEMA 9 53,626 74,835
Share of profits of associates FEIEHE S A RNE (41,033) (44,168)
Bank interest income RITHBUA 8 (5,100) (5,023)
Impairment loss, net of reversal MEBE - REE
— property, plant and equipment —W% - BERSZME 16 46,515 38,181
— receivables subject to ECL —TEHRERIBRTH
FEWTRIA 11 2,440 2,568
Depreciation of property, plant ME - BEMEERTE
and equipment 16 399,204 414,843
Amortisation of intangible assets B E R 20 286 =
Depreciation of right-of-use assets BRESERE 17 39,697 =
(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, HEYE - BEREE
plant and equipment (Wez) / B518 8 (75,194) 2,470
Amortisation of prepaid lease payment — B{+ £ b FH & R IE 4 18 - 15,121
Provision against inventories FERE 11 31,878 24,688
Asset related government grants B ERBRBSHE 8 (79,790) (93,501)
Operating cash flows before movements &8 & AZBAILLE &
in working capital ME 1,385,138 1,168,169
Increase in contract liabilities SHEEEM 245,489 312,048
Increase in inventories FEEM (271,208) (382,576)
Increase in accounts receivables FEUBR SR N (27,059) (5,856)
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, BFUE « e R HEA
deposits and other receivables FEU T IB R,/ (1) 100,193 (36,618)
Decrease/(increase) in amounts due EE NGV
from fellow subsidiaries B/ (g ) 6,091 (1,271)
Decrease in an amount due from RAERR A BIR R
the ultimate holding company 71 -
Decrease in an amount due from BEERARR R
the immediate holding company 138 -
Decrease in an amount due from H RIS A B R R
other related party 15,821 96,064
(Increase)/decrease in amounts KA B2 JEFERRAR R R
due from non-controlling shareholders 2 (3&:n) /F4>
of subsidiaries (1,675) 4,722
Decrease/(increase) in amounts ANV
due from associates B,/ () 5,994 (10,438)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
MERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2019 & Z2019412A31H [FFE

NOTES 2019 2018
Ptk 2019% 20184
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETIT
Increase in debt instruments at fair value & AF(EFAE M2 E
through other comprehensive income AZ BT A (19,436) -
Increase/(decrease) in accounts and bills e BR & Z i
payables R 153,570 (324,047)
Increase in other payables and accruals — Efh e FRIE & fE =t & &
0 423,867 634,059
Increase in amounts due to fellow UNEES NGB R bl
subsidiaries 23,568 63,178
Decrease in an amount due to the REMEER A RRIBR D
ultimate holding company (1,336) =
Increase/(decrease) in an amount due to R E (b BaEk A B Z0A
other related party =20,/ R d) 132,777 (75,454)
(Decrease)/increase in amounts due RITB AR 2 FEERAT R
to non-controlling shareholders of FIECRD)
subsidiaries (5,549) 3,525
(Decrease)/increase in amounts due o REEE A B1ZIE
associates (R /1 (6,080) 53,764
Cash generated from operations MEZEMS RS 2,160,374 1,499,269
Interest paid BEfFE (50,826) (74,835)
Income tax paid BNATEH (208,244) (149,896)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING REEBHER e
ACTIVITIES 1,901,304 1,274,538
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REZH
Interest received BUFE 8 5,100 5,023
Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits RREBIRRTER 18,266 16,046
Placement of pledged bank deposits TR B ERRITER (19,341) (17,583)
Income tax paid on investing activities & EEEE A FTISHE - (444,868)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant HE&E#E - FE&
and equipment RBETEFIA 60,130 5,577
Purchases of property, plant and BENE  BEKEE
equipment (702,820) (686,305)
Purchases of intangible assets BERFEE (2,324) -
Receipt of government grants WEIBS 8 82,480 87,750
Dividends received from associates B & QRIS 13,251 =
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING RERBAAREFHE
ACTIVITIES (545,258) (1,034,360)

CHINA FOODS LIMITED
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
MERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2019 #,E2019412A31 8 ILFE

NOTES 2019 2018
BT 20194 20184
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARETT AREFT
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BMETE
New bank loans raised BEEMMLRITER 34 200,000 -
Repayments of bank borrowings BRIRITER 34 (760,000) (590,120)
Repayments of lease liabilities EREHEEaE 34 (27,575) =
Dividends paid EfRE 34 (96,234) (167,628)
Dividends paid to non-controlling RLENEIPE 22T S
shareholders of subsidiaries TR 34 (80,683) (71,258)
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING BMEEETARE T
ACTIVITIES (764,492) (829,006)
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH BRE&RBEESZEER
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS i, (R) B 591,554 (588,828)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RIAIBZzBR & kE$
AT 1 JANUARY Z({E1EH 243,235 832,063
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT MN12A31E2HER
31 DECEMBER REPRESENTED BY ReSEBANERT
BANK BALANCES AND CASH HEHRRES 834,789 243235
FERMRERAT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 22019412 A31H It FE

CORPORATE INFORMATION

China Foods Limited (the “Company”) is a limited liability
company incorporated in Bermuda. The registered office of
the Company is located at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda.

The Company is a subsidiary of China Foods (Holdings)
Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands.
In the opinion of the directors of the Company (the “Directors”),
the ultimate holding company is COFCO Corporation, which is
a state-owned enterprise registered in the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC").

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) were involved in processing,
bottling and distribution of sparkling beverage products, and
distribution of still beverage products.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB”), which is the Company’s functional
currency.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on a going concern basis notwithstanding that the Group had
net current liabilities of RMB2,622,249,000 at the end of the
reporting period. In preparing these consolidated financial
statements, the Directors have given careful consideration
to the current and anticipated future liquidity of the Group.
Taking into account, inter alia, (i) the unutilised loan facilities
at the end of the reporting period, and (ii) the expected net
cash inflows generated from the Group’s operations for the
next twelve months. The Directors are of the opinion that the
Group will be able to meet its liabilities as and when they fall
due. Accordingly, the Directors consider that the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements on a going concern
basis is appropriate.

CHINA FOODS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2019
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NOTES 7O THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #x & 21 757 17:7
For the year ended 31 December 2019 22019412 A31HILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs™)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are Mandatorily
Effective for the Current Year

The Group has applied the following new and amendments to
HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time in the current year.

HKFRS 16 Leases

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with
Negative Compensation

Plan Amendment, Curtailment
or Settlement

Long-term Interests in Associates
and Joint Ventures

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle

Amendments to HKAS 19
Amendments to HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRSs

Except as described below, the application of the new
and amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had
no material impact on the Group’s financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and/or on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.

HKFRS 16 Leases

The Group has applied HKFRS 16 for the first time in the
current year. HKFRS 16 superseded HKAS 17 Leases (“HKAS
17"), and the related interpretations.

Definition of a lease

The Group has elected the practical expedient to apply HKFRS
16 to contracts that were previously identified as leases
applying HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 Determining whether
an Arrangement contains a Lease and not apply this standard
to contracts that were not previously identified as containing a
lease. Therefore, the Group has not reassessed contracts which
already existed prior to the date of initial application.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after 1 January
2019, the Group applies the definition of a lease in accordance
with the requirements set out in HKFRS 16 in assessing
whether a contract contains a lease.

P& PR ¥ 5] R ARAE 5T & 78 B A% 3R
HEA(FRMBREER])

RN B8 I A U2 # /] RARIERT
FRMBREER

RAFE  AEEHFRERATHE
AR AE ([HEEGFMAE]) R
QZ%EET%?’%EH%%&%Z%EU&@}ET

BB BIwEEA HE

2165

A5 (BRGHRE  FEHEEN
REZES) THEE M
—REE23R

BEMTSRE £ BB aRENR
F9% (BATA) B

BEEERFE19% BT SR
(BRTA) 7E

BECERNFE8E RBERRRAE
(1ERTA) ¥y RERES

BB BRE 2R BB RSN
CHES 2015 E20174F

BENFESCE

BT ES RAFEERRAER
BRI R 2 # AT MIER] A B A&
BNAFEE MBEFE 2 BARR K
RAR/ RZEHEE BRI
ZHEBRUEBRNEATE -

BB SRR E 165 T

7R B AR BRI B
FARAF 165 - BB WS ER
F16RMR BB G ERIE17HA
& (BB RDEAE17%)) RARER
e

HERTEE
AEEDEERITEEE - WA
ERE B ERIFE175 REE (B
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R E XA ERAIEFENS
#J o

FH2019F 1 A1 Bk 2 AT LS AERT
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BEHERREFEMBREELE
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NOTES 7O THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #x a1 75 7 777
For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ 22019412 A31HILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are Mandatorily
Effective for the Current Year (Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

As a lessee

The Group has applied HKFRS 16 retrospectively with the
cumulative effect recognised at the date of initial application, 1
January 2019.

As at 1 January 2019, the Group recognised additional lease
liabilities and right-of-use assets at amounts equal to the related
lease liabilities by applying HKFRS 16.C8(b)(ii) transition. Any
difference at the date of initial application is recognised in the
opening retained profits and comparative information has not
been restated.

When applying the modified retrospective approach under
HKFRS 16 at transition, the Group applied the following
practical expedients to leases previously classified as operating
leases under HKAS 17, on lease-by-lease basis, to the extent
relevant to the respective lease contracts:

relied on the assessment of whether leases are onerous by
applying HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets as an alternative of impairment review;

i. elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities for leases with lease term ends within 12 months
of the date of initial application;

iii. excluded initial direct costs from measuring the right-of-
use assets at the date of initial application;

iv. applied a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with
a similar remaining terms for similar class of underlying
assets in similar economic environment. Specifically,
discount rate for certain leases of buildings, machinery
and equipment in the PRC was determined on a portfolio
basis; and

v. used hindsight based on facts and circumstances as at
date of initial application in determinination options.

When recognising the lease liabilities for leases previously
classified as operating leases, the Group has applied
incremental borrowing rates of the relevant group entities at the
date of initial application. The weighted average incremental
borrowing rate applied is 4.3%.

CHINA FOODS LIMITED
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NOTES 7O THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #x & 21 757 17:7
For the year ended 31 December 2019 22019412 A31HILFE

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are Mandatorily
Effective for the Current Year (Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

3. BRI REER BRI R
%%Eﬂ(réiﬁﬂﬁﬁiﬁ%ﬁﬂﬂj)

RS £ B 58 15 A Rz T R] RARAEET
EFRMBREER ()

BB B EREI6RHE (B)
TEREN ()

At 1 January

Note 2019
R20195F
Bk 1A1H
RMB’000
ARBT T
Operating lease commitments disclosed as 72018512 A31 HFEEH
at 31 December 2018 L E A 80,911
Lease liabilities discounted at relevant RIERE S EREITIRG
incremental borrowing rates HEAE 67,205
Add: Lease liabilities resulting from lease 0 BRIREHEREER
modifications of existing leases HEBE (a) 3,963
Recognition of lease liabilities HEBENER 20,011
Less: Recognition exemption-short-term B RN —RHEE
leases 32,954
Recognition exemption-low value assets ERHE—RKEBEE 41
Lease liabilities upon application of R2019F1 A1 HEREEIE
HKFRS16 as at 1 January 2019 R ERIF 1657 ERE
HEBE 58,184
Analysed as DT
Current VL) 18,806
Non-current IERE 39,378
58,184

(a) The Group renewed the leases by entering into new lease
contracts which commence after date of initial application,
these new contracts are accounted as lease modifications
of the existing contracts upon application of HKFRS 16.

(a) AEBERIKERRBRRBEBET
VHEEANERELN  %E
e AT BN BREELF
IS ARERSEBRNNHEER
&l e
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NOTES 7O THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #x a1 75 7 777
For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ 22019412 A31HILFE

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are Mandatorily
Effective for the Current Year (Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

The carrying amount of right-of-use assets for own use as at 1
January 2019 comprises the following:

FER T R] RAER] BB K|
ﬁfﬂﬂ(rﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬁ%ﬁﬁﬂl)
IIE

RN EE IR I A B2 # /] RARIER]
BFRVBEHREER ()
BB B ERF IR HE (&)
TERATN ()
ERAREEN2019F1AIHNERES
BEE TSR :

Right-of-use
Note assets
k=3 FREEE
RMB’000
AR¥T T
Right-of-use assets relating to operating leases 7 & Fi &6 B1 #5 #R &5 42 B 55 1657
recognised upon application of HKFRS 16 RE A LT EABRARY i
BE 58,184
Reclassified from prepaid lease payments WENHEREREFHLE (b) 544,566
602,750

(b) Upfront payments for leasehold lands in the PRC for own
used properties were classified as prepaid lease payments
as at 31 December 2018. Upon application of HKFRS
16, the current and non-current portion of prepaid
lease payments amounting to RMB15,121,000 and
RMB529,445,000, respectively were reclassified to right-
of-use assets.

At the date of initial application, the adoption of HKFRS 16
leases has no impact to the retained earnings of the Group as
at 1 January 2019. The following adjustments were made to the
amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position at 1 January 2019. Line items that were not affected
by the changes have not been included.

CHINA FOODS LIMITED
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NOTES 7O THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #x & 21 757 17:7
For the year ended 31 December 2019 22019412 A31HILFE

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 3. BRI REETEBUBR

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING HEA([EBHBHREER])
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued) (#&)
New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are Mandatorily AN E RS 4 B2 FE] RA&IEET
Effective for the Current Year (Continued) EEAMBREED (&)
HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued) BB EERE 165 E (B)
As a lessee (Continued) TERETAN (4B)
Carrying Carrying
amounts amounts
previously under
reported at HKFRS 16 at
31 December 1 January
Note 2018 Adjustments 2019
20195
SRR 1A1R%&%B
2018%12A B R &2 Al
31HZHK E165RETH
Fy HREE FCE ik IREE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETTT ARETTT
Current Assets REBEE
Prepayments, deposits and HBNFE - e REHAM
other receivables FEMRIA (c) 566,129 (15,121) 551,008
Non-current Assets FREEE
Prepaid lease payments BNEEFIE (c) 529,445 (529,445) =
Right-of-use assets FREEE = 602,750 602,750
Current Liabilities mEAE
Lease liabilities HEaE - (18,806) (18,806)
Non-Current Liabilities FRBEE
Lease liabilities ME&RE - (39,378) (39,378)
(c) For the purpose of reporting cash flows from operating (©) 5@)5@536%0159%1_2)?31 E¢¢E§
activities under indirect method for the year ended 31 Fﬁﬁ%7fﬁi\gﬁéééf7§§b£’%@7"“§
December 2019, movements in working capital have m E%E}Eﬁiﬂ@@@*ﬁﬁ;#y
been computed based on opening statement of financial Eﬁ?}}?;‘gﬁ/\\\goklgilﬂ 18 HO B8
position as at 1 January 2019 as disclosed above. BARAREE ©

EPﬁuDuﬁEEz%E I 89
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NOTES 7O THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #x a1 75 7 777
For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ 22019412 A31HILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective

HKFRSs

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts!
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business?

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint
Venture?

Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of Material*

and HKAS 8

Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7 Reform#

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2021

2 Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions
for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning
of the first annual period beginning on or after 1 January
2020

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to
be determined

. Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2020

In addition to the above new and amendments to HKFRSs,
a revised Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting
was issued in 2018. Its consequential amendments, the
Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework
in HKFRS Standards, will be effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application
of all other new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no
material impact on the consolidated financial statements in the
foreseeable future.

CHINA FOODS LIMITED
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NOTES 7O THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #x & 21 757 17:7
For the year ended 31 December 2019 22019412 A31HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for certain properties that are
measured at fair values at the end of each reporting period, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within the scope
of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that
are accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16 (since 1
January 2019) or HKAS 17 (before application of HKFRS 16),
and measurements that have some similarities to fair value
but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2
Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments and investment properties which
are transacted at fair value and a valuation technique that
unobservable inputs is to be used to measure fair value in
subsequent periods, the valuation technique is calibrated so
that at initial recognition the results of the valuation technique
equals the transaction price.
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NOTES 7O THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #x a1 75 7 777
For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ 22019412 A31HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements
are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

e |evel 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

e level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

e has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss from
the date the Group gains control until the date when the Group
ceases to control the subsidiary.

CHINA FOODS LIMITED
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NOTES 7O THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #x & 21 757 17:7
For the year ended 31 December 2019 22019412 A31HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of Consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries
upon liquidation.

Business Combination

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business
combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated
as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to
the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree.
Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in profit or
loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that
deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognised and measured
in accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the
net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed as at acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the
net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred,
the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and
the fair value of the acquirer’'s previously held interest in the
acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit
or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the relevant
subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation are initially
measured at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share
of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets or at fair value.
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NOTES 7O THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #x a1 75 7 777
For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ 22019412 A31HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at
cost as established at the date of acquisition of the business
(see the accounting policy above) less accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or groups of cash-
generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, which represent the lowest level at which
the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes
and not larger than an operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently when there is indication that the
unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition
in a reporting period, the cash-generating unit (or group of
cash-generating units) to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment before the end of that reporting period.
If the recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or
group of cash-generating units).

The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an
associate is described as below.

Investments in Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is
not control or joint control over those policies.
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NOTES 7O THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #x & 21 757 17:7
For the year ended 31 December 2019 22019412 A31HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments in Associates (Continued)

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. The financial statements of
associates used for equity accounting purposes are prepared
using uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for
like transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under
the equity method, an investment in an associate is initially
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s
share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income
of the associate. Changes in net assets of the associate other
than profit or loss and other comprehensive income are not
accounted for unless such changes resulted in changes in
ownership interest held by the Group. When the Group’s
share of losses of an associate exceeds the Group’s interest
in that associate (which includes any long-term interests
that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in
the associate), the Group discontinues recognising its share
of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to
the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity
method from the date on which the investee becomes an
associate. On acquisition of the investment in an associate, any
excess of the cost of the investment over the Group’s share of
the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the
investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included within
the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the
Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities over the cost of the investment, after reassessment, is
recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in which
the investment is acquired.

The Group assess whether there is an objective evidence
that the interest in an associate may be impaired. When any
objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the
investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less
costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss
recognised is not allocated to any assets including goodwill,
that forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any
reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance
with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the
investment subsequently increases.
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NOTES 7O THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #x a1 75 7 777
For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ 22019412 A31HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments in Associates (Continued)

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group,
profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the
associate are recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements only to the extent of interests in the associate that
are not related to the Group.

Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following
criteria is met:

e the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

e the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

e the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred
to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed
for impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast,
a receivable represents the Group’s unconditional right to
consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due)
from the customer.
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NOTES 7O THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #x & 21 757 17:7
For the year ended 31 December 2019 22019412 A31HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Continued)
A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same
contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

Variable consideration

For contracts that contain variable consideration, such as
volume related discount, the Group estimates the amount
of consideration to which it will be entitled using either (a)
the expected value method or (b) the most likely amount,
depending on which method better predicts the amount of
consideration to which the Group will be entitled.

The estimated amount of variable consideration is included in
the transaction price only to the extent that it is highly probable
that such an inclusion will not result in a significant revenue
reversal in the future when the uncertainty associated with the
variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group updates the
estimated transaction price (including updating its assessment
of whether an estimate of variable consideration is constrained)
to represent faithfully the circumstances present at the end of
the reporting period and the changes in circumstances during
the reporting period.

Consideration payable to a customer

Consideration payable to a customer includes rebate for
promotional activities at customers’ location that the Group
pays, or expects to pay, to the customer. Consideration
payable to a customer also includes credit or other items
that can be applied against amounts owed to the Group. The
Group accounts for consideration payable to a customer as a
reduction of the transaction price and, therefore, of revenue as
the payment is not exchange for distinct good or service that
the customer transfers to the Group. The Group recognises
such reduction of revenue when (or as) the later of either of the
following events occurs: (a) the Group recognises revenue for
the transfer of the related goods or services to the customer;
and (b) the Group pays or promises to pay the consideration
(even if the payment is conditional on a future event).
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NOTES 7O THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #x a1 75 7 777
For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ 22019412 A31HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases

Definition of a lease (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in note 3)

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time
in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of
initial application, the Group assesses whether a contract is or
contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at
inception, modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate.
Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and
conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in note 3)

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases of machinery and equipment that have a lease term
of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do
not contain a purchase option. It also applies the recognition
exemption for lease of low-value assets. Lease payments on
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised
as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

e the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

e any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received;

e any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

e an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets, restoring
the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying
asset to the condition required by the terms and
conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities. Right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its
estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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NOTES 7O THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #x & 21 757 17:7
For the year ended 31 December 2019 22019412 A31HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in note 3) (Continued)

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS
9 Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9”) and initially measured
at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments and included in the
cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of
lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating
the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if
the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

e fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable;

e variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

e amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees; and

e the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise the option;

e payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate
the lease.

Variable lease payments that reflect changes in market rental
rates are initially measured using the market rental rates as
at the commencement date. Variable lease payments that
do not depend on an index or a rate are not included in the
measurement of lease liabilities and right-of-use assets, and
are recognised as expense in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers the payment occurs.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.
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NOTES 7O THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #x a1 75 7 777
For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ 22019412 A31HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in note 3) (Continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)
whenever:

e the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the date of reassessment.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease modifications
The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate
lease if:

e the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;
and

e the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase
in scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-
alone price to reflect the circumstances of the particular
contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate
lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the
lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the effective
date of the modification.

The Group as a lessee (prior to 1 January 2019)

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

Operating lease payments, including the cost of acquiring land
held under operating leases, are recognised as an expense on
a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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NOTES 7O THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #x & 21 757 17:7
For the year ended 31 December 2019 22019412 A31HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign Currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised
at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value
that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

Borrowing Costs
All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they are incurred.

Government Grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants
are intended to compensate. Specifically, government grants
whose primary condition is that the Group should purchase,
construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets are
recognised as deferred income in the consolidated statement
of financial position and transferred to profit or loss on a
systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the related
assets.

Retirement Benefit Costs

Payments to state-managed defined contribution retirement
benefit schemes/the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions.
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NOTES 7O THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #x a1 75 7 777
For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ 22019412 A31HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Short-term and Other Long-term Employee Benefits
Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit
in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after
deducting any amount already paid.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term employee
benefits are measured at the present value of the estimated
future cash outflows expected to be made by the Group in
respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting
date. Any changes in the liabilities’ carrying amounts resulting
from service cost, interest and remeasurements are recognised
in profit or loss except to the extent that another HKFRS
requires or permits their inclusion in the cost of an asset.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit before tax because of income
or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability
for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in
the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition of assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill.

CHINA FOODS LIMITED
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NOTES 7O THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #x & 21 757 17:7
For the year ended 31 December 2019 22019412 A31HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments and interests are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will
be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits
of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse
in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purpose of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the
carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be
recovered entirely through sales.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to the
right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 Income Taxes requirements to the leasing transaction as
a whole. Temporary differences relating to right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities are assessed on a net basis. Excess of
depreciation on right-of-use assets over the lease payments
for the principal portion of lease liabilities resulting in net
deductible temporary differences.
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NOTES 7O THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #x a1 75 7 777
For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ 22019412 A31HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied to the same taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss. Where
current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting
for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the
accounting for the business combination.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held
for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes. Property, plant and equipment are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Properties in the course of construction for production,
supply or administrative purposes are carried at cost, less any
recognised impairment loss. Costs include any costs directly
attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner
intended by management. Depreciation of these assets, on the
same basis as other property assets, commences when the
assets are ready for their intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets
other than properties under construction less their residual
values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-
line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and
depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted
for on a prospective basis. The annual rates of depreciation are
as follows:

Buildings 2% 10 18%
Plants, machinery and equipment 6% t0 33.3%

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to
arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on the disposal or retirement of property, plant and equipment is
determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or
loss.
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NOTES 7O THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #x & 21 757 17:7
For the year ended 31 December 2019 22019412 A31HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investment Properties
Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or
for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at their fair
values. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value
of investment properties are included in profit or loss for the
period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected from
its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of
the property (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is
included in profit or loss in the period in which the property is
derecognised.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are
recognised separately from goodwill and are initially recognised
at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as
their cost).

Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is
recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful
lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation method
are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the
effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a
prospective basis. Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination with indefinite useful lives are coined at cost less
any subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no
future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised
in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.
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NOTES 7O THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #x a1 75 7 777
For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ 22019412 A31HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment on Property, Plant and Equipment, Right-
of-use Assets and Intangible Assets other than Goodwill
At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and intangible assets with finite useful lives to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated
in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if
any). Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested
for impairment at least annually, and whenever there is an
indication that they may be impaired.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets are estimated
individually, when it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount individually, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In addition, the Group assesses whether there is indication that
corporate assets may be impaired. If such indication exists,
corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating
units, when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can
be identified, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the estimates
of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or
portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a
reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-generating unit,
the Group compares the carrying amount of a group of cash-
generating units, including the carrying amounts of the
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to that
group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable amount of
the group of cash-generating units.
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NOTES 7O THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #x & 21 757 17:7
For the year ended 31 December 2019 22019412 A31HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are determined on a weighted
average method. Net realisable value represents the estimated
selling price for inventories less all estimated costs of
completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

Financial Instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the market
place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance
with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities are added to or deducted from the fair value of the
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and
of allocating interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.
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NOTES 7O THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #x a1 75 7 777
For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ 22019412 A31HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial Instruments (Continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”):

° the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both selling and collecting
contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at fair
value through profit or loss.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset.

Debt instruments classified as at FVTOCI

Subsequent changes in the carrying amounts for debt
instruments classified as at FVTOCI as a result of interest
income calculated using the effective interest method are
recognised in profit or loss. All other changes in the carrying
amount of these debt instruments are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated under the heading of
FVTOCI reserve. Impairment allowances are recognised in profit
or loss with corresponding adjustment to other comprehensive
income without reducing the carrying amounts of these debt
instruments. When these debt instruments are derecognised,
the cumulative gains or losses previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.
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NOTES 7O THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #x & 21 757 17:7
For the year ended 31 December 2019 22019412 A31HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial Instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets (including
accounts receivables, other receivables, due from related
parties, debt instrument at FVTOCI, pledged bank deposits and
bank balances) which are subject to impairment under HKFRS
9. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to
reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents the portion
of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events
that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessment are done based on the Group’s historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of
both the current conditions at the reporting date as well as the
forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for accounts
receivables. The ECL on these assets are assessed collectively
using a provision matrix with appropriate groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether
lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making
this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.
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NOTES 7O THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #x a1 75 7 777
For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ 22019412 A31HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial Instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

° significant deterioration in external market indicators of
credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread,
the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

° existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

° an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit
risk on a debt instrument has not increased significantly since
initial recognition if the debt instrument is determined to
have low credit risk at the reporting date. A debt instrument
is determined to have low credit risk if i) it has a low risk of
default, ii) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and iii)
adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of
the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. The
Group considers a debt instrument to have low credit risk when
it has an internal or external credit rating of ‘investment grade’
as per globally understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the
criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in credit
risk before the amount becomes past due.
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NOTES 7O THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #x & 21 757 17:7
For the year ended 31 December 2019 22019412 A31HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial Instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an
event of default occurs when information developed internally
or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without
taking into account any collaterals held by the Group).

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;
° a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

° the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty,
having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the
lender(s) would not otherwise consider;

o it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

° the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example,
when the counterparty has been placed under liquidation or
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets
written off may still be subject to enforcement activities
under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a
derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised
in profit or loss.
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NOTES 7O THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #x a1 75 7 777
For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ 22019412 A31HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial Instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if
there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment
of the probability of default and loss given default is based
on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information.
Estimation of ECL effects on unbiased and probability-weighted
amount that is determined with the respective risks of default
occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is estimated as the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined at
initial recognition.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for cases
where evidence at the individual instrument level may not yet
be available, the financial instruments are grouped on the
basis:

o Nature of financial instruments;

e  Ageing;

° Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
e  External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure
the constituents of each group continue to share similar credit
risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit
impaired, in which case interest income is calculated based on
amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their
carrying amount with exception of accounts receivables,
other receivables and due from related parties where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss
allowance account.
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NOTES 7O THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #x & 21 757 17:7
For the year ended 31 December 2019 22019412 A31HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial Instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liability and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liability
All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including accounts and bills payables, other
payables and accruals, borrowings and amounts due to related
parties are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when and only
when the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liabilities derecognised and the consideration paid or
payable is recognised in profit and loss.

Offsetting a financial asset and a financial liability

A financial asset and a financial liability are offset and the net
amount presented in the statement of financial position when,
and only when, the Group currently has a legally enforceable
right to set off the recognised amounts; and intends either
to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously.
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NOTES 7O THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #x a1 75 7 777
For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ 22019412 A31HILFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND KEY
SOUCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINLY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in note 4, the Directors are required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that may have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Impairment assessment of franchise rights and goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill and franchise rights
with indefinite useful life is impaired at least on an annual
basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use of the
cash-generating units to which goodwill and the franchise rights
with indefinite useful life is allocated. Estimating the value in use
requires the Group to make an estimate of the budgeted gross
margins from the cash-generating unit and also to choose a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value
of those cash flows. The carrying amount of goodwill and
franchise rights with indefinite useful life at 31 December
2019 was RMB3,506,274,000 (2018: RMB3,506,274,000).
More details are given in note 20 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #7 & 41 #7775

For the year ended 31 December 2019 22019412 A31HILFE

6. REVENUE 6. WA
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with EFEHBADE
customers
Year ended Year ended
31/12/2019 31/12/2018
BZ2019% EHZE2018%F
12A31HILEE 12A318IEFE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T ARET T
Types of goods [k R
Sparkling drinks Ak 12,621,050 11,427,782
Juices 921 2,269,742 2,255,625
Water KamEE 1,507,733 1,319,519
Others E 773,502 645,125
Total et 17,172,027 15,648,051
Timing of revenue recognition AL NS
A point in time (BRI 24 17,172,027 15,648,051

The Group sells sparkling and still beverage products to its
customers, revenue is recognised when control of the goods
has transferred, being when the goods have been delivered
to the customer’s specific location. Following delivery, the
customer has full discretion over the manner of distribution
and price to sell the goods, has the primary responsibility on
selling the goods and bears the risks of obsolescence and loss
in relation to the goods. Payment in advance or payment on
delivery is typically required from customers, except for certain
customers granted with credit term ranging from 7 to 90 days
upon delivery.

All of the Group’s contracts for sale of goods are for periods of
one year or less, as permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction
price allocated to unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.
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NOTES 7O THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #x a1 75 7 777
For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ 22019412 A31HILFE

OPERATING SEGMENT

The Group’s revenue and consolidated results are mainly
derived from processing, bottling and distribution of sparkling
and still beverages, which is regarded as a single operating
segment in a manner consistent with the nature of the
products and production process, the types of customers for
their products, the methods used to distribute their products,
and the nature of the regulatory environment. Accordingly, no
segment information is presented.

Geographical information

All revenue of the continuing operation of the Group is derived
from customers operating in Mainland China and over 90%
of the Group’s non-current assets, other than deferred tax
assets, are situated in Mainland China, hence no geographical
information is presented in accordance with HKFRS 8
Operating Segments.

Information about major customers

During the current year, there was no revenue derived from
a single customer which accounted for 10% or more of the
Group’s revenue (2018: Nil).
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8. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

An analysis of other income and gains from the continuing

8. HibW AR Wz
FEREXBEMBA RIS DT

NOTES 7O THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #x & 21 757 17:7
For the year ended 31 December 2019 22019412 A31HILFE

operation is as follows: (N
Year ended Year ended
31/12/2019 31/12/2018
BZ2019% EHZE2018%F
12A31B1EFE 12A31HILFE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREFIT
Other income A
Government grants (note 1) BT B (BsED) 79,790 93,501
Sale of by-products and scrap items SHERIEMNRERIRE 23,064 23,831
Processing services DT ARTE 22,032 23,286
Bank interest income RITHI B A 5,100 5,023
Compensation income (note 2) AEWA (izE2) = 52,933
Others Hith 23,652 25,710
153,638 224,284
Gains s
Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets HEFREEER
and property, plant and equipment Y - RE MR
(note 3) Wezs (FEE3) 75,194 4,353
228,832 228,637
Note 1:Various government grants were granted for investments in FMizEL - $%Eﬁ%?§%’?lﬁﬂllﬁﬁﬁﬂ * F
certain provinces in Mainland China in which the Company’s TR E AN 7MY B 1 R AR B A A
subsidiaries operate. Government grants for which related ZH Wﬂtﬁ?%fﬁ o BUR 5 B
expenditure has not yet been undertaken are included in HENRERSTHE S BIBEE
deferred income (non-current portion) and other payables ﬁé%ﬁ%ﬂﬁﬁi‘%‘? HOIRIEYA (FF
and accruals (current portion) in the consolidated statement Eﬂﬁﬂﬁﬂﬁ)&ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬂlﬁ\&%ﬁ
of financial position, respectively. There are no unfulfilled B & (BIAEDD) A - BB
conditions or contingencies relating to these grants. EAMEREE 2GS ES
I8 o
Note 2:Compensation income in 2018 represents amount received MizE2 : 2018FMEM AIER RETE £ 8
from the holding company of non-controlling shareholder of the FERE ST IR A Rl PR AR A R
Company for system related expenses incurred. IR A RIRIFIE ©
Note 3:During the year, COFCO Coca-Cola Huazhong Beverages M3E3 . RAEE - FIREAI QAT 4R R

Limited disposed of its right-of-use assets and property,
plant and equipment in relation to its old factory at a gain of
RMB63,686,000.
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NOTES 7O THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #x a1 75 7 777
For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ 22019412 A31HILFE

9. FINANCE COSTS 9. EERA
Year ended Year ended
31/12/2019 31/12/2018
BZ2019%F HZE2018%F
12A31HLFEE 128315 IFFE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T ARETIT
Interest on bank loans RITERZHE 50,823 74,835
Interest on lease liabilities HEBBEZHE 2,800 =
Other Hi 3 -
53,626 74,835
/e
10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 10. FREHLRAX
Year ended Year ended
31/12/2019 31/12/2018
HZE20195 EZE20184F
12A31ALLFE 12A318LFE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T ARET T
Current tax BNHARS 18
PRC enterprise income tax AR TS 190,831 213,295
Under/(over) provision in prior years BEFEBRETR
(EBRaREtE)
PRC enterprise income tax R FFTISH 3,595 (1,083)
Deferred tax RIS TIR
Current year EREE 42,347 (50,422)
236,773 161,790

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed
The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill”)
which introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The Bill
was signed into law on 28 March 2018 and was gazetted on
the following day. Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime,
the first HKD2 million of profits of the qualifying group entity
will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HKD2 million will be
taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities not qualifying for
the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed
at a flat rate of 16.5%.

The Directors considered the amount involved upon
implementation of the two-tiered profits tax rates regime
as insignificant to the consolidated financial statements.
Accordingly, the Hong Kong profits tax is calculated at 8.25%
on the first HKD2 million of the estimated assessable profits
and at 16.5% on the estimated assessable profits above HKD2
million.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #7 & 41 #7775

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 22019412 A31HILFE

10. Fr{E%iBA < (&)

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Enterprise
Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation
of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for
both years.

Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated
at the rates of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the
Group operates.

Pursuant to the approvals issued by the State Administration
of Taxation of the PRC in 2013, the Company and certain of
its subsidiaries are regarded as Chinese Resident Enterprises
(collectively the “CREs”) and relevant enterprise income tax
policies of the PRC are applicable to the CREs commencing
from 1 January 2013.

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit
before tax per consolidate statement of profit or loss as follows:

RIBHECEMETOE (EEMEH
R RIEERFBOEAE RS - E
MEBARERAPEERMAFRERF
1 7325% e

{8 B 1300 T8 B FE SR B2 ) B R A
£ )10 4 E TP 1T BLEE BB AT 1T
ZBATREE ERE o

RIF2013F P BEBERBBKEBE L
ZHX - NRARETH B R BR
BRTFEEREEHHEIFEERE
%) TEMEREEMEHBKA
2013F1AIBEERRPEERD
o,

AEFIAS A R BERER TR
BADE MR —2 - TR

Year ended 31/12/2019 Year ended 31/12/2018
BZ2019F12831HIEFE #EHZE2018F12A3181EFE

RMB’000 % RMB’000 %
AR¥T T ARET T

Profit before tax BREL AR ) 1,012,609 738,155
Tax at the statutory tax rates 1WA ER RTE 2 FiA 253,152 25.0 184,539 25.0
Income tax at concessionary ~ ZERHERAE 2

rate Fig®i - - (4,346) (0.6)
Tax effect of share of profits of ~ DMEHEE DRG] 2

associates HETE (10,258) (1.0) (11,042) (1.5)
Tax effect of income not AR 2 T

taxable for tax purpose 4 (13,448) (1.3) (14,656) (2.0)
Tax effect of expenses not NAHIRE R 2 %

deductible for tax purpose e 2,095 0.2 1,821 0.2
Under/(over) provision in BEFERETR

respect of prior year (tBEEAE) 3,595 0.4 (1,083) 0.1)
Adjustments of deferred tax ~ BEHMIELERE 2

of previous periods EEES - = 11,161 1.5
Utilisation of tax losses BRI ARTER

previously not recognised FiIEEE (3,746) (0.4) (6,345) (0.9)
Tax losses not recognised REERHIE 5,383 0.5 1,741 0.2
Income tax expenses and REEMEHE R

effective tax rate for the year ~ BERFi R 236,773 23.4 161,790 21.8

The share of tax attributable to associates amounting to
RMB10,258,000 (2018: RMB11,042,000) is included in
“Share of profits of associates” in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss.
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NOTES 7O THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #x a1 75 7 777
For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ 22019412 A31HILFE

11. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 11. FRER
Profit for the year has been arrived at after charging/(crediting): FAREFITDEMBR, GEA) AT EIE
BER
Year ended Year ended
31/12/2019 31/12/2018
HZE2019% EZE20184F
12831 HILFE 12A318 15 E
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T AR¥ET T
(a) Cost of sales (a) SHERA
Cost of inventories sold EHFEERA 10,866,176 10,082,052
Provision against inventories GFERE 31,878 24,688
10,898,054 10,106,740
(b) Other items (b) HMIER
Depreciation of property, plant and M - BB MR
equipment e 399,204 414,843
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 39,697 =
Amortisation of prepaid lease TEff LB EFRIE
payments #iE - 15,121
Total depreciation and amortisation e REBHRRE 438,901 429,964
Capitalised in inventories FEERL (22,898) (25,240)
416,003 404,724
Employee benefit expense, including EERAFAL (B
directors’ and chief executive’s EEZRERTH
remuneration N=E:d)
Wages and salaries TERF® 1,938,730 1,652,192
Pension schemes contributions RN EIE R 243,514 230,423
Total 4t 2,182,244 1,882,615
Auditor’s remuneration 12 25 R 357 B 2,342 1,887
Impairment of property, plant and Y% - BB MR A
equipment EE 46,515 38,181
Impairment of receivables R FIE R (E 2,440 2,568

" 7@ CHINA FOODS LIMITED
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NOTES 7O THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #x & 21 757 17:7
For the year ended 31 December 2019 22019412 A31HILFE

12.DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 12. EERERITHRAEME
EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ and chief executive’s remunerations for the year, RiE#EA EmAER A A 1%15'@%&%2
disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and REBESERERITHRAEHSET]
Companies Ordinance, is as follows: m
(a) Executive Directors (a) BITESE
Ms.Luan Xiuju Mr.Shen Peng Total
SFEHL L MR EE @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFTT AREFTT AREFTT
2019 20194
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ¥4 + ZBE R EWFIZE 1,574 785 2,359
Discretionary bonuses BIBIEAL 1,636 486 2,122
Pension schemes contributions RIRGTEMR 477 269 746
3,687 1,540 5,227
2018 20184
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind %4 2B REMH 1,559 550 2,109
Discretionary bonuses @’JI%?E 1,706 570 2,276
Pension schemes contributions RIRFT IR 125 125 250
3,390 1,245 4,635
The executive director's emoluments shown above were Fili#TTEEMES AEEEEN
for their services in connection with the management of NAIEAREBEEEABNREX
the affairs of the Company and the Group. FZEE
(b) Non-Executive Directors (b) FEHITESE
Mr. Mr. Mr. Mr. Ms. Xiao
Chen Lang! Yu Xubo?>  Ma Jianping3 Qin Yelong Jianping Total
REAGE! THREE? BEFPEE EFEELE HEYZ: @t

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETR AR®TE ARBTRT ARETT ARETR

2019 20194 - - = = - _
2018 20185 - - - - - -
1 Mr. Chen Lang was appointed as a non-executive director : 5%%ﬂﬁ$§§§fﬁ%$@ﬂ#$ﬂ
of the Company with effect from 26 April 2019. ﬁ%$ " H2019F4H26H
R o
2 Mr. Yu Xubo was appointed as a non-executive director 2 ?ﬂﬂ?&?_ﬁif‘ﬁiﬁ%%@ci%$@
of the Company with effect from 4 January 2019, and ET?E%MT%% ' B2019%174
resigned as a non-executive director of the Company with Ejﬁi@l  WEHEAR R FZEH
effect from 26 April 2019. h%$ © 201944 H26H i
R o
E Mr. Ma Jianping resigned as a non-executive director of the 3 lﬁﬁi%ﬁiﬁﬂﬂiﬁﬂiﬁﬂﬁﬁ
Company with effect from 4 January 2019. = B2019F1 B4B AR
The non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above i?ﬁ#iﬁﬁ%?@ﬂiﬁﬁfﬁ’ﬁtﬁ
were for their services as directors of the Company or its RAalSHME AR ZEERER
subsidiaries. B2 ME o

R e (]
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NOTES 7O THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #x a1 75 7 777
For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ 22019412 A31HILFE

12.DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(c)

Independent Non-executive Directors

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors
during the year were as follows:

12. EERERITRAEME ()

(c) BAKHITES

REREMNBIIERITES 248
SEIIAT :

Mr. Stephen Mr. Li Hung Mr. Mok Wai

Edward Clark Kwan, Alfred Bun, Ben Total

wABERE FHREEE BEREE @t

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARETTT ARBET T ARETT
2019 2019%

Fees e 365 365 365 1,095
2018 2018%

Fees e 320 320 320 960

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments
shown above were for their services as directors of the
Company.

There was no arrangement under which a director
or the chief executive waives or agreed to waive any
remuneration during the year. There was no compensation
for the loss of office as a director in connection with the
management of the affairs of any member of the Group.

Certain executive directors of the Company are entitled
to bonus payments which are determined in relation
to revenue growth, profit, market share, and quality
measures.

CHINA FOODS LIMITED
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NOTES 7O THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #x & 21 757 17:7
For the year ended 31 December 2019 22019412 A31HILFE

13. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 13. EEBRaHFM2EE
The five highest paid employees of the Group during the FRNASEREERTH ES - 8
year included one director (2018: two), details of whose E—REE(2018%F : MA) @ HEi&
remuneration are set out in note 12 above. Details of the FIEHN EXXHIFEL2 - R HERMY
remuneration for the year of the remaining four (2018: three) #2018 : =R) ZEFMZIEERD
highest paid employees who are neither a director nor chief AEEHEFRNTEEEZFENS
executive of the Company are as follows: HH T -
Year ended Year ended
31/12/2019 31/12/2018
BZE2019%F HZE20184%F
12A318LFE 12A31HIEFE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ~ ¥& - 2B R EWAZE 6,136 4.602
Discretionary bonuses EIIBIEAT 4,082 3,392
Pension scheme contributions RIRETEIHER 1,677 306
11,895 8,300
The number of the highest paid employees who are not the e MEE GEES) 2EFMNRT
Directors whose remuneration fell within the following bands is FIAE R 2 ABHAT
as follows:
2019 2018
20194 20184
No. of employees  No. of employees
EE#E EEEE
HKD3,000,000 to HKD3,500,000 3,000,000/ 7t £3,500,000/& 7T 2 3
HKD3,500,001 to HKD4,000,000 3,500,001 yt. 4,000,000/ 7T 2 -
4 3
FERMRERAT
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NOTES 7O THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #x a1 75 7 777
For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ 22019412 A31HILFE

14. DIVIDENDS 14. RE
Year ended Year ended
31/12/2019 31/12/2018
HZE2019%F HZE2018%F
12A31HFE 12H318EFE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T ARBT T

Dividends for ordinary shareholders of REEFERBDIKA
the Company recognised as distribution ~ ANA &) E B ER 2
during the year ARE

2018 final — HK3.9 cents (2018: final 2018F R HA — AR E AR
dividend of HK2.4 cents in respect of 3.9l (2018%F : B
the year ended 31 December 2017) per #Z=2017412A31H 1+

ordinary share FERHARE2.4500) 96,234 58,452
Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, a final dividend R|ERE  EEZCEBREEH
in respect of the year ended 31 December 2019 of HKD4.8 #HZ=2019F12A31 H I & [E 2 REIR%
cents (2018: HKD3.9 cents) per ordinary share, in an aggregate BERTEIR4.8BI(20184F : 3.9
amount of HKD134,267,000, equivalent to RMB123,078,000 BA) - A4 %EA134,267,000/8 7T
(2018: HKD109,092,000, equivalent to RMB96,234,000), has HERARE123,078,0007T (2018
been proposed by the Directors and is subject to approval by F 1 109,092,000/8 7T (FHE R AR
the shareholders in the forthcoming general meeting. 96,234,0007T) B FRENEERITARER K

g EEREAE -
15. EARNINGS PER SHARE 15. BRR &R
The calculation of basic earnings per share attributable to the KRR ANEEERERBF <5
owners of the Company is based on the following data: ETHER AT EUE ¢
Earnings figures are calculated as follows: BRERTIIEA T SIEE
Year ended Year ended
31/12/2019 31/12/2018
HZE2019%F EZ=2018%F
12A31ALFE 12A31BLFE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETIT
Profit for the year attributable to owners ~ ANQ BB AEGER
of the Company il 417,789 320,858
Number of shares & e B
Weighted average number of ordinary R EEBREARARF

shares for the purpose of basic AR ANRE

earnings per share 2,797,223,396 2,797,223,396
No diluted earnings per share for both 2019 and 2018 were 20194 K201 8F I £ B 21T £
presented as there are no potential ordinary shares in issue for TR BUR20194F 2018 F WS
both 2019 and 2018. SRR ESE RN -

W 74 CHINA FOODS LIMITED
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NOTES 7O THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #x & 21 757 17:7
For the year ended 31 December 2019 22019412 A31HILFE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. % - MEKRXE
Plant,
machinery
and Construction
Buildings  equipment in progress Total
BB - Hm
BF B FEEIR fasT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARETRT
COST 2%
At 1 January 2018 20181 H1H 2,207,777 4,342,318 50,799 6,600,894
Additions NE 77,930 240,185 371,453 689,568
Disposals HE (23599)  (322,351) - (345,950)
Reclassification EX b 194,457 40,824 (235,281) -
At 31 December 2018 7201812 A31H 2,456,565 4,300,976 186,971 6,944,512
Additions NE 23,246 424,199 254,114 701,559
Disposals o5 (72,582) (508,802) - (581,384)
Reclassification EX b 75,156 216,200 (291,356) =
At 31 December 2019 72019412 A31H 2,482,385 4,432,573 149,729 7,064,687
DEPRECIATION AND WERBE
IMPAIRMENT
At 1 January 2018 M2018F1H1H 509,626 1,433,231 - 1,942,857
Provided for the year FREE 93,951 320,892 - 414,843
Impairment loss recognised RE=ERN R ERE
in profit or loss 4,468 33,713 - 38,181
Eliminated on disposals A ERZSE (21,980)  (315,923) = (337,903)
At 31 December 2018 7201812 A31H 586,065 1,471,913 - 2,057,978
Provided for the year FREE 87,198 312,006 - 399,204
Impairment loss recognised RE@ERRNRERE
in profit or loss 1,602 44913 - 46,515
Eliminated on disposals A BRIz (46,042)  (455,649) - (501,691)
At 31 December 2019 $2019%12A31H 628,823 1,373,183 _ 2,002,006
CARRYING VALUES BREE
At 31 December 2019 72019412 A31H 1,853,562 3,059,390 149,729 5,062,681
At 31 December 2018 201812 A31H 1,870,500 2,829,063 186,971 4,886,534

An impairment of RMB46,515,000 (2018: RMB38,181,000)
was recognised for certain property, plant and equipment with
an aggregate carrying amount of RMB46,515,000 (2018:
RMB38,181,000) during the year because those property,

plant and equipment had been dormant and/or obsolete.

At 31 December 2019, certificates of ownership of all buildings
of the Group in Mainland China had been issued by the
relevant PRC authorities. At 31 December 2018, certificates of
ownership of building of the Group in Mainland China with an
aggregate net carrying amount of RMB276,738,000 had not
been issued by the relevant PRC authorities.

AARXFANETYE  BEAREEL
BERSNEEZ  WEREREEATAA
R#46,515,0007T (20184 : AR
38,181,00070) MZEWE - BE &
BEREARAANREA46,515,0007T (2018
& ARM38,181,0007T) HE(E ©

2019612 H31 R - AEERHEA
MR A ST B AR T B R
FrBE#EwE - 2018512 A31H - BRE
FEEHARK276,738,0007HIE T
%?‘ré%ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁqﬂ%%%.ﬂjﬁﬁﬁ%

= o
R
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NOTES 7O THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #x a1 75 7 777
For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ 22019412 A31HILFE

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 17. FRAREE
Leasehold Leased Office
land property  Machinery  equipment Total
METH  HEWE I YN Bt

RMBO0O ~ RMB000  RMBOOO ~ RMB'000  RMB'00O
ARBTE ARBTR ARBTT ARBTT ARETE

At 1 January 2019 R201961A18
Carrying amount REE 544,566 34,677 20,011 3,496 602,750
As at 31 December 2019 R2019%F12A31H
Carrying amount REE 526,287 77,354 16,809 1,643 622,093
Depreciation charge for the year HZE2019F12H31H

ended 31 December 2019 IFFEEREL N 15,105 19,537 3,202 1,853 39,697
Expense relating to short-term BERERHENRY

leases 70,211

FRHEREREENH

Expense relating to leases

of low-value assets 53 18
Total cash outflow for leases HERSRL A% 98,238
Additions to right-of-use assets NEFRAEEE 62,214

1760

For both years, the Group leases various warehouses and
equipment for its operations. Lease contracts are entered into
for fixed term of 6 months to 10 years, but may have extension
and termination options. Lease terms are negotiated on an
individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms
and conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing
the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the
definition of a contract and determines the period for which the
contract is enforceable.

In addition, the Group owns several industrial buildings where
its manufacturing facilities are primarily located and office
buildings. The Group is the registered owner of these property
interests, including the underlying leasehold lands. Lump
sum payments were made upfront to acquire these property
interests.

The Group has obtained the land use right certificates for all
leasehold lands.

CHINA FOODS LIMITED
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NOTES 7O THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #x & 21 757 17:7
For the year ended 31 December 2019 22019412 A31HILFE

18. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS 18. Lt HEKIE

2018
20184
RMB’000
ARET T
Carrying amount at 1 January R1A1B ZEREE 559,687
Provided for the year FANEE (15,121)
Carrying amount at 31 December R12A318 ZBRmEE 544,566

Current asset included in prepayments, STATERMFIA © e REMEIGRIE
deposits and other receivables ZMENEE 15,121
Non-current asset ERBNEE 529,445
544 566

19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 19. REWHE
RMB’000
ARETTT
FAIR VALUE NIE

At 1 January 2018 and 31 December 2018 R2018%F1A1H KX12H31H 20,100
Transfers to property, plant and equipment HEBEYE - REMEE (20,100)
At 31 December 2019 7201912 A31H =

In 2018, the Group’s investment properties consist of one
commercial property in Mainland China, the Directors have
determined the investment property are commercial property
based on the nature, characteristics and risks of the property.
The fair value of the property as at 31 December 2018 has
been arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out on the
respective dates by Savills Valuation and Professional Services
Limited, independent qualified professional valuers not
connected to the Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the property has
been transferred to property, plant and equipment as the
Group has occupied the property during the year for its own
operation use.

R2018% » REEMIREMEBIE—
BURTEAMOEEYE - EFR
BZOENEE - BENMEAREEZ
BREMERBERDE - ZWER2018
F12A31 AR FETIMREEAEE
WEBBNBEYSEREXLEME
—AFPEAEFEENEXERAERA
AR & BHETN-BERETE -

HZE2019F12A31HILFE - BRAR
SERFRIGAZMEEER %Y
XOBREME  BELEE -
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NOTES 7O THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #x a1 75 7 777
For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ 22019412 A31HILFE

19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 19. REW=X (&)
DNHERBR
RBERR - AEENREYEFB
REBAAEBEMNERIT

Fair value hierarchy
Details of the Group’s investment properties and information

178

about the fair value hierarchy as at the end of the reporting

period are as follows:

Fair value as
Level 3 at 31/12/2018
720184
12A31H
3K ZNFEE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T AREFIT
Investment properties WEYH 20,100 20,100
20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 20. B EE
Franchise
Goodwill rights Software Total
BE SHRERE B #st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARETRT ARETT ARBTT
COST R
At 1 January and R2018F1A18 &

31 December 2018 12A31H 1,846,799 1,659,475 - 3,506,274
Additions NE - - 2,324 2,324
At 31 December 2019 A20194F12 B31H 1,846,799 1,659,475 2,324 3,508,598
AMORTISATION ey
At 1 January and R2018F1H1H &

31 December 2018 12H31H = = = =
Charge for the year FRZ W - = 286 286
At 31 December 2019 2019412 A31H - - 286 286
CARRYING AMOUNT BREE
At 31 December 2019 2019512 A31H 1,846,799 1,659,475 2,038 3,508,312
At 31 December 2018 R2018F12A31H 1,846,799 1,659,475 - 3,506,274

CHINA FOODS LIMITED
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NOTES 7O THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #x & 21 757 17:7
For the year ended 31 December 2019 22019412 A31HILFE

20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued) 20. B EE (&)

The franchise right related to the Group’s bottling and
distribution rights in certain regions in Mainland China
acquired in prior years’ business combinations. The amounts
of franchise rights represented their fair value at the respective
acquisition dates, which have been arrived at on the basis of a
valuation carried out by an independent qualified professional
valuer.

The franchise rights have been assigned indefinite useful lives
as the Group believes those franchise rights will continue to be
renewed at each expiration date.

Impairment Testing of Goodwill and Franchise Rights
with Indefinite Useful Lives

Goodwill and franchise rights with indefinite useful lives
acquired through business combinations is allocated to the
beverage cash-generating unit for impairment testing.

The recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit has been
determined based on a value in use calculation using cash
flow projections based on financial budgets covering a five-year
period approved by senior management. The discount rate
applied to the cash flow projections was 11% (2018: 11%) and
cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using a
growth rate of 3% (2018: 3%).

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of
the cash-generating unit for 31 December 2019 and 2018.
The following describes each key assumption on which
management has based its cash flow projections to undertake
impairment testing:

Budgeted gross margins-The basis used to determine the value
assigned to the budgeted gross margins is the average gross
margins achieved in the year immediately before the budget
year.

Discount rates-The discount rates used are before tax and
reflect specific risks relating to the relevant units.

FrfE e RS ENEEFRERD
& B o 2 AP B A B L b [ Y 5 K
DIHEAR - HAFEERNSEAR
HESEBBENRTE  ZFEHN
ERIRIEAERBLEXLEME
THEMSH -

R e e E AEERAER
FH - DHRARAKEREZSTEE
R NS B B B A -

AR R AAER TR F 255
EERERERE
REBEHEBZHENRAEFERA
=R F R SR D I EREER
TEEEMIERER

FllZIRSEA BN 2 AT UK B FREE
TIREFEREEETE - FAEEIER
PR A B T [ M 0 2 A HARE B IR
BETERRERERAEE - 1]
SREBEMERAZIERELE1L%
(2018%F : 11%) @ MmiBid A FHED
IREmIIIR3% (20184 : 3%) iR
KT AR o

P2019F 2018412 A31H @ &t &
ReEXEVZFREER  BEA
EFBH&R UTHMAEERERTREE
MEBREMKEZT —B#EE®R - N
EITRERIR

BEEMNX - AEBEREEMN XM
HEBEBEZEE RERBEFEAM
ZEERFZFHEMEK -

B K - FE AR R A E R
3 B REER BRI A R 2
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NOTES 7O THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #x a1 75 7 777
For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ 22019412 A31HILFE

21. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

21. REFE QB 2

31/12/2019 31/12/2018

2019FF12H31H 2018F12A31H

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARBT T

Interests in associates kN W v e 769,810 742,028

The amounts due from and to associates included in current assets
and current liabilities of RMB13,749,000 (2018: RMB19,743,000)
and RMB157,250,000 (2018:RMB163,330,000), respectively,
are unsecured, interest-free and are repayable on demand.

Details of each of the Group’s associates at the end of the
reporting period are as follows:

AARBEEMARBABZY

Al R R B & R R FRIAD RIS A

==Y\

R #13,749,0007T (20184 : AR
19,743,0007t) B A R#157,250,000
T (20184 : AR#163,330,000
L) WAEER 2R RKRENRE

BEPRAREESBE DR ZFIFH
B

Country of Proportion of ownership

incorporation/ interest/voting rights held by

Name of entity registration the Group Principal activities
L/ R AEBFERERE/ RER
BREE B EIR BAk TEEH
2019 2018
20194 2018%F
(note) (note)
(Hizt) (Hizt)
Coca-Cola Bottlers Manufacturing Hong Kong 13.7% 13.7%  Investment holdings
Holdings Limited
N REER
Coca-Cola Bottlers Manufacturing PRC 13.7% 13.7%  Beverage bottling production, sale
(Dongguan) Company Limited and distribution
AAAREREEE (RS BRAR H REDREE « SHERDH
Coca-Cola Bottlers Manufacturing PRC 13.7% 13.7%  Beverage bottling production, sale
(Wuhan) Company Limited and distribution
AIRATERMEEE (RE) BRAT H ERAE - HERD
Coca-Cola Bottlers Manufacturing PRC 13.7% 13.7%  Beverage bottling production, sale
(Foshan) Company Limited and distribution
AIAATERMEEE (BL) BRAA H REHRAE « HER D
Coca-Cola Bottlers Manufacturing PRC 13.7% 13.7%  Beverage bottling production, sale
(Hangzhou) Company Limited and distribution
ATAAREREEE M) BRAR f RN « HERDH
Coca-Cola Bottlers Manufacturing PRC 13.7% 13.7%  Beverage bottling production, sale
(Suzhou) Company Limited and distribution
ATAA RN R EE G BRAR H FERAEE - HERD
Coca-Cola Bottlers Manufacturing PRC 13.7% 13.7%  Beverage bottling production, sale

(Jinan) Company Limited

A AR SKBmEE (BRE) BRAR hE

W 8@ CHINA FOODS LIMITED
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NOTES 7O THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #x & 21 757 17:7
For the year ended 31 December 2019 22019412 A31HILFE

21. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 2]1. RBtE N TR 2= (&)
Country of Proportion of ownership
incorporation/ interest/voting rights held by
Name of entity registration the Group Principal activities
B3/ rEEFRHERERER
BREE RIBEXR BO TEEH
2019 2018
20194 20184
(note) (note)
(Hizt) (Hizt)
Coca-Cola Bottlers Manufacturing PRC 13.7% 13.7%  Beverage bottling production, sale

(Shijiazhuang) Company Limited
AAAREREEE (ARE) BRAR F

and distribution

RERAEE - HERDH

Coca-Cola Bottlers Management Service ~ PRC 13.7% 13.7%  Beverage bottling production, sale

(Shanghai) Company Limited
Ao 2EnEERRE (L) BRAR F

and distribution

RRRLE - HERDH

Coca-Cola Bottlers Manufacturing PRC 13.7% 13.7%  Beverage bottling production, sale
(Nanning) Company Limited and distribution
AAA RN EE () BRAR H A « HERDH#
Coca-Cola Bottlers Manufacturing PRC 13.7% 13.7%  Beverage bottling production, sale
(Yingkou) Company Limited and distribution
AAREEmEEE(ED)BRAR HE EREIRAEE - HERD I
CBPC Limited Hong Kong 21.7% 21.7%  Price negotiate service
BB AR B RE
Note: The Group is able to exercise significant influence over M BAZELARZESTSTELAEE

the associates as the boards of these companies comprise
representatives of the Group, who participate in the policy making
process. Accordingly, they are accounted for as associates of the
Group. All of the above associates are indirectly held through a
65% owned subsidiary of the Company. All of the above associates
are not individually material.

ZREZEBKRGIEBIE - AEE
MM B L RATEENY
& Hit - WEWEEAEE 2B
BRE] o PR LB E N RIS B A
N A H5 A 65% B A HO T B 1 ) [
A o Latpra e R m]E3EE R
B2

Aggregate information of associates that are not individually AR FEEREE S R A HERAES
material:
31/12/2019 31/12/2018
20194 2018%
12A31H 12H31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFIT
The Group's share of profit INER B PR 5 A 41,033 44,168
Dividends declared by associates HENFIEERRE (13,251) (10,500)
Aggregate carrying amount at 31 MRI12A31 B 2 EREAE
December 769,810 742,028
hEARERAT

3R 2019
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #7 & 41 #7775t

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ 22019412 A31HILFE

22. INVENTORIES 22. 7€
31/12/2019 31/12/2018
20194 20184
12831H 12A31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T ARBT T
Raw materials ¥t 383,070 486,273
Finished goods RUAK 1,506,578 1,164,045
1,889,648 1,650,318
23. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLES 23. FEUWRBRFR
31/12/2019 31/12/2018
20194 20184
12A831H 12A31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T ARBT T
Accounts receivables FEUTAR X 330,521 307,073
Allowance B (1,114) (2,285)
329,407 304,788

The Group gives credit term to key customers, while for other
customers, payment in advance or payment on delivery is
normally required. The Group seeks to maintain strict control
over its outstanding receivables and has a credit control
commissioner to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are
reviewed regularly by senior management. In view of the fact
that the Group’s accounts receivable relate to a large number
of diversified customers, there is no significant concentration
of credit risk. The Group does not hold any collateral or other
credit enhancements over its accounts receivable balances.
Accounts receivables are non-interest-bearing.

The following is an aged analysis of accounts receivables, net

AEERTHREPEEY  MERN
Hip 2P AR EARBRERNRE
R STR o 6% [ 5 SR M 5 R AR 42 1l L
AEERUERARRBEERHE
8 BRHEERRAERE - &K
ERETHEZANGR - ENAK
By RAETREP 2 BUARR - &
EERBRZETREEY TEE - A&
I 3 4 A EL B UK AR R A B R AT
A EAMERIER - BRURAR AT

5 -

AT RiERE B HIE R R BR i

of allowance for credit loss, presented based on the date of the T (F0BR {5 FRIB R B -
delivery of goods:

31/12/2019 31/12/2018
2019% 20184
12A31H 12H31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AR T
Within 6 months ~NMEAR 318,106 297,106
6 to 12 months ~E+={@A 11,301 7,682
329,407 304,788

CHINA FOODS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2019



NOTES 7O THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #x & 21 757 17:7
For the year ended 31 December 2019 22019412 A31HILFE

23. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Ageing of accounts receivables which are past due but not

23. FEWBRFX (48)

£ 8 BB I R 1E < FE YR 3R 2 R

impaired: e
31/12/2019 31/12/2018
20194 20184
12H31H 12H31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREFIT
Within 1 year —FR 21,232 29,027

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a
number of independent customers that have a good track
record with the Group. Based on past experience, the Directors
are of the opinion that no provision for impairment is necessary
in respect of these balances as there has not been a significant
change in credit quality and the balances are still considered

fully recoverable.

Details of impairment assessment of accounts receivables are

set out in note 41.

24. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

£ 38 HB 3 8 R (E /O FE U R IR T BLR
SEZREECERTZBITFA
o RIBEELSR  EFRE - AR
EYRIEREEE R | LB RE
BRDR AR BB E - MBBHRE
RS EARTHIRR B -

B A FE MR OB (B RT fif BO R 1B B Y

541 -

24. ANRE - BEREMEKRR

RECEIVABLES b= |

31/12/2019 31/12/2018
20195 20184
12A31H 12A31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T ARBT T
Prepayment to suppliers TR IERE IR 217,209 306,397
VAT recoverable AU B S (E T 147,052 134,209

Receivable for disposal of property plant  HE%E - ME &
and equipment AW GRIE 97,931 =
Prepaid marketing expenses A& HERAY 51,847 99,913
Others Eop 34,707 25,610
548,746 566,129

25. DEBT INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 25. L AR EFAEMBEZEHE AN
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME BBITA

31/12/2019 31/12/2018
201945 20184
12A31H 12A31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T ARBT T
Bills receivables JE W 2= 1% 19,436 =
FERMRERAT

3R 2019
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NOTES 7O THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #x a1 75 7 777
For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ 22019412 A31HILFE

26. BANK BALANCE AND CASH 26. BITHBEERS
31/12/2019 31/12/2018
20194 20184
12H31H 12A31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET ARETTT
Cash and bank balances B MIBITHES 834,789 243,235
Pledged bank deposits EIRIRITIF IR 9,036 7,961
843,825 251,196
Less: Pledged bank deposits for bills B BRI R 2R
payable (note 27) 1717k (FisE27) (9,036) (7,961)
Cash and cash equivalents ReMRE&EEER 834,789 243,235
Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily GHRIRITTZIRE TIRG HIRITER
bank deposit rates. The bank balances and pledged deposits FIEFE 2 )Z BFIRBEF S - $R1T
are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of ERMEHE R T AR EENT
default. 8 (EBRIFZRIT o
27. ACCOUNTS AND BILLS PAYABLES 27. BERERFR R EE
The following is an aged analysis of accounts payables FERT R ER B D ITIREFE A B2 5140
presented based on the invoice date. T
31/12/2019 31/12/2018
20194 20184
12H31H 12A31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET ARET T
Within 3 months =EAN 647,059 535,792
3 to 12 months —“EAAZ+-_EANR 105,525 53,777
1to 2 years —FERFA 5,813 10,651
Over 2 years BB E 1,984 6,591
760,381 606,811
The accounts and bills payables are non-interest-bearing and ERNERRERATFE  —RA[
are normally settled in one to three months and one to six TSR AE—Z=EAE—Z/E
months, respectively. Ao
Certain of the Group’s bills payable are secured by the pledge AEBETENEBUSEAAR
of the Group’s bank deposits amounting to RMB9,036,000 #9,036,000 T (20184 : AR
(2018: RMB7,961,000). 7,961,0007T) 2 ANEBIRITFER T A
R ©

" 84 CHINA FOODS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2019



NOTES 7O THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #x & 21 757 17:7
For the year ended 31 December 2019 22019412 A31HILFE

28. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 28. HittERRIEREFTEE
31/12/2019 31/12/2018
20194 20184
12A31H 12A31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBT T
Accrued marketing expense FEET &SR 625,754 622,550
Sales rebate SHE DB 568,339 407,884
Deposit for fridges Kfe% e 461,308 457 867
Accrued expense JEHR S 438,333 275,538
Accrued payroll JEETTE 376,903 277,245
Tax element of contract liabilities BHEERE 206,333 214,730
Payables for purchase of property, BEYE  BEMEE
plant and equipment Y FE (S SR TE 134,444 158,081
Accrued logistics expense FEH A 73,796 85,321
Taxes payable FEBITR SR 30,657 19,715
Others Hi 179,742 176,448
3,095,609 2,695,379
29. BORROWINGS 29. f&R
31/12/2019 31/12/2018
20194 20184
12A31H 12H31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T
Unsecured bank loans EIRIRITE R 606,500 1,166,500
The carrying amounts of the above LB SREREER
borrowings are repayable: FEEE
Within one year —FR 606,500 580,000
Within a period of more than one year but —%FLA_E{B BB 4
not exceeding two years EAfH - 586,500
606,500 1,166,500
Amounts due within one year shown mEN B BT —F R EE
under current liabilities ZFRIA 606,500 580,000
Amounts shown under non-current RIERBBEETIIR
liabilities Z A - 586,500
The borrowings carry an interest rate of loan prime rate {8 i B B M E AR %-0.025 % KA
-0.025%. The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment B o B HAFRIA TR IR B R i sk P
dates set out in the loan agreements. SHEIERBEEE -

ey 186



NOTES 7O THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #x a1 75 7 777
For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ 22019412 A31HILFE

30. LEASE LIABILITIES 30. HE&EE
31/12/2019
20194
12A31H
RMB’000
AR¥ET T
Within one year —FNR 31,149
Within a period of more than one year but not A —FETZRN
more than two years R 4F A Y HA R 22,369
Within a period of more than two years but not HBAMFENIZR

more than five years AFRAHARE 41,349
Within a period of more than five years AFAE 756
95,623

Less: Amount due for settlement with 12 months B ORBIBEIE NERAI2EAF
shown under current liabilities Hi R B~ 3R 31,149

Amount due for settlement after 12 months shown JERBIBEIE NEERRI121E A& fE
under non-current liabilities A 64,474

31. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 31. B EE

31/12/2019 31/12/2018
20194 20184
12H31H 12A31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ET T AREFT
Sales of beverages SHEE 1,587,175 1,341,686
Current ikl 1,587,175 1,341,686

The followings table shows how much of the revenue
recognised in the current year relates to carried-forward
contract liabilities.

TREINAFEREHEHEEER
ZWAEEE -

186

31/12/2019 31/12/2018
20194 20184
12A31H 12H31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETIT
Revenue recognized that was included ~ REFIFFAS LA BELEH
in the contract liability balance at the 2 ERERUA
beginning of the year 1,341,686 1,029,638

CHINA FOODS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2019



NOTES 7O THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #x & 21 757 17:7
For the year ended 31 December 2019 22019412 A31HILFE

32. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 2. EERIBEERERE
The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for TREYIFT B®RE RS RERANE
financial reporting purposes: ERLIBEERR AT
31/12/2019 31/12/2018
2019%12H31H 2018F12A31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFIT
Deferred tax assets R IBE 373,327 379,390
Deferred tax liabilities FEEFIBAE (131,950) (95,666)
241,377 283,724
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets TXHINEHRERELCREREE
recognised and movements thereon: LEES) :
Impairment
Provision ECL of property,  Accelerated
against ~ provision of Unrealised Deferred plant and tax Fair value
inventories ~ receivables Tax losses Accruals profits income ~equipment  depreciation  adjustments Others Total
Eh5ERS VERY T

FERE RREABR  BEER WA ARBMA EENA  RRGNE BMRENE  OTERR it it
RUBOD  RWBOO  RMBOOD  RWBOI  RWBODD  RWBO  RMBOD  RMBOD  RMBODD  RWBOID  RWB
ARBTL ARMTR ARRTR AR ARMTR AR ARMTn BRT ARMER AR ARMER

At anuary 2018 RNIBEIRLA 34% o4 27334 131301 3601 3784 67,180 - (50274) 10268 233302
Charged (cedit) foprofit FSBEHIR GEA)
and loss 3146 1588 (11122) 81811 1495 ) 2118 (52,720) 738 181 5042
At31 December 2018 H2018E12A31R 6,640 2,152 16,212 29,112 18616 34611 69,898 (52,720) (42,946) 12,149 283,724
Charged (credt) oproft FUBRHIR GEA)
andloss 1,798 401 (10,535) 66 9,709 (1,442) (7,599) (38,105) 3,264 9% (d2,347)
At31 December 2019 R019E12A318 8,438 2,553 5,677 219,178 28,325 33,169 62,299 (90,825) (39,682) 12,245 1311
The Group has tax losses arising in Mainland China of AEERBEFREAMZBHERAR
RMB177,863,000 (2018: RMB179,520,000) that are available #177,863,0007T (20184 : AR
for offsetting against future taxable profits to a maximum 179,520,0007T) AJfE £ EE 2 A A
period of five years of the companies in which the losses arose. EHERRERNF 2HBAAREIER
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of RIERT AT - BRZEEBEERED
these losses as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have been RREERE—EREREZHERR -
loss-making for some time and it is not considered probable im B AR AE FERT R A A48 A 3%
that taxable profits will be available against which the tax losses EHiE - T ERZEEEREREL
can be utilised. HIEEE °
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NOTES 7O THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #x a1 75 7 777
For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ 22019412 A31HILFE

32. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

(Continued)

The PRC subsidiaries of the Group had unrecognised tax losses
available to offset against future profits as follows:

32. EERBEERERE (&)

RNEE A B E R R A RERNT
TEE R ] AR RS AR R A - B ggan
™

31/12/2019 31/12/2018
2019% 20184
12A31H 12A31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET AREBTT

Year of expiry [E e
2019 20194 - 23,188
2020 20204 57,613 57,613
2021 20214 62,859 62,859
2022 20224 11,937 11,937
2023 20234 23,923 23,923
2024 20244 21,531 -
177,863 179,520

Pursuant to the EIT Law, a 10% withholding tax is levied
on dividends declared to foreign investors from the foreign
investment enterprises established in Mainland China or
offshore incorporated enterprises which are regarded as
CREs. The requirement is effective from 1 January 2008
and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. Pursuant
to the approvals received by the Company from the State
Administration of Taxation of the PRC, the Company and most
of its subsidiaries are regarded as CREs and relevant enterprise
income tax policies shall be applicable to the Company
and these subsidiaries starting from 1 January 2013. As a
result, the Company and these subsidiaries are therefore no
longer liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by
their subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect
of retained earnings generated. No deferred tax has been
recognised for withholding taxes on the unremitted earnings of
the Group subsidiaries or associates established in Mainland
China at 31 December 2019 (2018: Nil).

CHINA FOODS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2019
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NOTES 7O THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #x & 21 757 17:7
For the year ended 31 December 2019 22019412 A31HILFE

33. SHARE CAPITAL OF THE COMPANY 33. AATRA
Number of shares Share capital
REE [N
HKD’000
T
Authorised: VERE
4,000,000,000 ordinary shares of 4,000,000,0008% &I E &
HKDO.10 each 0.108 T2 Ti@mh% 4,000,000,000 400,000
Issued and fully paid BEITREE
At 1 January and 31 December 2018 20184 k20194
and 2019 2,797,223,396 ordinary 1A1BX12H31H
shares of HKDO.10 each 2,797,223,396 1% &A% H
B0.108 Tz Eimik 2,797,223,396 279,722
Equivalent to RMB’000 EMARETTT 293,201
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #7 & 41 #7775t

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ 22019412 A31HILFE

34. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 4. EFTHELEBEZEHER
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising TRV AEEREETHELENEE
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash g BERELIIRES  @mE
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for EEHELAMNABEEREMEEEICK
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in REEREERTIEBGERERE
the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows § FLOEARMERHRERENE
from financing activities. = °
Lease Dividend
Liabilities payables Borrowings
HEAE EARE (RN
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREBT T ARBT T
(Included in other
payables and accruals)
(GT AE A FES 5B
MEETAE)
At 1 January 2018 (Restated) R2018F1A1H (EE=71) = 123,926 1,756,620
Dividends declared EEIREE - 114,960 =
Financing cash flows MERSRE = (238,886) (590,120)
At 31 December 2018 R2018%12A31H - - 1,166,500
Adjustment upon application of ~ JEAE B RS R
HKFRS 16 F16RBIELHAFE 58,184 - -
As at 1 January 2019 (Restated) 720191 H1H (& =71 58,184 - 1,166,500
Dividends declared EEIRRE = 215,017 =
Financing cash flows MEESRE (28,027) (176,917) (560,000)
Interest expense FEXH 2,800 - -
New leases entered el AE 62,666 = =
At 31 December 2019 MA2019%F12HA31H 95,623 38,100 606,500

CHINA FOODS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2019



NOTES 7O THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #x & 21 757 17:7
For the year ended 31 December 2019 22019412 A31HILFE

35. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 35. REEE
At the end of the reporting period, the Group did not have any REIEIAR - AEE W EEMEKR
significant contingent liabilities. BafE-
36. OPERATING LEASE 36. K&EHLN
The Group as lessee AEBEREABEA
31/12/2018
20184
12H31H
RMB’000
ARETTT
Minimum lease payments paid under operating FARBEERAE N HE
leases during the year MEFRIE 103,904
The Group had commitments for future minimum lease AEEREZ BB EHAE
payments under non-cancellable operating leases falling due as MZARKERSRELOT -
follows:
31/12/2018
20184
12H31H
RMB’000
ARETTT
Within one year R—FA 41,896
In the second to fifth year, inclusive FERF(BIEEEMT) 35,174
After five years RFUE 3,841
80,911
Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the KERANRARRANER AHE T
Group for certain of its office properties. Leases are negotiated NEMEZEMNES - BHE2FEH
for an average term of 2 years and rentals are fixed for an THEAME » H15FRNZFHHESRFR
average of 1.5 years. R o
37. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 37. EXREE
31/12/2019 31/12/2018
2019%F 201845
12A31H 12A31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T ARBTFT
Capital expenditure in respect of the BRAZE M BImEANER]
acquisition of property, plant and HMEEARFERZ Y
equipment contracted for but not R K it 2 B AN
provided in the consolidated financial
statements 359,239 254,207
FERMERADTE

3R 2019
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NOTES 7O THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #x a1 75 7 777
For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ 22019412 A31HILFE

38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(@) Apart from the transactions and balances

disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements,

38. BEALRS

(@) BRYBHRERHMMBTARE
R REHN  AEBRAF

the Group had the following material transactions EREBEALTETZEAR
with related parties during the year: ZuE
Year ended Year ended
31/12/2019 31/12/2018
BZ2019%F HZE2018%F
12A31BL§E 12A31HIEFE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T ARBEFIT
Transactions with fellow subsidiaries: R ZXMB AR 225 :
Sales of goods HEE M 3,980 3,930
Purchases of goods BEER 1,184,870 1,092,000
Rental expenses Hed 16,306 15,120
Service fee expenses 7B 11,066 9,560
Transactions with the ultimate S e Sl NG v
holding company:
Sales of goods SHEEMm 78 16
Transactions with associates: RSN F] 7 X 5
Purchases of goods BEER 2,195,731 2,279,020
Processing services DT RARFE 156,969 156,950
Transactions with related companies*: H2BFE R A2 X 5*
Purchases of goods BEER 2,124,800 2,005,243
All of above related party transactions constituted Fai T B RS Z B REE ET iR

continuing connected transactions discloseable in
accordance with the Listing Rules.

W Related companies are subsidiaries of the minority
shareholder of the Company’s subsidiary.

AR FRENRERERS

o BERBARARRAZF AR DEK

RZFRAE] -

These transactions were carried out in accordance with
the terms and conditions mutually agreed by the parties

involved.

CHINA FOODS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2019
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NG RARATHEAT ©



NOTES 7O THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #x & 21 757 17:7
For the year ended 31 December 2019 22019412 A31HILFE

38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b) Compensation of key management personnel of

(c)

the Group
The remuneration of directors and other members of key
management during the year was as follows:

38. BEALRZ (&)
(b) AEEEEEEAS ZHRMH

RAEE EFREMETEEE
ABZHBESIT

Year ended Year ended

31/12/2019 31/12/2018

BZE2019% HZE20184F

12A31H1EFEE 12A31HILEE

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET ARBT T

Short term employee benefits REREERET 14,699 21,183

Equity-settled share option expense xS 4E BB IR - 15

Pension scheme contributions RONGTEIE R 2,424 1,221
Total compensation paid to key NTFEEEEBAE

management personnel 2 hiazE 17,123 22419

Further details of directors’ and the chief executive’s
emoluments are included in note 12 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Transactions and balances with other state-owned
enterprises

The Group operates in an economic environment
predominated by enterprises directly or indirectly
owned or controlled by the PRC government through its
numerous authorities, affiliates or other organisations
(collectively “State-owned Enterprises”). During the
year, the Group entered into extensive transactions
covering, but not limited to, sales of goods, purchases
of raw materials, property, plant and equipment and
other assets, receiving of services, and making deposits
and borrowings with certain State-owned Enterprises,
other than COFCO Corporation and its affiliates, on terms
comparable to those with non-state-owned enterprises.
The Directors consider that transactions with those State-
owned Enterprises were entered into in the ordinary and
usual course of business of the Group, and that dealings
of the Group have not been significantly or unduly
affected by the fact that the Group and those State-owned
Enterprises are ultimately controlled or owned by the
PRC government. The Group has also established pricing
policies for products and services, and such policies do
not depend on whether or not the customers are State-
owned Enterprises.

EERERTBRABMEHE—
THBHENGRE M B REM T
12 -

(c) REMBEALENRZS RER

AEBELHNRBERETHLE
RERTEBFBEERS K
B MBS EMERE RS
[l R A s iR il R b 5 (7 [
BE]) -  RERAEEER L
BELXETHNEZRSBEER
TRNBEEmR - BERME
ME  BEMEBREMEE
BEXRS  TETREEARAQ
AR EHEB AR ASINBE A B E
TFHRMERK  HFR 5 R
FEBELEXSIEFEL - E=
Ry BREEALCENRHR
EAKERFEBBREPETH
AE) - AARERZEH BB
RIS ERNBEEEENR
FWREXINBEAANERE -
7R 5= B3R ) E 2 am A AR 7% O TE (B

B - BEABRRL TNBURRE P
EERBEADLE -

FERMAMRAT
4 2019
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NOTES 7O THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #x a1 75 7 777
For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ 22019412 A31HILFE

39. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 39. EEAXRRQA KB AR 215

COMPANY
(a) General information of subsidiaries (a) MIBAR—RER
Details of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly held by RI|EBRARD R EE M EEE
the Company at the end of the reporting period are set out BZMBARMFEEEHINLT
below:
Place of
Registration Paid up issued/  Proportion ownership interest held
Name of subsidiary and operation registered capital by the Company Principal activities
Rl BETHR/
HWEARBE TEny afER KRAMEREERAL TEEE
2019 2018
2019% 2018%
% %
Polar Treasure Limited Hong Kong - - 100 Investment holding
BEERAT B REER
COFCO Beverages Limited Samoa USDh1 100 100 Investment holding
REHHERAR BED 1%7T REER
COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages Limited Hong Kong HKD2,524,855,402 65 65 Investment holding
PR A EHEBRAT i 2,524,855, 402/ 7¢ REER
COFCO Beverages (Nanjing) Limited ~ Samoa - - 65 Investment holding
MRS (ER) ERAA BED RAER
COFCO Beverages (Hangzhou) Samoa - - 65 Investment holding
Limited
RERE ) ERAR EED REER
COFCO Beverages (Guangzhou) Samoa - - 65 Investment holding
Limited
PR (BN ERAR EED RAER
COFCO Beverages (Hunan) Limited ~ Samoa USb1 65 65  Investment holding
I () R AR BEG %7 REER
COFCO Beverages (Beijing) Limited ~ Samoa USD6,825,001 65 65 Investment holding
PESHOL R ERAR EED 6,825,001 RAER
COFCO Beverages (CCBMH) Limited ~ Samoa USD1 65 65 Investment holding
BEG %7 REER
COFCO Beverages Hunan (HK) Hong Kong HKD62,400,001 65 65 Investment holding
Limited
HIEHELIE (B) AR AR i 62,400,001 7T RAER
COFCO Beverages Beijing (HK) Hong Kong HKD53,235,001 65 65 Investment holding
Limited
PESFLLR (FE) BR A Bk 53,235,001 RERR
COFCO Beverages Qingdao Samoa USD20,134,375 65 65 Investment holding
Company Limited
EEED 20,134 375% T REER

" 94 CHINA FOODS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2019



NOTES 7O THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #x & 21 757 17:7
For the year ended 31 December 2019 22019412 A31HILFE

39. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE V.EBFLATMBEAAZFE

COMPANY (Continued) (#&)
(a) General information of subsidiaries (Continued) (a) MIBAR—MRER (&)
Place of
Registration Paid up issued/  Proportion ownership interest held
Name of subsidiary and operation registered capital by the Company Principal activities
il BETHR/
WEARER Renwdy ZRER FAREHEERD L TEED
2019 2018
20195 2018
% %
COFCO Beverages (Q mgdao) Limited Samoa USDh1 65 65 Investment holding
EKH(EB)ARD EED %7t RAER
COFCO Beverages (Ha\nan) Limited ~ Samoa USD4,387,501 65 65 Investment holding
mIEHE (8M) ERAA EED 4,387 5017 REER
COFCO Beverages Tianjin (Samoa) ~ Samoa HKD13,623,897 65 65 Investment holding
Limited
TRAHRZ(EED)ERLE  EED 13,623897% T RERR
COFCO Beverages Qingdao (HK) Hong Kong HKD82,454,768.01 65 65 Investment holding
Limited
HEKHES (BR)ERAA &E 82,454,768, 01T RERR
COFCO Beverages Hainan (HK) Hong Kong HKD143,052,501 65 65 Investment holding
Limited
HIEHEIEE (BE) BRARA Bk 143,052,501 7 REER
COFCO Beverages (Xinjiang) Limited ~ Samoa USDh1 65 65 Investment holding
IR (BT ER AR EED 1% RARR
COFCO Beverages (Xinjiang) Limited  Hong Kong HKD1 65 65 Investment holding
HIEHE BT R AR Bk 1AL REER
COFCO Beverages (Jiangxi) Limited ~ Samoa - - 65 Investment holding
ISR (IFE) ERAR BED RARR
COFCO Beverages (Jiangi) Limited ~ Hong Kong HKD1 65 65 Investment holding
RS (IF) R A Bk 1AL REER
COFCO Beverages Tianjin (HK) Hong Kong HKD60,450,001 65 65 Investment holding
Limited
PESHAZ (BB BRAR B 60,450,001/ REER
COFCO Beverages Qingdao (Samoa)  Samoa HKD12,000,000 65 65 Investment holding
Limited
BED 12,000,000% 7T REHR
COFCO Beverages Beijing (Samoa) ~ Samoa HKD100,000 65 65  Investment holding
Limited
EED 100,000/ REER
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9. EBARTMMAT 2518
IIE

(@) MEBLAT—RER ()

39. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

(@) General information of subsidiaries (Continued)

Place of
Registration Paid up issued/  Proportion ownership interest held
Name of subsidiary and operation registered capital by the Company Principal activities
Rl BRTAR/
HWEARER B EfER FARFEHEERD L IEEY
2019 2018
2019% 2018F
% %
COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages (China) PRC USD110,000,000 65 65  Investment holding
Investment Ltd. *
I O ATEEERR} (R B 1% HE 110,000,000t RAZR
BRAT
COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages (Shanxi) PRC USD10,000,000 48.75" 48.75*  Beverage hottling production,
Limited* sale and distribution
Mg O AR (UE) BRAF HE 10,000,000% 7T FRSMAE - HEREHR
COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages PRC USD20,000,000 65 65  Beverage bottling production,
(Shaanxi) Limited* sale and distribution
B A QAR RE) BRAF B 20,000,000 HREREE « HERRE
COFCO Coca-Cola Liaoning (South) ~ PRC RMB72,000,000 39* 39 Beverage bottling production,
Beverages Limited* sale and distribution
I DA E () SRRt i AR72,000,0007C FRFEMAEE - HEREX
ARAF"
COFCO Coca-Cola Liaoning (North) ~ PRC USD23,500,000 60.94 60.94  Beverage bottling production,
Beverages Limited* sale and distribution
g Al QAT E () K e 23,500,000 7 FRFMAE - HEREX
BRAT
COFCO Coca-Cola Liaoning (Central)  PRC USD13,000,000 65 65 Beverage bottling production
Beverages Limited*
Mg Al QAT E () K e 13,000,000 7T SRS E
BRAT
COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages PRC USD44,000,000 65 65 Beverage bottling production,
(Heilongjiang) Limited* sale and distribution
g A QAL (RET) i 44,000,000 75 FRSMAE - SHERER
BRAT
COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages (Jilin) -~ PRC USD18,000,000 65 65  Beverage hottling production,
Limited* sale and distribution
R DA (B BRAF & 18,000,000% 7T FREREE « HERRZ
COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages PRC USD17,000,000 58.05 5805  Beverage bottling production,
(Sichuan) Limited* sale and distribution
RETOTESR @I ERAF & 17,000,000% 7 FREMAE - HEREX
COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages PRC USD72,000,000 65 65 Beverage bottling production,
(Chongging) Limited* sale and distribution
A OALHK (ER)ARAR HE 72,000,000% 7 HFRSMAE - HEREX

CHINA FOODS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2019
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39. ?ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁ#%@ﬂZﬁ%

(a) MELQE—RENGEHE)

39. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

(@) General information of subsidiaries (Continued)

Place of
Registration Paid up issued/  Proportion ownership interest held
Name of subsidiary and operation registered capital by the Company Principal activities
ik BETHR/
WEARER R ZfER KRAMERAERAL TEE
2019 2018
2019% 2018F
% %
COFCO Coca-Cola Supply Chain PRC RMB10,000,000 63.5 635  Wholesale and retail of pre-
(Tianjin) Limited** packaged foods, raw
and auxiliary materials,
supply chain information
consultation, management
services and others
g DA AR gE (R2) i AR%10,000,0007 BERTERLERD - RH
BRAR £ HERESAR  ER
R R
Zhongke Enterprise Management PRC RMB3,000,000 65 65  Enterprise management
(Tianjin) Limited* service and consulting,
business information
consulting, marketing
planning, and computer
information system
development, consulting,
promotion and service
RO ARER (K2 BRAR" i ARH3,000,00070 CEERRERAR  EBE
B BHE HE
BERGHE &0 AR
KT
COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages (Tianjin) PRC USD15,500,000 32.5¢ 325 Beverage hottling production,
Limited** sale and distribution
R AAERE (KR ERAR HE 15,500,000% T HFRENEE « HERAE
COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages (Hebei) PRC RMB83,000,000 32.5¢ 32.5*  Beverage bottling production,
Limited** sale and distribution
ISR OATEERR (L) BIR A AR83,000,0007C RN - SERAE
COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages (Inner  PRC RMB48,000,000 43,55 4355 Beverage bottling production,
Mongolia) Limited** sale and distribution
g Al QAR (AR ) i AR#48,000,0007 PRSI - HERER
BRAR
COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages PRC USD12,500,000 48.75¢ 4875 Beverage hottling production,
(Shandong) Limited** sale and distribution
g QA LHE (LR BRAF HE 12,500,000%7T FREMAE - HERER

FERMAMRAT
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39. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

(@) General information of subsidiaries (Continued)

NOTES 7O THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #x a1 75 7 777
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0. FBEARAMBRARA ZFHTE

(&)

(@) MEBLAT—RER ()

Place of
Registration Paid up issued/  Proportion ownership interest held
Name of subsidiary and operation registered capital by the Company Principal activities
B3 BRTAR/
WEARER R EfER FARFBHERAI IEEY
2019 2018
20195 2018%
% %
COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages (Jinan) PRC USD5,000,000 48.75* 48.75*  Beverage bottling production,
Limited* sale and distribution
Mg O ALK (Em) ARAR  HE 5,000,000% 7 HREREE « HERAR
COFCO Coca-Cola Huazhong PRC RMB144,400,000 65 65 Beverage bottling production,
Beverages Limited* sale and distribution
RENOALERANERAR & ARH144,400,0007 FREREE  HERRE
Gansu COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages  PRC USD5,000,000 65 65 Beverage bottling production,
Limited* sale and distribution
HERRIOTLHHERAR & 5,000,000% 7 HREREE « HERAR
Tibet COFCO Coca-Cola Commerce & PRC RMB2,000,000 65 65 Beverage sale and distribution
Trade Limited*
BRTENONLEEERAT P AE#2,000,0007 HRHHE REA
COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages PRC RMB60,000,000 52 52 Beverage bottling production,
(Xinjiang) Limited™* sale and distribution
IR ORI EERR (B BR A AR 60,000,007 FHREREE « HERRZ
COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages (Beijing) PRC USD19,500,000 48.75* 48.75"  Beverage hottling production,
Limited** sale and distribution
RET OTESH QLR BRAF ™ & 19,500,000% 7 HFREREE « HERRR
COFCO Coca-Cola Huabei Beverages  PRC RMB78,000,000 58.5 585  Beverage bottling production
Limited**
PRETATLEANERAR & AR%78,000,00070 HRERAE
Beijing Cheng Xiang Foods Co., Ltd** PRC RMB58,211,932 48.75¢ 4875 Wholesale of packaged foods
IRENRmBR AR i AR¥58211,9321L BEBAERM
COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages PRC RMB81,120,000 65 - Beverage bottling production,
(Guizhou) Limited* sale and distribution
RETOTESR EMERAF & AR81,120,0007C HFREREE « SHERAE

These subsidiaries are accounted for as subsidiaries by

virtue of the Company’s indirect control over them through
a 65% owned subsidiary, which controls these subsidiaries.

Wholly-foreign-owned enterprise

**  Sino-foreign equity joint ventures

CHINA FOODS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2019
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39. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE V.EBFLATMBEAAZFE

COMPANY (Continued) (%)

(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have (b) EREEERFERERS 2K
material non-controlling interests 2EMBATRIZHFE
The table below shows details of non-wholly-owned TREYAEEHEEEIERE
subsidiaries of the Group that have material non- mZIEEEWBRARAEE

controlling interests:

Place of
incorporation
and principal Proportion of ownership
place of interests and voting rights held Profit allocated to Accumulated
Name of subsidiary business by non-controlling interests non-controlling interests non-controlling interests
ML R FERER TS
WEARER TEEHHE  WABERREEZESL  AETFERERZEA Rt FERES

31122019 31/12/2018  31/12/2019  31/12/2018  31/12/2019  31/12/2018
2019% 20185 2019% 2018% 2019% 2018%
12A318 12A31R 12A318 12A31R 12A318 12R31H
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARMTR ARBTT ARMTR ARETR

COFCO Coca-Cola Beverages Hong Kong

Limited (“COFCO Coca-Cola") &/ 35% 35% 229,240 147315 2,246,458 2,017,218
RN OAEHREBRAR
(E2=EEEES)
Summarised financial information in respect of COFCO BEARER] O A4 2 B 75 & KL
Coca-Cola is set out below. The summarised financial EEHHNWOT - TXAEMBEE
information below represents amounts before intragroup I EASBERNQRHEEHES
eliminations. B o
31/12/2019 31/12/2018
2019 20184
12A31H 12H31H
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARET T

COFCO Coca-Cola and subsidiaries ~ FR¥&7] O 7] 44 % B A =

Non-current assets ERBNEE 10,511,895 10,241,714
Current assets MENEE 4,181,912 3,146,683
Current liabilities mEaE (6,961,260) (5,875,894)
Non-current liabilities JEMEAE (403,469) (886,521)
Equity attributable to owners of the RARIEE AEEER

Company 6,469,601 5,814,630
Non-controlling interest FEFEAR I AR 859,477 811,352
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39. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE V.EBEFLAFMBLAAZFE

COMPANY (Continued) (1)
(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have (b) EREEERFERERS 2K
material non-controlling interests (Continued) 2 EMB AT ZFE (&)
Year ended Year ended
31/12/2019 31/12/2018
HZ2019% H=2018%F
12A31HIEEE 12A318IEFE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARET T
Revenue WA 17,172,027 15,648,051
Expense A (16,388,248) (15,067,809)
Profit and other comprehensive AR ERET
income for the year attributable NE M2 ERES
to the Company 654,971 472,050
Profit and other comprehensive Fign O£ K B A R
income for the year attributable IR R (G T s
to the non-controlling interests of A R E 2 E S
COFCO Coca-Cola and subsidiaries 128,808 108,192
Net cash inflow from operating KETRSELE RS
activities MAHER 1,775,120 1,278,799
Net cash outflow from KREEELE S
investing activities R (545,261) (1,005,970)
Net cash outflow from BMEZDEECEE
financing activities AREDE-] (668,258) (661,378)
Net cash inflow (outflow) RemA (L) 558 561,601 (388,549)
40. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 40. EXRABERE
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the REBEEBEEER  UERASED
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while ERENFELSE  ANERELE
maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation 7% R I E AR E HIR R AR R [
of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy e BAFRASBEERBRBERED
remains unchanged from prior year. B o
The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which REBEREERIEERFE - HF
includes bank borrowings disclosed in note 29, net of bank BFEMTFE29FT 1 BR SR 178 72X (B 3Rk
balances and cash and equity attributable to owners of the RITHEHBRIR®) RARRHEE AENL
Company, comprising issued share capital, share premium and Em (BREEETRA - RO RE R
reserves. &) °

2@@ CHINA FOODS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2019
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40. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

41.

The Directors review the capital structure on regular basis. As
part of this review, the directors consider the cost of capital
and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the Directors, the Group will balance its
overall capital structure through the payment of dividends, issue
of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

40. EXRBRERE (H)

ESTHENEARE - FRZEHN
W—2n EEE/EBREAKRAR
HEEBERHEANEENER - RIFEES
i AREREBRIRMERS - %
THEBHBRRAER FEHELRER
BARKERE -

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT 41. €@ T A
Categories of financial instruments @I EER
31/12/2019 31/12/2018
HZE20195 HZE2018%F
12A31H 12H31H
IEERE IHEE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMBET T ARBTIT
Financial assets EREE
Financial assets at amortised cost BB HEA AR Z
SREE 1,709,298 1,011,462
Debt instruments at FVTOCI A A EFAEM 2K
ARBEKTEA 19,436 -
Financial liabilities cRBE
Amortised cost BHEHRR A 4,522,239 4 688,599
Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies cRRAMEEEEZERBE

The Group’s major financial instruments including accounts
receivables, deposits and other receivables, due from related
parties, bank balances and cash, accounts and bills payables,
other payables and accruals, borrowings, and amounts due
to related parties. Details of these financial instruments are
disclosed in the respective notes. The risks associated with
these financial instruments include currency risk interest
rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how
to mitigate these risks are set out below. The management
manages and monitor these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

AEETZSRTIEABEREIRN -
RehHEMEWHRIE  BBEALR
o SRITREBREEAES  BARAME
B EMENRARETER &
;o REEALTHIE - BAEZST R
TAZHBREMERE - BZES
MTAMBRAREBENXER &
KRk - ERERREARBE SRR -
B BN (] R 3% 5 R 2 BRSR B 51 4N
T EEEEEMEEZFRAR - X
R NS R B MBI TEE )6
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT (Continued) 41. €M T A (&)

202

Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies
(Continued)

Currency risk

The Group mainly operates in Mainland China with most
of the Group’s monetary assets, liabilities and transactions
denominated in RMB. The carrying amounts of the Group’s
foreign currency denominated monetary assets (mainly bank
deposit) at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

TREMREE B RRBUR (&)

B
AEEETZRHEAMEE - MAE
BZ@BAMNEEEE BELRRS
AIEBAARETE - RBEHR
AEBESNEHEEREEZ REE
(EERRITEREINWT

Assets
BE

31/12/2019 31/12/2018
20194 20184
12A31H 12A31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T ARBT T
HKD BIT 52,938 10,457
uUsb =S 1,787 265

The Group manages its foreign exchange risk by performing
regular reviews of the Group net foreign exchange exposures
and may enter into currency forward contracts, when
necessary, to manage its foreign exchange exposure.

AEBEEEIMNERRIEBTEHES
REE 2 HMERRFRR - WA RERR A
EBEHEH(HLR) - KEEHI
PEE LB o

2019 2018
20194 20184
(Increase)/ (Increase)/
decrease decrease
in profit in profi
after tax after tax
BRFE & T BRI
($gm) EWD (&gm) A
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARETIT
RMB-HKD AR
Appreciation of RMB by 5% AREHES% (1,985) (392)
Depreciation of RMB by 5% ARHEEESEE% 1,985 392
RMB-USD AREE—XTT
Appreciation of RMB by 5% AREFHES% (67) (10)
Depreciation of RMB by 5% ANREEEES% 67 10

CHINA FOODS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2019
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT (Continued)

Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies
(Continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation
to variable rate bank balances, variable rate bank borrowings,
and lease liabilities. The Group cash flow interest rate risk is
mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of interest rates on bank
balances and bank borrowings. The Group aims at keeping
borrowings at variable rates. The Group manages its interest
rate exposures by assessing the potential impact arising from
any interest rate movements based on interest rate level and
outlook.

Total interest income from financial assets that are measured
at amortised cost is as follows:

41. €@ T A (4®)

TREMREE B R RBUR (&)

T 2 e

REE AT T BIRTTRESR T B R
TEFREEZRSRENERR - &
SERSRENTREREBZETRR
TTREBRERITERN RS - AEH
B RENFBNRGERHER - REE R
B RS A R Ko Bl = P EE A ROME (]
MEEEAELHNBEZETEER
KRR

SRS AR B 2 S BAREFI B
EERIIT

Year ended Year ended
31/12/2019 31/12/2018
BZE2019% HZE2018%F
12831HIFE 12A31HIEFE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBT T
Other income E Al A
Financial assets at amortised cost R EN AR 2
ERMEE 5,100 5,023

Interest expense on financial liabilities not measured at fair
value through profit or loss:

W IR AFEFABEZERAER
BFX

Year ended Year ended
31/12/2019 31/12/2018
HZE20195 HZE2018%F
12A31HLEE 12A31H1LFE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFIT
Financial liabilities at amortised cost REESERK AT BR 2

THAE 53,626 74,835

Sensitivity analysis HREE T

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on
the exposure to interest rates at the end of the reporting period.
The analysis is prepared assuming the financial instruments
outstanding at the end of the reporting period were outstanding
for the whole year. A 100 basis point (2018: 100 basis points)
increase or decrease in variable-rate bank borrowings are used
when reporting interest rate risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in interest rates. Bank balances
are excluded from sensitivity analysis as the Directors consider
that the exposure of cash flow interest rate risk arising from
variable-rate bank balances is insignificant.

IO B RE DT T RARF KRS
HIR P B MO M R B T EETE © A B
ZAMIBEENREHRAEESA
TAREZFARMRER - FRRITE
G INSOR A 100 A E B (20184 -
100fAEF) ARAAREEEEAR
BEMZEAREER  (FAEEEY
HMEATEE S E NG - HRES
RAEE KB FERITERZIRES R
ENXRERTTEK  MBUREDH
TRIERITHEER
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT (Continued) 41. €M T A (&)

204

Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies
(Continued)

Sensitivity analysis(Continued)

If interest rates had been 100 basis points (2018: 100 basis
points) higher/lower and all other variables were held constant,
the Group’s post-tax profit for the year ended 31 December
2019 would decrease/increase by RMB4,549,000 (2018:
decrease/increase by RMB8,749,000).

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s counterparties
default on their contractual obligations resulting in financial
losses to the Group. The Group’s credit risk exposures are
primarily attributable to accounts receivables. The Group does
not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements to cover
its credit risks associated with its financial assets.

The Group performed impairment assessment for financial
assets and other items under ECL model. Information about
the Group’s credit risk management, maximum credit risk
exposures and the related impairment assessment, if applicable,
are summarised as below:

Accounts receivables

Before accepting any new customer, the Group uses an
internal credit scoring system to assess the potential customer’s
credit quality and defines credit limits by customer. Limits and
scoring attributed to customers are reviewed regularly. Other
monitoring procedures are in place to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue debts. In this regard, the
Directors consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly
reduced.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for determination of
credit limits and credit approvals.

In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment under
ECL model on accounts receivables balances on provision
matrix, the accounts receivables are grouped under a provision
matrix based on shared credit risk characteristics by reference
to repayment histories for recurring customers and ageing for
the new customers. Impairment of RMB2,440,000 (2018:
RMB2,568,000) is recognised during the year. Details of the
quantitative disclosures are set out below in this note.

CHINA FOODS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2019

TREMREE B RRBUR (&)

RS E T (4B)

AR EFRFE100EE 2L (2018
F 100EED) R HMEERE
Tt REFNREE2019F12A31H
miﬁm&mﬁ%mi/ﬁMAEm
4,549,0007T (20184 : ® A HEANA
FR¥£8,749,0007T) ©

1= RE R KR ETE
EERBREAREHFHRRENE
FERAREIEFHEGRR - A%
B EERREZREBEIRR - N
Ellﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬁmﬁﬁ
RAEEABHAESREERBENGE
ER& o

REFHEMEENTBHEEHEE
N T HAMWIA B ETRERE - B
AEENEERARERE S5EERA
Mk O M AR BERE TG (ER) A&
AR T

JEY R
REBEMEAFEZPA - NEEERN
MEEFOHEFEEEREPNEE
BX YREFPHERRE - @R
FPERBOBRHIMTD - 2T iz
Af o AN - IRE B BEERAR 7 ARE(R
ERERNBETE  KEAHNE
Heptms @ EFRRAKENE
ERRE AMEREE -

ERELERN  AEETEE
o mB AR L RRET
L

litﬁl\ C RE BB R T B R AR

AEHRRBEREEEERRETR
TE.:HE RN PR FAR BB NEE R
REFR . Y2ERFHETPMNERE
SR EENREETOME - FAHE
RIFEARE?2,440,0007T (20184 -
AR®2,568,0007T) - EEABKENE
(LR BB AT -
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT (Continued) 41. €M I A (&)

Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Pledged bank deposits/bank balances

Credit risk on pledged bank deposits/bank balances is limited
because the counterparties are reputable banks with high
credit ratings assigned by international credit agencies. The
Group assessed 12m ECL for pledged bank deposits/bank
balances by reference to information relating to probability of
default and loss given default of the respective credit rating
grades published by external credit rating agencies. Based on
the average loss rates, the 12m ECL on pledged bank deposits/
bank balances is considered to be insignificant.

Amounts due from related parties

The Group regularly monitors the business performance of the
associates and joint venture. The Group’s credit risks in these
balances are mitigated through the value of the assets held by
these entities and the power to participate the relevant activities
of these entities. The Directors believe that there are no
significant increase in credit risk of these amounts since initial
recognition and the Group provided impairment based on 12m
ECL. For the year ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, the
Group assessed the ECL for amount due from related parties
were insignificant and thus no loss allowance was recognised.

Other receivables

For other receivables and deposits, the Directors make periodic
individual assessment on the recoverability of other receivables
and deposits based on historical settlement records, past
experience, and also quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportive forward-looking information.
The Directors believe that there are no significant increase in
credit risk of these amounts since initial recognition and the
Group provided impairment based on 12m ECL. For the year
ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Group assessed the
ECL for other receivables were insignificant.

TREMREE B R RBUR (&)

1E BB KR ERTIE (&)
EBRFRITIFARiTh 8
HREFHREBRREERERTS
EEFMENEERFRT - SEMR
TER/RITERNEERBRAR -
AEBSEIEEEFREE QA
HREEFRERZOMEREERE
AREREER  FECEFRITE
RORTEHI2EAEREES
B REBEFHERE  BHEMRTE
RORITEBN12E A RBMEEER
HWRALAEK °

JEYBEHE T 5 E
AEBTEHRERBLE NG NEE AT
MEBRR - AEBBBAXSEEA
BEMEEBENREZSTEEIAE
EERENTREZEESNEER
%o BERE ' BUHBHERIAKR - %
EoENEERBRITEEZZM - M
AEBRIE 1218 AFEHEEEEE
SEERME - 520194 2018412 A
1R IEFE - AEEFHERBEE S
REMBHEEEBREY AEXR - BAitt
W ERERE B

HLth JEN R

REMEBURHARERME @ EER
BOBEEH S, IBILAR - URE
BRXFENAEEEN  EHHHE
At & WO TR K 32 5 Y AT U 01 14 HE 1T
BIREIG - EFR S - BUIAERIA
K S EEE R SR
m- mMAEEREI2EAEHREES
BEHERERE - #1ZE20194 %2018
FI2A31ALFE - AEBEGREAMRE
WIBRHATRMEEBIRL NERX °

FERMAMRAT
4 2019

208



NOTES 7O THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #x a1 75 7 777
For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ 22019412 A31HILFE

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT (Continued)

Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies
(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

41. €@ T B (48)
SREMREEEERBER (8)
(=B E S R ET (B)

The Group’s credit risk grading assessment comprises the AEBEEERBRIABIEATER
following categories:
Accounts
Internal credit rating Description receivables Other financial assets
A IBEETR 18 FEUBR TR HiremEE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of Lifetime ECL not 12m ECL
default and does not have any credit-impaired
past-due amounts
1K F RSGHEFHELHRBEIE - BIE MAEERECZE 12@ATEHEHEX
E {28 BASRIE TEEME B
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due Lifetime ECL not 12m ECL
dates but usually settle in full credit-impaired
BimEs BEREABEREEREEERBE MAEERECEE 12@ATEHEHEKX
REIEARE4EE TEEMERER
Doubtful There have been significant increases  Lifetime ECL not Lifetime ECL not credit-
in credit risk since initial recognition credit-impaired impaired
through information developed
internally or external resources
AJ &% FRANPERSINDER - EERR HAEEREZEH HAEEREZEH
B YRR E B TEEAE AR TEEA= AER
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset  Lifetime ECL credit- Lifetime ECL credit-
is credit-impaired impaired impaired
E1E ENRERAZEEFCEERE BEEERBECZHE BEERBEZZH
HEAER TEEAE AER
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the Amount is written off ~ Amount is written off
debtor is in severe financial difficulty
and the Group has no realistic
prospect of recovery
%K BENRKFABB AR ABRER I FIBE % FIBE

RE - A ANESR B IR
mEWTE

CHINA FOODS LIMITED
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NOTES 7O THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #x & 21 757 17:7
For the year ended 31 December 2019 22019412 A31HILFE

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT (Continued) 41. €@ T A (&)
Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies cRREMREEEERBE (@
(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) 1= B e ) B E T (4E)
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group’s TREFNAEBEEETEERIEL
financial assets which are subject to ECL assessment: FEzeMEEZEERR
External Internal Gross carrying amount
credit credit 12-month or HBEREE
Notes rating rating lifetime ECL 31/12/2019 31/12/2018
HNRER RANER 12@A=mEH 20194 20184
Bt & AR 4R FEHEABX 12A31H 12A31H

RMB'000  RMB’000
ARBTT ARETET

Financial assets at
amortised cost

BB ATIERN S E
BE
Accounts receivables 23 N/A (Note 1)  Lifetime ECL 330,521 307,073
(not credit-
impaired)
FEWER TR 23 NEA (XD HREERE
2 2 HATEHEA
ERBEX
Other receivables 24 N/A (Note 2) 12m ECL 141,460 32,284
E b FE U RIR 24 N3 R (FfzE2)  12{8 B FEHA
EEEE
Due from related parties 38 N/A (Note 2) 12m ECL 403,428 429,868
B A TR 38 N3 A (ffizk2) 1218 AF8HA
=EEE
Pledged bank deposits/ 26 Al-A3 N/A 12m ECL 843,825 251,196
bank balances
BEFRRITIF R, IRIT 26 A1-A3 @A 128 AES
AR EEEE
Financial assets at FVTOCI
DA EAEMMEE
WA B S EE
Debt instruments at 25 A3-Baa2 N/A  12m ECL 19,436 -
FVTOCI
AT EFAEMEE 25 A3-Baa2 T@EA  12{8 A TEE8
WAREH LA EEEE

azgzs 007



208

NOTES 7O THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #x a1 75 7 777
For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ 22019412 A31HILFE

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT (Continued)

Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The management considers the impairment movements of
accounts receivables and other receivables are insignificant,
thus, no impairment movements of accounts receivables and
other receivables are presented.

Notes:

41. €@ T B (&)

Wi

1. For accounts receivables, the Group has applied the simplified 1. BERERRMm

approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime

TREMREE B RRBUR (&)

1= ER R R EF G ()
EREERAREWES
BB AEA I%Iﬂfﬂﬁ
Uit B R R L Ath LS R A SR (B

K B EL A JE sk Y

F REERBEBM
F%&i—’EE'J%%}?%M&&%,ﬁE?ﬁEﬁ

ECL, the Group determines the ECL on these items by using a ERBKXEHEERS - AEEFEA
BiEERETZSEE 2EHERE

provision matrix, grouped by ageing.

KRR DA -

2. For the purposes of internal credit risk management, the Group 2. BANERERREEmMS @ A5EE

uses past due information to assess whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition.

RBfETHEERREEE B8]

SRTERIASRRRE I

31/12/2019 31/12/2018

20194 20184

12A31H 12H31H

Not past due/ Not past due/

No fixed No fixed

repayment terms repayment terms

I g, W EEE,

R [E E B FR # [E] TE SR TR AR

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARBTT

Other receivables H b FEYGRIE 141,460 32,284
Due from related parties E2)NCIVNEN 403,428 429,868

CHINA FOODS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2019



NOTES 7O THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #x & 21 757 17:7
For the year ended 31 December 2019 22019412 A31HILFE

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT (Continued)

Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies
(Continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows.
The management of the Group monitors the utilisation of bank
borrowings.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its financial liabilities. The table has been drawn
up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities
based on the earliest date on which the Group can be required
to pay. The maturity dates for other non-derivative financial
liabilities are based on the agreed repayment dates.

The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. To
the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted
amount is derived from interest rate at the end of the reporting
period.

41. €@ T A (4®)

TREMREE B R RBUR (&)

REB)E LA
REERDESERE - AEBEER
REFEEERRENBENAEEE
BHRe MRS FEYKF - WRE
Ren8RBNTE  AREEEE
ERRITEFOERBR -

TRHAMAEEZERABZRHRE
WEHFE - TRIRBAEEAR
R RFPAHERLSRAE 2R
RRGREFDL - HMIFTESARA
BB REHEERDHETE -

7

TREFENERAZRESRE © fHH
ERERER  MIARUAERARRE
EBEHROF R o

Weighted  On demand Total Carrying
average less than undiscounted amount at
interest rate lyear 1to5years  Over5 years cash flows 31 December
*EREEE  RI12A31A
MEFEHE  RERIFR 1258 5N L MEEH ZIREE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETR ARETT  AREBTR
At 31 December 2019 #2019%12A31H

Accounts and bills payables ~ EREZRRZE = 760,381 = = 760,381 760,381

Financial liabilties included in s AE AR ZIER
other payables and accruals e AEZERER - 2,481,716 = - 2481716 2481716
Due to related parties REBEANLHE - 578,019 = = 578,019 578,019
Borrowings & 4.28%/4.05% 613,886 - - 613,886 606,500
Lease liabilities HEBRE 4.3% 32,488 72,001 955 105,444 95,623
4,466,490 72,001 955 4,539,446 4,522,239

At 31 December 2018 M2018%F12A31H

Accounts and bills payables ~ ENERFRZE = 606,311 = = 606,311 606,311

Financial liabilities included in & A B FB R
oher payables and accruals  EEFBEZ £REE - 2480649 = - 2480649 2,480,649
Due to related parties REBALFE = 434,639 = = 434,639 434,639
Borrowings g3 4.28% 600,520 617,841 - 1,218,361 1,166,500
4,122,619 617,841 - 4,740,460 4,688,599

The amounts included above for variable interest rate
instruments are subject to change if changes in variable interest
rates differ to those estimates of interest rates determined at
the end of the reporting period.

fid /S B R 2 R BB B ER & HR P
BEMANE - AFFALRNFEET
AzeBnes® -

FERMAMRAT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #7 & 41 #7775t

For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ 22019412 A31HILFE

42.

43.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amounts of the
Group’s financial instruments approximated to their fair values
largely due to the short term maturities of the instruments
or they bearing floating interest rates if they have long term
maturities.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in
a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a
forced or liquidation sale.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Assessment of 2020 coronavirus impact

Since the outbreak of coronavirus in China in January 2020,
the prevention and control of the epidemic has continued
throughout the country. The epidemic has impact certain
provinces, cities and industries, especially the enterprises
in Hubei Province, the epidemic also impacted the overall
economic environment of China, which may affect the normal
sales of the Group in certain parts of China to a certain extent.
The degree of impact will depend on the duration of the
epidemic and prevention and control activities taken by the
government.

The Group will continue to pay close attention to the
development of the epidemic and assess its impact on a
continue basis, at the date of this report, as the outbreak of
the coronavirus which is having a severe impact on the world
economy adds to the present uncertainties, the evaluation is
still in progress.

Except for the possible impact of the above-mentioned
coronavirus epidemic, the Group has no other material
subsequent event up to the date of this report.

CHINA FOODS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2019

42.

43.

ERMTAZAVETE

i iﬁﬁik $El%ﬁﬂlﬂzﬁéﬁ
BEEARNFERE  TEARZEFTL
Ei‘JHﬂHﬁF’?f’&‘X FMBMERRER
FENHRETHE

TREENABEZIA $TELAEZ AR
BT (MIERESFLHE)E

ﬁﬁ?&%TZﬂ?&%ﬁ%ﬁ?\,ﬁE ©

BREMREMH

L2020 F Bk TEEHE
BEARE SN 20205 1 A & FIE 2%
B 2REEETRERE - RIBEY
BETEMRITE  ARNBHIEERD
%ti‘%% BIB MR Erh B gL

EIRE - WS ERE FREAEEE
EFI%F%IEIE%%% FERES
BT 15 45 4 B T K BT BT R ER 2 B
PZ=ITE) o
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NOTES 7O THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #x & 21 757 17:7
For the year ended 31 December 2019 22019412 A31HILFE

44, STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 44, KR F] 2 AR R

COMPANY
31/12/2019 31/12/2018
20194 20184
12A31H 12A31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET ARBT T
Non-current Assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Wz - B KA 12 18
Investments in subsidiaries RB AR ZIRE 1,769,560 1,769,560
1,769,572 1,769,578
Current Assets REBEE
Prepayments FBRRIE 42,392 42,640
Due from subsidiaries (N ENEIVNE S 1,365,519 1,482,392
Due from the immediate holding company E#12A% A &1 /R 3k - 138
Cash and cash equivalents He MRESEEER 36,027 6,074
1,443,938 1,531,244
Current Liabilities REBEE
Other payables and accruals Hib eI IE LGB E 2,542 4,523
Due to subsidiaries U NGRS 119,077 116,560
Tax payable eI IR 5,118 =
126,737 121,083
Net Current Assets RBEEFE 1,317,201 1,410,161
Net assets BEFE 3,086,773 3,179,739
Equity s
Issued capital BEEITIRA 293,201 293,201
Reserves & 2,793,572 2,886,538
Total equity A 3,086,773 3,179,739
FERMRERAT
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NOTES 7O THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS #x a1 75 7 777
For the year ended 31 December 2019 £ 22019412 A31HILFE

44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 44, QT 2 AR R & ()
COMPANY (Continued)

Movement in the Company’s reserves: RARIREEESEET
Share
premium  Contributed Retained
account surplus profits Total
R fE ik BARH RE@F st

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTE  AREBTT ARETE ARETR

At 1 January 2018 M2018F1A1H 30,820 2,294,331 617,084 2,942 235
Profit for the year F A A - - 2,755 2,755
Final 2017 dividend declared & Z k20174 K HR% S - - (58,452) (58,452)
At 31 December 2018 7201812 A31H 30,820 2,294,331 561,387 2,886,538
Profit for the year FE G = = 3,268 3,268
Final 2018 dividend declared 2 FkK2018FRERAT S - - (96,234) (96,234)
At 31 December 2019 7201912 A31H 30,820 2,294,331 468,421 2,793,572
45. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 45, Bk 2 #HE
The financial statements were approved and authorised for P RARMR2020F3 A24HEEE S
issue by the board on 24 March 2020. HOfE R BT

2 W 2 CHINA FOODS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2019



FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
EFBEHE

AEBEBREREMBER 2 FEREE
BEEFERESMEDREACTIEZ
REZEAMBHRE ARBINEEE
oM ARARTHEN X

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years,
as extracted from the published audited consolidated financial
statements and restated and reclassified as appropriate, is set out

below:
Year ended 31 December
HZ12B310LLEE
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
2019% 20185 20175 20165 201545
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARETTL
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
(mE5)) (s E7) (m=51)
CONTINUING OPERATION BELEER
REVENUE N 17,172,027 15,648 051 13,357,992 9,779,222 10,032,361
PROFIT/(LOSS) FROM OPERATING BEER /(BB
ACTIVITIES 1,025,202 768,822 2,258 548 580,632 616,592
Finance costs BERK (53,626) (74,835) (88,344) (21,724) (39,355)
Share of profits of associates JE(REE S A RTRA 41,033 44,168 41,133 63,237 58,455
Profit before tax BB AR 1,012,609 738,155 2,211,337 622,145 635,692
Income tax expense FEHAY (236,773) (161,790) (588 788) (144,562) (177,986)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FROM THE BELEERVER
CONTINUING OPEARATION pvil| 775,836 576,365 1,622,549 477 583 457706
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS RIELERH
Profit/(loss) from discontinued IRIHEEEK 75
operations Fl/ (B8 - = 380,127 166,686 (216,527)
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR FrER/ (58) 775,836 576,365 2,002,676 644,269 241,179
Atributable to s - -
Owners of the parent SYNIIZY=PN 417,789 320,858 1,559,647 432,843 44 434
Non-controlling interests FERER 358,047 255,507 443,029 211,426 196,745
775,836 576,365 2,002,676 644,269 241,179
ASSETS, LIABLITIES AND NON- BE  BEREER
CONTROLLING INTERESTS Bx
TOTAL ASSETS BEE 14,448,364 13,288,450 13,185,731 14,437,153 14,030,984
TOTAL LIABILITIES Y=t (7,136,009)  (6575014)  (6,933700) (7,892,394) (8,017,949)
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS FERER (2,771,888)  (2494524)  (2,295,525) (1,679,563) (1,411,310)
4,540,467 4218912 3,956,506 4,865,196 4,601,725
hEERERAH
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FINANCIAL CALENDAR
B B

ANNOUNCEMENT OF ANNUAL RESULTS
Tuesday, 24 March 2020

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the shareholders’ eligibility to attend and vote at
the Annual General Meeting: Thursday, 28 May 2020 to Tuesday, 2
June 2020 (both days inclusive)

For determining the shareholders’ entitlement to the proposed final
dividend: Thursday, 11 June 2020 to Friday, 12 June 2020 (both
days inclusive)

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

Tuesday, 2 June 2020

DIVIDENDS

Interim dividend: NIL

Proposed final dividend: RMB0.044, equivalent to HK4.8 cents, per
share (Payable on or around Friday, 3 July 2020)

CHINA FOODS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2019

EERERQH

202043 H24H (28 2)
TEROBFES
ARERFEERERRAFARLNG LIRS
BB : 202055 H 281 (EHirmM) £20204
6A28 (2#1-) (BARMABIEER)
AT RFEIRR S 2 KRN EF
20205F6 A 11 R (EH#IM) 20206 A 12H
(287) (BRMXBIEER)
BREFAE

20206 H2H (28 2)

3=\

REIRRE. ¢

B2 KBRS - ARWSHR0.0447T (1%

4.8l (7202047 A3 H (2#H) kAT
&IKA)



33rd Floor, COFCO Tower, 262 Gloucester Road,
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

HRINEE S 7826255 R @K E 3318

Tel E5E (852) 28330388
Fax & (852) 2833 0380

www.chinafoodsltd.com

MIX

Paper from
responsible sources

E‘Ec% FSC™ C006398




	封面
	公司概況
	目錄
	財務摘要
	2019年大事記
	主席函件
	董事總經理函件
	管理層論析
	董事及高級管理層簡介
	環境、社會及管治報告
	企業管治報告
	董事會報告
	獨立核數師報告
	綜合損益報表
	綜合全面收入報表
	綜合財務狀況表
	綜合權益變動報表
	綜合現金流量表
	綜合財務報表附註
	五年財務概要
	公司資料
	財務日誌
	封底



